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PART I
FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
(amounts in thousands, excluding share and per share data)

(unaudited)

     June 30, 2023      December 31, 2022
Assets       
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents $ 58,249 $ 63,741
Marketable securities   36,442   81,658
Accounts receivable, net - related party 10,124 3,260
Inventory, net 3,420 2,383
Income tax receivable   697   697
Other receivables   420   496
Prepaid expenses   14,976   16,267
Restricted cash   408   408

Total current assets   124,736   168,910
Operating lease right-of-use assets 792 1,551
Marketable securities, non-current   7,053   11,350
Property and equipment, net   308   426
Restricted cash, non-current   1,500   —
Total assets $ 134,389 $ 182,237
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 24,475 $ 21,540
Operating lease liabilities, current   982   1,918

Total current liabilities   25,457   23,458

Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)   —   —
Stockholders’ equity:       

Preferred stock; $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2023
and December 31, 2022, zero shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023
and December 31, 2022   —   —
Common stock; $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized at
June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, 54,068,806 shares and 53,797,341
shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
respectively   54   53
Additional paid-in capital   733,984   726,630
Accumulated deficit   (624,376)   (566,232)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (730)   (1,672)

Total stockholders’ equity   108,932   158,779
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 134,389 $ 182,237

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(amounts in thousands, excluding share and per share data)

(unaudited)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
     June 30, 2023      June 30, 2022      June 30, 2023      June 30, 2022     

Revenue:
Collaborative revenue $ 5,410 $ 8,003 $ 8,160 $ 8,003
Commercial supply revenue 1,400 — 4,591 4,790
Royalty revenue 123 — 248 —
License and milestone fees — 15,000 — 15,000
Clinical compound revenue   —   —   99   —

Total revenue   6,933   23,003   13,098   27,793
Operating expenses:                 

Cost of goods sold 1,418 — 4,008 2,081
Research and development   30,310   19,905   54,644   41,178
General and administrative   7,545   7,570   14,436   16,917

Total operating expenses   39,273   27,475   73,088   60,176
Operating loss   (32,340)   (4,472)   (59,990)   (32,383)

Other income, net   861   266   1,846   428
Net loss $ (31,479) $ (4,206) $ (58,144) $ (31,955)
Net loss per share:                 

Basic and Diluted $ (0.58) $ (0.08) $ (1.08) $ (0.60)
Weighted average shares:           

Basic and Diluted   54,002,988   53,614,668   53,937,875   53,561,161
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax of $0:                 

Change in unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-
sale marketable securities   371   (324)   942   (1,689)

Total comprehensive loss $ (31,108) $ (4,530) $ (57,202) $ (33,644)

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(amounts in thousands except share and per share data)

(unaudited)

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’
     Shares      Amount      Capital      Deficit      Loss      Equity

Balance at December 31, 2022 53,797,341 $ 53 $ 726,630 $ (566,232) $ (1,672) $ 158,779
Stock-based compensation expense — — 2,972 — — 2,972
Shares issued upon exercise of stock options 93,218 1 559 — — 560
Shares issued upon vesting of restricted stock units 83,793 — 381 — — 381
Net loss   —   —   —   (26,665)   —   (26,665)
Other comprehensive income   —   —   —   —   571   571

Balance at March 31, 2023 53,974,352 $ 54 $ 730,542 $ (592,897) $ (1,101) $ 136,598
Stock-based compensation expense —   —   3,116   —   —   3,116
Shares issued upon vesting of restricted stock units 94,454   —   326   —   —   326
Net loss —   —   —   (31,479)   —   (31,479)
Other comprehensive income —   —   —   —   371   371

Balance at June 30, 2023 54,068,806 $ 54 $ 733,984 $ (624,376) $ (730) $ 108,932

Accumulated
Additional Other Total

Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’
     Shares      Amount      Capital      Deficit      Loss      Equity

Balance at December 31, 2021 53,480,812 $ 53 $ 708,585 $ (480,758) $ (358) $ 227,522
Stock-based compensation expense   —   —   4,266   —   —   4,266
Shares issued upon exercise of stock options   470   —   3   —   —   3
Shares issued upon vesting of restricted stock units 109,943 — 1,438 — — 1,438
Net loss   —   —   —   (27,749)   —   (27,749)
Other comprehensive loss   —   —   —   —   (1,365)   (1,365)

Balance at March 31, 2022 53,591,225 $ 53 $ 714,292 $ (508,507) $ (1,723) $ 204,115
Stock-based compensation expense —   —   4,232   —   —   4,232
Shares issued upon exercise of stock options 30,000   —   182   —   —   182
Shares issued upon vesting of restricted stock units 89,075 — 423 — — 423
Net loss —   —   —   (4,206)   —   (4,206)
Other comprehensive loss —   —   —   —   (324)   (324)

Balance at June 30, 2022 53,710,300 $ 53 $ 719,129 $ (512,713) $ (2,047) $ 204,422

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(amounts in thousands)

(unaudited)

Six Months Ended
     June 30, 2023      June 30, 2022     

Operating activities         
Net loss $ (58,144) $ (31,955)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:       

Stock-based compensation expense   6,795   10,359
Depreciation and amortization   118   126
Amortization expense component of lease expense   759   695
(Accretion)/amortization of available-for-sale marketable securities, net (56) 530

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Accounts receivable, net - related party (6,864) (8,003)
Inventory, net (1,037) (876)
Other receivables   76   (13)
Prepaid expenses   1,291   (3,507)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   2,935   3,471
Operating lease liabilities (936) (855)

Net cash used in operating activities   (55,063)   (30,028)
Investing activities          

Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale marketable securities   72,265   94,250
Proceeds from redemptions of available-for-sale marketable securities, at par 4,000 —
Purchases of available-for-sale marketable securities   (25,754)   (31,099)
Purchases of property and equipment — (43)

Net cash provided by investing activities   50,511   63,108
Financing activities       

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options   560   185
Net cash provided by financing activities   560   185
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   (3,992)   33,265
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period   64,149   13,861
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 60,157 $ 47,126

See Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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1. Business

Cara Therapeutics, Inc., or the Company, is a commercial-stage biopharmaceutical corporation formed on July 2,
2004. The Company is leading a new treatment paradigm to improve the lives of patients suffering from pruritus. The
Company’s primary activities to date have been organizing and staffing the Company, developing its lead product and
product candidates, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials of difelikefalin-based product candidates,
and raising capital.

In August 2021, the Company received U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, approval for KORSUVA®
(difelikefalin) injection, or KORSUVA injection, for the treatment of moderate-to-severe pruritus associated with chronic
kidney disease in adults undergoing hemodialysis. Commercial launch of KORSUVA injection began in the United States
in April 2022 and the Company began recording the associated profit-sharing revenues in the second quarter of 2022.

In April 2022, the European Commission granted marketing authorization to difelikefalin injection under the brand
name Kapruvia® (difelikefalin), or Kapruvia, for the treatment of moderate-to-severe pruritus associated with chronic
kidney disease in adult hemodialysis patients. The marketing authorization approved Kapruvia for use in all member states
of the European Union, or EU, as well as Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway. Kapruvia was also approved in the United
Kingdom in April 2022. Commercial launches in Austria, Germany, Sweden, France, the Netherlands, and Finland have
commenced. In August 2022, as part of the Access Consortium, difelikefalin injection was approved in Switzerland under
the brand name Kapruvia, as well as Singapore and Canada under the brand name KORSUVA. Commercial launch in
Switzerland has also commenced. In November 2022, difelikefalin injection was approved in the last Access Consortium
country, Australia, under the brand name KORSUVA. Difelikefalin injection was also approved in the United Arab
Emirates, Kuwait, and Israel under the brand name KORSUVA in January 2023, May 2023, and June 2023, respectively.
The Company expects additional commercial launches to commence over the next 12-18 months.

In 2018, the Company entered into a license and collaboration agreement with a joint venture between Vifor Pharma
Group and Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharmaceutical Ltd., or Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd., that
provides full commercialization rights of Kapruvia, and where applicable KORSUVA, to Vifor Fresenius Medical Care
Renal Pharma Ltd. worldwide (excluding the United States, Japan and South Korea). In markets outside of the United
States, the Company is eligible to receive tiered double-digit royalty payments based on annual net sales, as defined in the
agreement with Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd., of difelikefalin injection in the licensed territories. In the
U.S. market, the agreement with Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. provides that Vifor Fresenius Medical
Care Renal Pharma Ltd. will promote difelikefalin injection in the dialysis clinics of Fresenius Medical Care North
America, or FMCNA, under a profit-sharing arrangement, whereby the Company is generally entitled to 50% of the annual
net profits (as defined in the agreement with Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd.) based on net FMCNA clinic
sales (as defined in the agreement with Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd.) and Vifor Fresenius Medical
Care Renal Pharma Ltd. is entitled to 50% of such net profits, subject to potential adjustments in a calendar year based on
certain conditions (see Note 11, Collaboration and Licensing Agreements).

In 2020, the Company entered into a second licensing and collaboration agreement, along with stock purchase
agreements, with Vifor (International) Ltd., or Vifor International, that provides full commercialization rights of
KORSUVA injection to Vifor International in dialysis clinics in the United States under a profit-sharing arrangement,
whereby total net sales of KORSUVA injection in the United States, as recorded by Vifor International, are reduced by
Vifor International’s cost of goods sold, or COGS, as well as a marketing and distribution fee owed by the Company based
on the level of annual net sales, and the resulting amount is shared according to a 60% (Company)/40% (Vifor
International) profit split (excluding sales to Fresenius Medical Center dialysis clinics, compensation for which is
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governed by the agreement with Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd.), subject to potential temporary
adjustment in future years based on certain conditions (see Note 11, Collaboration and Licensing Agreements).

In May 2022, Vifor International assigned its rights and obligations under the license agreement and a supply
agreement, as permitted under the agreements, to Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. The Company’s rights
and obligations under these agreements were unaffected by this assignment and the assignment did not affect the
Company’s economic rights under the agreements with Vifor International.

In August 2022, Vifor Pharma Group (which includes Vifor International) was acquired by CSL Limited and
subsequently renamed CSL Vifor as part of the acquisition. The acquisition of Vifor Pharma Group did not affect any of the
Company’s rights and obligations pursuant to these agreements.

The Company also has a license agreement with Maruishi Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., or Maruishi, under which the
Company granted Maruishi an exclusive license to develop, manufacture, and commercialize drug products containing
difelikefalin for acute pain and/or uremic pruritus in Japan. In September 2022, Maruishi submitted a New Drug
Application in Japan for approval of difelikefalin injection for the treatment of pruritus in hemodialysis patients (see
Note 11, Collaboration and Licensing Agreements).

As of June 30, 2023, the Company had raised aggregate net proceeds of approximately $519,600 from several rounds
of equity financing, including its initial public offering, or IPO, which closed in February 2014 and four follow-on public
offerings of common stock, which closed in July 2019, July 2018, April 2017 and August 2015, respectively, and the
issuance of convertible preferred stock and debt prior to the IPO. Including profit share revenue and royalties, the
Company has also earned approximately $279,900 under its license and supply agreements for difelikefalin, primarily with
CSL Vifor, Maruishi, and Chong Kun Dang Pharmaceutical Corp., or CKDP, and an earlier product candidate for which
development efforts ceased in 2007. The Company has also received aggregate net proceeds of approximately $98,000
from the issuance and sale of the Company’s common stock to Vifor International in connection with the Company’s
licensing agreement with CSL Vifor (see Note 11, Collaboration and Licensing Agreements).

As of June 30, 2023, the Company had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of $101,744
and an accumulated deficit of $624,376. The Company has incurred substantial net losses and negative cash flows from
operating activities in nearly every fiscal period since inception and expects this trend to continue for the foreseeable
future. The Company recognized net losses of $31,479 and $4,206 for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, and $58,144 and $31,955 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and had net cash
used in operating activities of $55,063 and $30,028 for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Company is subject to risks common to other life science companies including, but not limited to, uncertainty of
product development and commercialization, lack of marketing and sales history, development by its competitors of new
technological innovations, dependence on key personnel, market acceptance of products, product liability, protection of
proprietary technology, ability to raise additional financing, and compliance with FDA and other government regulations. If
the Company does not successfully commercialize KORSUVA injection, Kapruvia or any of its other product candidates, it
will be unable to generate additional recurring product revenue or achieve profitability.

2. Basis of Presentation

The unaudited interim condensed financial statements included herein have been prepared pursuant to the rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Accordingly, they do not include all information and
disclosures necessary for a presentation of the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, or GAAP. In the opinion of
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management, these unaudited interim financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting primarily of normal recurring
accruals, necessary for a fair presentation of results for the periods presented. The results of operations for interim periods
are not necessarily indicative of the results for the full year. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included
in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted from this report, as is permitted
by SEC rules and regulations; however, the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information
presented not misleading. The condensed balance sheet data as of December 31, 2022 were derived from audited financial
statements, but do not include all disclosures required by GAAP. These unaudited interim condensed financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and accompanying notes thereto included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires the Company to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, as
of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. The more significant estimates include the fair value of marketable securities that are classified as level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy, the amount and periods over which certain revenues will be recognized, including licensing and
collaborative revenue recognized from non-refundable up-front and milestone payments, related party accounts receivable
reserve, as applicable, inventory valuation and related reserves, research and development, or R&D, clinical costs and
accrued research projects included in prepaid expenses and accounts payable and accrued expenses, the amount of non-
cash compensation costs related to share-based payments to employees and non-employees, the incremental borrowing rate
used in lease calculations and the likelihood of realization of deferred tax assets.

The impact from global economic conditions and potential and continuing disruptions to and volatility in the credit and
equity markets in the United States and worldwide are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including impacts from
the COVID-19 pandemic or future public health crises, geopolitical tensions, such as the ongoing military conflict between
Russia and Ukraine and related sanctions against Russia, decades-high inflation, rising interest rates, uncertainty and
liquidity concerns in the broader financial services industry, such as those caused by certain recent banking failures, and a
potential recession in the United States. Estimates and assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be
determined with certainty and therefore require the exercise of judgment. As of the date of issuance of these condensed
financial statements, the Company is not aware of any specific event or circumstance that would require the Company to
update its estimates, assumptions and judgments or revise the reported amounts of assets and liabilities or the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates, however, may change as new events occur and additional information is
obtained, and are recognized in the condensed financial statements as soon as they become known.

Actual results could differ materially from the Company’s estimates and assumptions.

Significant Accounting Policies

There have been no material changes to the significant accounting policies previously disclosed in Note 2 to the
Financial Statements in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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3. Available-for-Sale Marketable Securities

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company’s available-for-sale marketable securities consisted of debt
securities issued by U.S. government-sponsored entities and investment grade institutions as well as municipal bonds.

The following tables summarize the Company’s available-for-sale marketable securities by major type of security as of
June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

As of June 30, 2023

Gross Unrealized Estimated Fair
Type of Security      Amortized Cost      Gains      Losses      Value

U.S. government agency obligations $ 9,500 $ — $ (497) $ 9,003
Corporate bonds   19,859   —   (184)   19,675
Municipal bonds   14,866   —   (49)   14,817

Total available-for-sale marketable securities $ 44,225 $ — $ (730) $ 43,495

As of December 31, 2022

Gross Unrealized Estimated Fair
Type of Security      Amortized Cost      Gains      Losses      Value

U.S. government agency obligations $ 9,500 $ — $ (623) $ 8,877
Corporate bonds   35,828   —   (643)   35,185
Commercial paper   26,879   2   (6)   26,875
Municipal bonds 22,473 — (402) 22,071

Total available-for-sale marketable securities $ 94,680 $ 2 $ (1,674) $ 93,008

The following tables summarize the fair value and gross unrealized losses of the Company’s available-for-sale
marketable securities by investment category and disaggregated by the length of time that individual debt securities have
been in a continuous unrealized loss position as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

As of June 30, 2023

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair  Unrealized
      Value      Losses      Value      Losses      Value      Losses

U.S. government agency obligations $ — $ — $ 9,003 $ (497) $ 9,003 $ (497)
Corporate bonds — — 19,675 (184) 19,675 (184)
Municipal bonds   —   —   7,702   (49)   7,702   (49)

Total $ — $ — $ 36,380 $ (730) $ 36,380 $ (730)
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As of December 31, 2022

Less than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
      Value      Losses       Value      Losses       Value      Losses

U.S. government agency obligations $ — $ — $ 8,877 $ (623) $ 8,877 $ (623)
Corporate bonds   1,470   (26)   33,715   (617)   35,185   (643)
Commercial paper   15,906   (6)   —   —   15,906   (6)
Municipal bonds   982   (16)   19,589   (386)   20,571   (402)

Total $ 18,358 $ (48) $ 62,181 $ (1,626) $ 80,539 $ (1,674)

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, no allowance for credit losses were recognized on the Company’s
available-for-sale debt securities as no portion of the unrealized losses associated with those securities were due to credit
losses. The information that the Company considered in reaching the conclusion that an allowance for credit losses was not
necessary is as follows:

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company held a total of 17 out of 22 positions and 35 out of 39
positions, respectively, that were in an unrealized loss position, all of which had been in an unrealized loss position for
12 months or greater as of June 30, 2023. Unrealized losses individually and in aggregate, including any in an unrealized
loss position for 12 months or greater, were not considered to be material for each respective period. Based on the
Company’s review of these securities, the Company believes that the cost basis of its available-for-sale marketable
securities is recoverable.

U.S. government agency obligations. The unrealized losses on the Company’s investments in direct obligations of
government agencies were due to changes in interest rates and non-credit related factors. The credit ratings of these
investments in the Company’s portfolio have not been downgraded below investment grade status. The contractual terms of
these investments do not permit the issuer to repay principal at a price less than the amortized cost bases of the
investments, which is equivalent to the par value on the maturity date. The Company expects to recover the entire
amortized cost bases of these securities on the maturity date. The Company does not intend to sell these investments, and it
is not “more likely than not” that the Company will be required to sell these investments before recovery of their amortized
cost bases. The Company held 3 out of 3 positions for its U.S. government agency obligations, that were in unrealized loss 
positions as of June 30, 2023.     

Corporate bonds and municipal bonds. The unrealized losses on the Company’s investments in corporate bonds and
municipal bonds were due to changes in interest rates and non-credit related factors. The credit ratings of these investments
in the Company’s portfolio have not been downgraded below investment grade status. The contractual terms of these
investments do not permit the issuer to repay principal at a price less than the amortized cost bases of the investments,
which is equivalent to the par value on the maturity date. The Company expects to recover the entire amortized cost bases
of these securities on the maturity date. The Company does not intend to sell these investments, and it is not “more likely
than not” that the Company will be required to sell these investments before recovery of their amortized cost bases. The
Company held 8 out of 8 positions for its corporate bonds, and 6 out of 11 positions for its municipal bonds, that were in
unrealized loss positions as of June 30, 2023.
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The Company classifies its marketable debt securities based on their contractual maturity dates. As of June 30, 2023,
the Company’s marketable debt securities mature at various dates through November 2024. The amortized cost and fair
values of marketable debt securities by contractual maturity were as follows:

As of June 30, 2023 As of December 31, 2022
Contractual maturity      Amortized Cost      Fair Value      Amortized Cost      Fair Value

Less than one year $ 36,725 $ 36,442 $ 82,678 $ 81,658
One year to two years   7,500   7,053   12,002   11,350

Total $ 44,225 $ 43,495 $ 94,680 $ 93,008

All available-for-sale marketable securities are classified as marketable securities, current or marketable securities,
non-current depending on the contractual maturity date of the individual available-for-sale security. Other income, net
includes interest and dividends, accretion/amortization of discounts/premiums, realized gains and losses on sales of
securities and credit loss expense due to declines in the fair value of securities, if any. The cost of securities sold is based
on the specific identification method.

There were no sales of available-for-sale marketable securities during each of the three and six months ended June 30,
2023 and 2022.

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, accrued interest receivables on the Company’s available-for-sale debt
securities were $420 and $489, respectively, and were included within other receivables.

4. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following table summarizes the changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, from unrealized
gains (losses) on available-for-sale marketable securities, the Company’s only component of accumulated other
comprehensive loss, for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

     Total Accumulated
Other Comprehensive 

Loss
Balance, December 31, 2022 $ (1,672)

Other comprehensive income before reclassifications   942
Amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss   —
Net current period other comprehensive income   942

Balance, June 30, 2023 $ (730)

Balance, December 31, 2021 $ (358)
Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications   (1,689)
Amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss   —
Net current period other comprehensive loss   (1,689)

Balance, June 30, 2022 $ (2,047)

       Amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss into net loss are determined by specific 
identification. There were no reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive loss and into net loss for each of the
three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.
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5. Fair Value Measurements

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company’s financial instruments consisted of cash, cash equivalents,
available-for-sale marketable securities, accounts receivable, net – related party, prepaid expenses, restricted cash, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities. The fair values of cash, cash equivalents, accounts receivable, net – related party, prepaid
expenses, restricted cash, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values due to the short-term
nature of these financial instruments. Available-for-sale marketable securities are reported at their fair values, based upon
pricing of securities with the same or similar investment characteristics as provided by third-party pricing services.

The Company validates the prices provided by its third-party pricing services by reviewing their pricing methods,
obtaining market values from other pricing sources, and comparing them to the share prices presented by the third-party
pricing services. After completing its validation procedures, the Company did not adjust or override any fair value
measurements provided by its third-party pricing services as of June 30, 2023 or December 31, 2022.

The following tables summarize the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June
30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Fair value measurement as of June 30, 2023:

Quoted prices in Significant other Significant
Financial assets active markets for observable unobservable

identical assets inputs inputs
Type of Instrument      Total      (Level 1)      (Level 2)      (Level 3)

Cash and cash equivalents:                 
Money market funds and checking accounts $ 58,249 $ 58,249 $ — $ —

Available-for-sale marketable securities:           
U.S. government agency obligations   9,003   —   9,003   —
Corporate bonds   19,675   —   19,675   —
Municipal bonds   14,817   —   14,817   —

Restricted cash:           
Commercial money market account   1,908   1,908   —   —

Total financial assets $ 103,652 $ 60,157 $ 43,495 $ —
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Fair value measurement as of December 31, 2022:

Quoted prices in Significant other Significant
Financial assets active markets for observable unobservable

identical assets inputs inputs
Type of Instrument      Total      (Level 1)      (Level 2)      (Level 3)

Cash and cash equivalents:                 
Money market funds and checking accounts $ 63,741 $ 63,741 $ — $ —

Available-for-sale marketable securities:                    
U.S. government agency obligations   8,877   —   8,877   —
Corporate bonds   35,185   —   35,185   —
Commercial paper   26,875   —   26,875   —
Municipal bonds 22,071 — 22,071 —

Restricted cash:                    
Commercial money market account   408   408   —   —

Total financial assets $ 157,157 $ 64,149 $ 93,008 $ —

There were no purchases, sales or maturities of Level 3 financial assets and no unrealized gains or losses related to
Level 3 available-for-sale marketable securities during each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.
There were no transfers of financial assets into or out of Level 3 classification during each of the three and six months
ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

6. Restricted Cash

In May 2023, the Company entered into a lease agreement with 400 Atlantic Joint Venture LLC and SLJ Atlantic
Stamford LLC (tenants-in-common), or the Landlord, for the lease of 26,374 square feet of office space located at 400
Atlantic Street, Stamford, Connecticut 06901 for its new principal executive offices, or the New Lease. The Company is
required to maintain a stand-by letter of credit as a security deposit under the New Lease and its existing leases for its
office spaces in Stamford, Connecticut (refer to Note 16, Commitments and Contingencies: Leases). The fair value of the
letters of credit approximates its contract value. The Company’s bank requires the Company to maintain a restricted cash
balance to serve as collateral for the letters of credit issued to the landlords by the bank. As of June 30, 2023, the restricted
cash balances for the New Lease and the existing leases were invested in a commercial money market account.

As of June 30, 2023, the Company had $408 of restricted cash related to its existing leases in current assets and $1,500
of restricted cash related to the New Lease in long-term assets. After the first and second anniversaries of the rent
commencement date, the face amount of the letter of credit relating to the New Lease can be reduced by $500 each period
if the Company is not in default of its lease obligations. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $408 of restricted
cash related to its existing leases in current assets.



Table of Contents

CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

(unaudited)

13

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the
Condensed Balance Sheets that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in the Condensed Statements of Cash
Flows.

     June 30, 2023      December 31, 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 58,249 $ 63,741
Restricted cash, current assets   408   408
Restricted cash, long-term assets   1,500   —

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the
Condensed Statements of Cash Flows $ 60,157 $ 64,149

7. Inventory, net

Inventory, net consists of the following:

     June 30, 2023      December 31, 2022
Raw materials $ 2,571 $ 1,918
Work-in-process   863   499

3,434 2,417
Less Inventory Reserve for Obsolescence   (14)   (34)

Total $ 3,420 $ 2,383

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, inventory balances include inventory costs subsequent to regulatory
approval of KORSUVA injection on August 23, 2021.

8. Prepaid expenses

As of June 30, 2023, prepaid expenses were $14,976, consisting of $12,561 of prepaid R&D clinical costs, $1,400 of
prepaid insurance and $1,015 of other prepaid costs. As of December 31, 2022, prepaid expenses were $16,267, consisting
of $15,188 of prepaid R&D clinical costs, $543 of prepaid insurance, and $536 of other prepaid costs.

9. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following:

     June 30, 2023      December 31, 2022
Accounts payable $ 12,122 $ 9,604
Accrued research projects   6,416   5,200
Accrued compensation and benefits   4,196   5,219
Accrued professional fees and other   1,741   1,517

Total $ 24,475 $ 21,540

10. Stockholders’ Equity

In June 2023, as a result of completion of the final vesting period for restricted stock units granted in December 2021,
an aggregate of 26,199 time-based restricted stock units vested and were settled in shares of the Company’s common stock
(see Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).
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In June 2023, as a result of the completion of the one-year vesting period, an aggregate of 59,380 restricted stock units
of members of the Board of Directors vested and were settled in shares of the Company’s common stock (see Note 14,
Stock-Based Compensation).

In April 2023, as a result of completion of the quarterly vesting period for restricted stock units granted in October
2021, an aggregate of 8,875 time-based restricted stock units vested and were settled in shares of the Company’s common
stock (see Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).

In March 2023, as a result of the completion of the second year of the three-year vesting period for restricted stock
units granted in March 2021, an aggregate of 15,999 time-based restricted stock units vested and were settled in shares of
the Company’s common stock (see Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).

In February 2023, as a result of the completion of the first year of the three-year vesting period for restricted stock
units granted in February 2022, an aggregate of 42,920 time-based restricted stock units vested and were settled in shares
of the Company’s common stock (see Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).

Also in February 2023, as a result of the completion of the third year of the three-year vesting period for restricted
stock units granted in February 2020, an aggregate of 15,999 time-based restricted stock units vested and were settled in
shares of the Company’s common stock (see Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).

In January 2023, as a result of completion of the quarterly vesting period for restricted stock units granted in October
2021, an aggregate 8,875 time-based restricted stock units vested and were settled in shares of the Company’s common
stock (see Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).

In June 2022, as a result of the accelerated vesting of restricted stock units associated with the former Chief Executive
Officer’s, or CEO’s, modification of equity awards, an aggregate of 33,999 restricted stock units vested and were settled in
shares of the Company’s common stock (see Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).

In June 2022, as a result of the completion of the one-year vesting period, an aggregate of 43,200 restricted stock units
of members of the Board of Directors vested and were settled in shares of the Company’s common stock. Also in June
2022, the Company granted 11,876 fully vested restricted stock units, which were immediately settled in shares of the
Company’s common stock, to the Company’s chairman in consideration of his effort in connection with the Company’s
CEO transition in 2021 (see Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).

In March 2022, as a result of the achievement of certain performance targets, an aggregate of 37,999 performance-
based restricted stock units of certain employees vested and were settled in shares of the Company’s common stock (see
Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).

In March 2022, as a result of the completion of the first year of the three-year vesting period for restricted stock units
granted in March 2021 and the full vesting of the second tranche of restricted stock units granted to the new Chief
Executive Officer in October 2021, an aggregate of 39,278 time-based restricted stock units vested and were settled in
shares of the Company’s common stock (see Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).

In March 2022, the Company filed a universal shelf registration statement, or the Shelf Registration Statement, which
provides for aggregate offerings of up to $300,000 of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants or any
combination thereof. The Shelf Registration Statement was declared effective on May 11, 2022. The securities registered
under the Shelf Registration Statement include $154,525 of unsold securities that had been registered under
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the Company’s previous Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-230333) that was declared effective on April 4,
2019.

Also in March 2022, the Company entered into an open market sales agreement, or the Sales Agreement, with Jefferies
LLC, as sales agent, pursuant to which it may, from time to time, issue and sell common stock with an aggregate value of
up to $80,000 in an at-the-market offering. Jefferies is acting as sole sales agent for any sales made under the Sales
Agreement for a 3% commission on gross proceeds. The common stock will be sold at prevailing market prices at the time
of the sale, and, as a result, prices may vary. Unless otherwise terminated earlier, the Sales Agreement continues until all
shares available under the Sales Agreement have been sold. No shares were sold under the Sales Agreement as of June 30,
2023.

The Company may offer additional securities under its Shelf Registration Statement from time to time in response to
market conditions or other circumstances if it believes such a plan of financing is in the best interests of its stockholders.

In February 2022, as a result of the completion of the second year of the three-year vesting period for restricted stock
units granted in February 2020, an aggregate of 32,666 time-based restricted stock units vested and were settled in shares
of the Company’s common stock (see Note 14, Stock-Based Compensation).

11. Collaboration and Licensing Agreements

Vifor (International) Ltd. (Vifor International)

In October 2020, the Company entered into a license agreement with Vifor International, or Vifor Agreement No. 1,
under which the Company granted Vifor International an exclusive license solely in the United States to use, distribute,
offer for sale, promote, sell and otherwise commercialize difelikefalin injection for all therapeutic uses relating to the
inhibition, prevention or treatment of itch associated with pruritus in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients in the
United States. Under Vifor Agreement No. 1, the Company retains all rights with respect to the clinical development of,
and activities to gain regulatory approvals of, difelikefalin injection in the United States.

After the assignment of rights of Vifor Agreement No. 1 from Vifor International to Vifor Fresenius Medical Care
Renal Pharma Ltd. in May 2022, Vifor Agreement No. 1 provides full commercialization rights in dialysis clinics to CSL
Vifor in the United States under a profit-sharing arrangement. Pursuant to the profit-sharing arrangement, the Company is
generally entitled to 60% of the net profits (as defined in Vifor Agreement No. 1) from sales of difelikefalin injection in the
United States and CSL Vifor is entitled to 40% of such net profits (excluding sales to Fresenius Medical Center dialysis
clinics, compensation for which is governed by Vifor Agreement No. 2, as defined below), subject to potential temporary
adjustment in future years based on certain conditions. Under Vifor Agreement No. 1, in consideration of CSL Vifor’s
conduct of the marketing, promotion, selling and distribution of difelikefalin injection in the United States, the Company
pays a marketing and distribution fee to CSL Vifor based on the level of annual net sales. This fee as well as CSL Vifor’s
COGS are deducted from net sales in calculating the net profits that are subject to the profit-sharing arrangement under
Vifor Agreement No. 1.

In addition, pursuant to Vifor Agreement No. 1, the Company is eligible to receive payments of up to $240,000 upon
the achievement of certain sales-based milestones.
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The Company retains the rights to make and have made difelikefalin injection, or the Licensed Product, on a non-
exclusive basis, in the United States for commercial sale of the Licensed Product for use in all therapeutic areas to prevent,
inhibit or treat itch associated with pruritus in hemodialysis and peritoneal-dialysis patients, or the Field, anywhere in the
world and for supply of Licensed Product to CSL Vifor under the terms of a supply agreement, or the Vifor International
Supply Agreement, which was executed in September 2021. The supply price is the Company’s COGS, as calculated under
GAAP, plus an agreed upon margin. The Vifor International Supply Agreement will co-terminate with Vifor Agreement No.
1. The Company also retains the rights to import, distribute, promote, sell and otherwise commercialize the Licensed
Product on an exclusive basis outside of the Field either in or outside of the United States.

The Vifor International Supply Agreement is accounted for as a customer option that is not a material right because the
selling price of the Licensed Product under the Vifor International Supply Agreement is the Company’s COGS plus an
agreed upon margin, which is commensurate with the “COGS plus” model that the Company would charge other parties
under similar agreements (the standalone selling price) and not at a discount. Therefore, the sale of commercial supply to
CSL Vifor is not a performance obligation under Vifor Agreement No. 1 but rather the Vifor International Supply
Agreement is a separate agreement from Vifor Agreement No. 1. The only performance obligation under the Vifor
International Supply Agreement is the delivery of the Licensed Product to CSL Vifor for commercialization.

Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd.

In May 2018, the Company entered into a license agreement with Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd., or
Vifor Agreement No. 2, under which the Company granted Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. an exclusive,
royalty-bearing license, or the Vifor License, to seek regulatory approval to commercialize, import, export, use, distribute,
offer for sale, promote, sell and otherwise commercialize the Licensed Product in the Field worldwide (excluding the
United States, Japan and South Korea), or the Territory.

The Company is eligible to receive from Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. additional commercial
milestone payments in the aggregate of up to $440,000, all of which are sales related. The Company is also eligible to
receive tiered double-digit royalty payments based on annual net sales, as defined in Vifor Agreement No. 2, of
difelikefalin injection in the licensed territories. The Company retained full commercialization rights for difelikefalin
injection for the treatment of chronic kidney disease associated pruritus in the United States except in the dialysis clinics of
FMCNA, where Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. will promote difelikefalin injection under a profit-
sharing arrangement (as defined in Vifor Agreement No. 2), based on net FMCNA clinic sales (as defined in Vifor
Agreement No. 2) and the Company and Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. are each entitled to 50% of such
net profits, subject to potential adjustments in a calendar year based on certain conditions.

The Company retains the rights to make and have made the Licensed Product in the Territory for commercial sale by
Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. in the Field in or outside the Territory and for supply of Licensed Product
to Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. under the terms of a supply agreement, or the Vifor Supply Agreement,
which was executed in May 2020. The supply price is the Company’s COGS, as calculated under GAAP, plus an agreed
upon margin. The Vifor Supply Agreement will co-terminate with Vifor Agreement No. 2.

The Vifor Supply Agreement is accounted for as a customer option that is not a material right because the selling price
of the Licensed Product under the Vifor Supply Agreement is the Company’s COGS plus an agreed upon margin, which is
commensurate with the “COGS plus” model that the Company would charge other parties under similar agreements (the
standalone selling price) and not at a discount. Therefore, the sale of compound to Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal
Pharma Ltd. is not a performance obligation under Vifor Agreement No. 2 but rather the Vifor Supply Agreement is a
separate agreement from Vifor Agreement No. 2. The only performance obligation under the
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Vifor Supply Agreement is the delivery of the Licensed Product to Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. for
commercialization.

Maruishi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Maruishi)

In April 2013, the Company entered into a license agreement with Maruishi, or the Maruishi Agreement, under which
the Company granted Maruishi an exclusive license to develop, manufacture, and commercialize drug products containing
difelikefalin for acute pain and/or uremic pruritus in Japan. Maruishi has the right to grant sub-licenses in Japan, which
entitles the Company to receive sub-license fees, net of prior payments made by Maruishi to the Company. Under the
Maruishi Agreement, the Company and Maruishi are required to use commercially reasonable efforts, at their own expense,
to develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize difelikefalin in the United States and Japan, respectively. In
addition, the Company provided Maruishi specific clinical development services for difelikefalin used in Maruishi’s field
of use.

Under the terms of the Maruishi Agreement, the Company is eligible to receive milestone payments upon the
achievement of defined clinical and regulatory events as well as tiered, low double-digit royalties with respect to any sales
of the licensed product sold in Japan by Maruishi, if any, and share in any sub-license fees.

In September 2022, Maruishi submitted a New Drug Application in Japan for approval of difelikefalin injection for the
treatment of pruritus in hemodialysis patients.

Chong Kun Dang Pharmaceutical Corporation (CKDP)

In April 2012, the Company entered into a license agreement with CKDP, or the CKDP Agreement, in South Korea,
under which the Company granted CKDP an exclusive license to develop, manufacture and commercialize drug products
containing difelikefalin in South Korea. The Company and CKDP are each required to use commercially reasonable
efforts, at their respective expense, to develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize difelikefalin in the United
States and South Korea, respectively.

Under the terms of the CKDP Agreement, the Company is eligible to receive milestone payments upon the
achievement of defined clinical and regulatory events as well as tiered royalties, with percentages ranging from the high
single digits to the high teens, based on net sales of products containing difelikefalin in South Korea, if any, and share in
any sub-license fees.

12. Revenue Recognition

The Company primarily recognizes revenue under its license and collaboration agreements from (1) collaborative
revenue from its share of the profit generated by KORSUVA injection sales in the United States; (2) commercial supply
revenue from the Company’s sales of commercial product to CSL Vifor, which is subsequently sold to wholesalers; (3)
royalty revenue from net sales of Kapruvia in Europe; and (4) sales-based or regulatory milestone payments, which could
be earned in the future in accordance with certain licensing agreements. As of June 30, 2023, the Company has not earned
any sales-based milestones under its collaboration agreements.
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As of June 30, 2023, the Company had license and collaboration agreements with CSL Vifor, Maruishi and CKDP. The
following table provides amounts included in the Company’s Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Loss as revenue for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
     2023      2022      2023      2022

Collaborative revenue
CSL Vifor (KORSUVA injection profit
sharing) $ 5,410 $ 8,003 $ 8,160 $ 8,003

Total collaborative revenue $ 5,410 $ 8,003 $ 8,160 $ 8,003
Commercial supply revenue

CSL Vifor* (KORSUVA injection) $ 1,400 $ — $ 4,591 $ 4,790
Total commercial supply revenue $ 1,400 $ — $ 4,591 $ 4,790
Royalty revenue

CSL Vifor (Kapruvia ex U.S.) $ 123 $ — $ 248 $ —
Total royalty revenue $ 123 $ — $ 248 $ —
License and milestone fees

Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal
Pharma Ltd. $ — $ 15,000 $ — $ 15,000

Total milestone and fees $ — $ 15,000 $ — $ 15,000
Clinical compound revenue

Maruishi $ — $ — $ 99 $ —
Total clinical compound revenue $ — $ — $ 99 $ —
_____________________________
* Includes amounts earned from Vifor International prior to Vifor International’s assignment of its rights and obligations to
Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. in May 2022.

Collaborative revenue

Beginning in April 2022, the Company began recording its share of the profit generated by KORSUVA injection sales
by CSL Vifor to third parties in the United States. Under the license agreements with CSL Vifor, KORSUVA injection net
sales are calculated by CSL Vifor which are net of discounts, rebates, and allowances. These amounts include the use of
estimates and judgments, which could be adjusted based on actual results in the future. The Company records its share of
the net profits from the sales of KORSUVA injection in the United States on a net basis (since the Company is not the
primary obligor and does not retain inventory risk) and presents the revenue earned each period as collaborative revenue.
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recorded $5,410 and $8,160, respectively, as
collaborative revenue for its profit-share from the sales of KORSUVA injection in the United States. During each of the
three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recorded $8,003 as collaborative revenue for its profit-share from
the sales of KORSUVA injection in the United States.

Commercial supply revenue

Under the Vifor International Supply Agreement, the Company’s only performance obligation is the delivery of
KORSUVA injection to CSL Vifor in accordance with the receipt of purchase orders. Revenue from the sale of commercial
supply product to CSL Vifor is recognized as delivery of the product occurs. The Company had commercial supply revenue
of $1,400 and $4,591 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, with associated
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COGS of $1,418 and $4,008, respectively. The Company had commercial supply revenue of $4,790 for the six months
ended June 30, 2022, of which $2,295 was recognized in January 2022 with no associated COGS since these inventory
costs were incurred prior to regulatory approval on August 23, 2021, and $2,495 was recognized in March 2022 with
associated COGS of $2,081 since these inventory costs were capitalized as inventory subsequent to regulatory approval.
There was no commercial supply revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2022.

Royalty revenue

Royalty revenue includes amounts related to the Company’s royalties earned from CSL Vifor on the net sales of
Kapruvia in Europe, based on the amount of net sales in a licensed territory during a calendar year. Sales-based royalty
payments related to a license of IP are recognized as revenue when the respective sales occur, and the net sales tier is
achieved. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recorded $123 and $248, respectively, as
royalty revenue based on net sales of Kapruvia. There was no royalty revenue for the three and six months ended June 30,
2022.

License and milestone fees revenue

Under Vifor Agreement No. 2, the Company’s performance obligations of granting a license to allow Vifor Fresenius
Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. to commercialize difelikefalin injection worldwide, except in the United States, Japan and
South Korea, which occurred at inception of the contract in May 2018, and performing R&D services by the Company to
obtain sufficient clinical data which were shared with Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. to allow them to
receive regulatory approval to sell difelikefalin in the licensed territory, were not distinct, and were accounted for as a
single performance obligation during the period the that the R&D services were rendered (see Note 11, Collaboration and
Licensing Agreements).

Revenue related to achievement of milestone events is recognized when the Company has determined that it is
probable that a milestone event will be achieved and there will not be a significant reversal of revenue in future periods.
Upon probability of achievement of a milestone event, the most likely amount of variable consideration is included in the
transaction price. Subsequent changes to the transaction price, after contract initiation, are allocated to the performance
obligations in the contract on the same basis as at contract inception. Revenue for variable consideration is recognized in
the same manner (point in time or over time) as for the performance obligations to which the payment amounts were
allocated.

As a result of the European Commission’s regulatory approval of Kapruvia in April 2022, the Company achieved a
$15,000 regulatory milestone payment from Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. under Vifor Agreement No.
2, which was recorded as license and milestone fees revenue for each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.
This regulatory milestone payment was considered variable consideration due to the uncertainty of occurrence of this event
as specified at inception of the agreement. Therefore, this potential regulatory milestone payment was not included in the
transaction price at the inception of the agreement.

Clinical compound revenue

The Company’s only performance obligation under the supply agreement with Maruishi is to deliver clinical
compound to Maruishi in accordance with the receipt of purchase orders. During the six months ended June 30, 2023, the
Company recognized clinical compound revenue of $99 from the sale of clinical compound to Maruishi. There were no
sales of clinical compound during the three months ended June 30, 2023, and each of the three and six months ended June
30, 2022.
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Contract balances

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, the Company recorded accounts receivable, net – related
party of $10,124 and $3,260 which primarily related to its profit-sharing revenue from sales of KORSUVA injection in the
United States by CSL Vifor, its commercial supply of KORSUVA injection to CSL Vifor, and royalty revenue from CSL
Vifor relating to sales of Kapruvia outside of the United States. There were no other contract assets or contract liabilities
related to the CSL Vifor, Maruishi and CKDP agreements as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

The Company routinely assesses the creditworthiness of its license and collaboration partners. The Company has not
experienced any losses related to receivables from its license and collaboration partners as of June 30, 2023 and December
31, 2022.

13. Net Loss Per Share

The Company computes basic net income (loss) per share by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average
number of shares of common stock outstanding. Diluted net income (loss) per share includes the potential dilutive effect of
common stock equivalents as if such securities were exercised during the period, when the effect is dilutive. Common
stock equivalents may include outstanding stock options or restricted stock units, which are included using the treasury
stock method when dilutive. For each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company excluded
the effects of potentially dilutive shares that were outstanding during those respective periods from the denominator as their
inclusion would be anti-dilutive due to the Company’s net losses during those periods.

The denominators used in the net loss per share computations are as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30,  June 30, 

     2023      2022      2023      2022     
Basic:                  
Weighted average common shares outstanding   54,002,988   53,614,668   53,937,875   53,561,161  
Diluted:              
Weighted average common shares outstanding - Basic   54,002,988   53,614,668   53,937,875   53,561,161  
Common stock equivalents*   —   —   —   —  
Denominator for diluted net loss per share   54,002,988   53,614,668   53,937,875   53,561,161  

* No amounts were considered as their effects would be anti-dilutive.

Basic and diluted net loss per share are computed as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30,  June 30, 

     2023      2022      2023      2022     
Net loss - basic and diluted $ (31,479) $ (4,206) $ (58,144) $ (31,955)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:                 

Basic and diluted   54,002,988   53,614,668   53,937,875   53,561,161
Net loss per share, basic and diluted: $ (0.58) $ (0.08) $ (1.08) $ (0.60)
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As of June 30, 2023, 8,134,597 stock options and 791,853 restricted stock units were outstanding, which could
potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, but were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per
share because to do so would have been anti-dilutive as a result of the net loss for the period.

As of June 30, 2022, 7,419,027 stock options and 648,450 restricted stock units were outstanding, which could
potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, but were not included in the computation of diluted net loss per
share because to do so would have been anti-dilutive as a result of the net loss for the period.

14. Stock-Based Compensation

2019 Inducement Plan

In October 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2019 Inducement Plan, or the 2019 Plan, which is a
non-stockholder approved stock plan adopted pursuant to the “inducement exception” provided under Nasdaq Listing Rule
5635(c)(4), or Rule 5635, for the purpose of awarding (i) non-statutory stock options, (ii) restricted stock awards, (iii)
restricted stock unit awards, (iv) other stock awards (collectively, the Inducement Awards) to new employees of the
Company, as inducement material to such new employees entering into employment with the Company. In November
2019, the Company filed a Registration Statement on Form S-8 with the SEC covering the offering of up to 300,000 shares
of its common stock, par value $0.001, pursuant to the Company’s 2019 Plan. Initial grants of Inducement Awards made to
employees vest as to 25% on the first anniversary of the date of grant and the balance ratably over the next 36 months and
subsequent grants vest monthly over a period of four years from the grant date.

2014 Equity Incentive Plan

The Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2014 Plan, is administered by the Company’s Board of Directors or
a duly authorized committee thereof, referred to as the Plan administrator. The 2014 Plan provides for the grant of incentive
stock options, non-statutory stock options, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, stock appreciation rights,
performance stock awards and other forms of equity compensation, collectively referred to as Stock Awards. Additionally,
the 2014 Plan provides for the grant of performance cash awards. Incentive stock options may be granted only to
employees. All other awards may be granted to employees, including officers, non-employee directors, and consultants. No
incentive stock options may be granted under the 2014 Plan after the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the 2014
Plan. Stock Awards granted under the 2014 Plan vest at the rate specified by the Plan administrator. Initial grants of Stock
Awards made to employees and non-employee consultants generally vest as to 25% on the first anniversary of the date of
grant and the balance ratably over the next 36 months and subsequent grants vest monthly over a period of four years from
the grant date. Stock options initially granted to members of the Company’s Board of Directors generally vest over a period
of three years in equal quarterly installments from the date of the grant, subject to the option holder’s continued service as a
director through such date. Subsequent grants to directors that are made automatically at Annual Meetings of Stockholders
vest fully on the earlier of the first anniversary of the date of grant and the next Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Plan
administrator determines the term of Stock Awards granted under the 2014 Plan up to a maximum of ten years.

The aggregate number of shares of the Company’s common stock reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan has
automatically increased on January 1 of each year, beginning on January 1, 2015 and will continue to increase on January 1
of each year through and including January 1, 2024, by 3% of the total number of shares of the Company’s capital stock
outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, or a lesser number of shares determined by the Company’s
Board of Directors. On January 1, 2023, the aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued pursuant to
Stock Awards under the 2014 Plan automatically increased from 10,589,103 to 12,203,023. The
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maximum number of shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of incentive stock options under the 2014 Plan is
30,000,000 shares.

Restricted Stock Units

Pursuant to the Company’s non-employee director compensation policy, an aggregate of 194,172 restricted stock units
were granted to non-employee directors on June 1, 2023, the date of the Company’s 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
under the 2014 Plan with a grant date fair value of $3.09 per share. The restricted stock units will vest on the earlier of
(i) June 1, 2024 and (ii) immediately prior to the Company’s next Annual Meeting of Stockholders following the grant
date, subject to the recipient’s continued service through such date. As a result, the Company recognizes compensation
expense associated with these restricted stock units ratably over the one-year vesting period following the grant date. For
each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, stock compensation expense associated with these awards of $49
was recognized in general and administrative expense, or G&A expense. As of June 30, 2023, 194,172 restricted stock
units were outstanding and available to vest and settle in shares of the Company’s common stock.

On March 1, 2023, the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, or the Compensation
Committee, approved and granted a total of 407,000 restricted stock units to certain employees under the 2014 Plan with a
grant date fair value of $10.06 per share. Vesting of the restricted stock units is contingent on the achievement of certain
performance targets, subject to the recipient’s continuous service through each performance target. Recognition of
compensation expense associated with these awards begins when, and to the extent, the performance criteria are probable
of achievement and the employee has met the service conditions. For each of the three and six months ended June 30,
2023, no stock compensation expense relating to these restricted stock units was recognized. As of June 30, 2023, 407,000
restricted stock units were outstanding and available to vest and settle in shares of the Company’s common stock.

On October 12, 2022, the Compensation Committee approved and granted a total of 7,267 time-based restricted stock
units under the 2014 Plan, with a grant date fair value of $9.42 per share, to an executive officer of the Company. The
restricted stock unit grant fully vests on August 31, 2023, subject to the recipient’s continued service through such date. For
the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recognized $19 and $38, respectively, of stock compensation
expense associated with these awards, all of which was recorded within G&A expense. As of June 30, 2023, 7,267
restricted stock units were outstanding and available to vest and settle in shares of the Company’s common stock.

On June 15, 2022, the Compensation Committee approved and granted a total of 7,500 time-based restricted stock
units to the Company’s interim principal financial officer and principal accounting officer, as a result of his assuming the
responsibilities of the Company’s former Chief Financial Officer on an interim basis, under the 2014 Plan with a grant date
fair value of $7.94 per share. As a result, the Company recognized compensation expense associated with these restricted
stock units ratably over the vesting period following the grant date. For each of the three and six months ended June 30,
2022, the Company recognized $5 of stock compensation expense associated with these awards, all of which were recorded
within G&A expense. As of June 30, 2023, none of these restricted stock units were outstanding as these restricted stock 
units vested fully in September 2022.  

Pursuant to the Company’s non-employee director compensation policy, an aggregate of 59,380 restricted stock units
were granted to non-employee directors on June 2, 2022, the date of the Company’s 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
under the 2014 Plan with a grant date fair value of $8.42 per share. As a result, the Company recognizes compensation
expense associated with these restricted stock units ratably over the one-year vesting period following the grant date. For
the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, stock compensation expense associated with these awards
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of $86 and $209, respectively, was recognized in G&A expense. For each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2022,
stock compensation expense of $38 was recognized in G&A expense. As of June 30, 2023, none of these restricted stock
units were outstanding as these restricted stock units vested fully on June 2, 2023. Also in June 2022, the Company granted
11,876 fully vested restricted stock units, which were immediately settled in shares of common stock, to the Company’s
chairman in consideration of his effort in connection with the Company’s CEO transition in 2021. For each of the three and
six months ended June 30, 2022, stock compensation expense of $100 was recognized in G&A expense associated with this
award.

On February 25, 2022, the Compensation Committee also approved and granted a total of 243,000 restricted stock
units to certain employees under the 2014 Plan with a grant date fair value of $10.46 per share. Vesting of the restricted
stock units is contingent on the achievement of certain performance targets related to commercial milestones, subject to the
recipient’s continuous service through each performance target. Recognition of compensation expense associated with
these awards begins when, and to the extent, the performance criteria are probable of achievement and the employee has
met the service conditions. For each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, no stock compensation
expense relating to these restricted stock units was recognized. In June 2022, 29,000 of these restricted stock units were
forfeited as a result of the resignation of our former CFO. In December 2022, 214,000 of these restricted stock units were
cancelled as the performance targets associated with them were not achieved. As of June 30, 2023, none of these restricted
stock units were outstanding as the remaining restricted stock units were cancelled in 2022.

Additionally, on February 25, 2022, the Compensation Committee also approved and granted a total of 145,170 time-
based restricted stock units to certain employees under the 2014 Plan with a grant date fair value of $10.46 per share. The
restricted stock units vest in three equal installments annually from the date of the grant. As a result, the Company
recognizes compensation expense associated with these restricted stock units ratably over the three-year vesting period
following the grant date. In April 2023, 3,585 of these restricted stock units were forfeited. In February 2023, 42,920 of
these restricted stock units vested and were settled in shares of the Company’s common stock in satisfaction of the first
year of vesting. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recognized $85 and $199, respectively, of
stock compensation expense associated with these awards, with $17 recorded in R&D expense and $68 recorded in G&A
expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023, and $64 recorded in R&D expense and $135 recorded in G&A expense
for the six months ended June 30, 2023. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recognized $108
and $158, respectively, of stock compensation expense associated with these awards, with $47 recorded in R&D expense
and $61 recorded in G&A expense for the three months ended June 30, 2022, and $65 recorded in R&D expense and $93
recorded in G&A expense for the six months ended June 30, 2022. During the three months ended June 30, 2022, 20,000 of
these restricted stock units were forfeited as a result of the resignation of the Company’s former CFO in June 2022. As of
June 30, 2023, 78,665 restricted stock units were outstanding and available to vest and settle in shares of the Company’s
common stock.

On December 17, 2021, the Compensation Committee approved and granted a total of 63,573 time-based restricted
stock units to certain employees under the 2014 Plan with a grant date fair value of $12.45 per share. The restricted stock
units vested in two equal installments on December 15, 2022 and June 15, 2023. As a result, the Company recognized
compensation expense associated with these restricted stock units ratably over the 18-month vesting period following the
grant date. On June 15, 2023, the remaining 26,199 of these restricted stock units fully vested and were settled in shares of
the Company’s common stock. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recognized $91 and $199,
respectively, of stock compensation expense associated with these awards, with $44 recorded in R&D expense and $47
recorded in G&A expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023, and $96 recorded in R&D expense and $103 recorded
in G&A expense for the six months ended June 30, 2023. In June 2022, 11,170 of these restricted stock units were forfeited
as a result of the resignation of the Company’s former CFO. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the
Company recognized $82 and $213, respectively, of stock compensation expense associated with these awards,
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with $52 recorded in R&D expense and $30 recorded in G&A expense for the three months ended June 30, 2022, and $104
recorded in R&D expense and $109 recorded in G&A expense for the six months ended June 30, 2022. As of June 30,
2023, none of these restricted stock units were outstanding as the remaining restricted stock units fully vested in June 2023.

On October 29, 2021, the Compensation Committee also approved and granted 147,942 time-based restricted stock
units in connection with the appointment of the Company’s new CEO under the 2014 Plan with a grant date fair value of
$16.83 per share. The first tranche of 142,000 restricted stock units vested 25% on the first anniversary of the date of grant
and the balance vests quarterly over the next 36 months. As a result, 35,500 of these restricted stock units vested and were
settled in shares of the Company’s common stock in October 2022. The second tranche of 5,942 restricted stock units fully
vested on March 31, 2022. As a result, the Company recognizes compensation expense associated with these two restricted
stock unit tranches ratably over their respective vesting periods following the grant date. In April 2023 and January 2023,
8,875 of these restricted stock units vested each period and were settled in shares of the Company’s common stock in
satisfaction of the quarterly periods of vesting. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, stock compensation
expense associated with these awards of $149 and $296, respectively, was recognized in G&A expense. For the three and
six months ended June 30, 2022, stock compensation expense associated with these awards of $149 and $355, respectively,
was recognized in G&A expense. As of June 30, 2023, 88,750 restricted stock units were outstanding and available to vest
and settle in shares of the Company’s common stock.

Pursuant to the Company’s non-employee director compensation policy, an aggregate of 43,200 restricted stock units
were granted to non-employee directors on June 3, 2021, the date of the Company’s 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
under the 2014 Plan with a grant date fair value of $13.06 per share. The restricted stock units vested on June 3, 2022. As a
result, the Company recognized compensation expense associated with these restricted stock units ratably over the one-year
vesting period following the grant date. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, stock compensation expense
associated with these awards of $100 and $239, respectively, was recognized in G&A expense for these restricted stock
units. As of June 30, 2023, none of these restricted stock units were outstanding as the remaining restricted stock units fully
vested in June 2022.

On March 30, 2021, the Compensation Committee approved and granted a total of 176,000 restricted stock units to
certain employees under the 2014 Plan with a grant date fair value of $20.59 per share. Vesting of the restricted stock units
was contingent on the achievement of certain performance targets related to clinical and regulatory milestones, subject to
the recipient’s continuous service through each performance target. Recognition of compensation expense associated with
these awards begins when, and to the extent, the performance criteria is probable of achievement and the employee has met
the service conditions. In March 2022, 93,999 restricted stock units were forfeited as a result of not achieving certain
defined performance targets of the awards. In February 2022, performance targets relating to 37,999 restricted stock units
had been achieved and thus restricted stock units vested and the awards were settled in shares of common stock. For each
of the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, there was no stock compensation expense recognized as all of these
restricted stock units either vested or were forfeited prior to these periods. For the six months ended June 30, 2022, the
Company recognized $729 of stock compensation expense associated with these awards in G&A expense. G&A amounts
recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2022 included $303 of stock compensation expense relating to the modification
of certain of these restricted stock units on November 1, 2021 (see Stock Award Modifications below). As of June 30, 2023,
none of these restricted stock units were outstanding as the remaining restricted stock units either fully vested or were
forfeited in prior periods.

Additionally on March 30, 2021, the Compensation Committee also approved and granted a total of 100,000 time-
based restricted stock units to certain employees under the 2014 Plan with a grant date fair value of $20.59 per share. The
restricted stock units vest in three equal installments annually from the date of the grant. As a result, the Company
recognizes compensation expense associated with these restricted stock units ratably over the three-year vesting period
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following the grant date. In March 2023, 15,999 of these restricted stock units vested and were settled in shares of the
Company’s common stock in satisfaction of the second year of vesting. In June 2022, 17,333 of these restricted stock units
vested and were settled in shares of the Company’s common stock in accordance with the acceleration of vesting
provisions relating to the modification of certain of these restricted stock units on November 1, 2021. In June 2022, 17,333
restricted stock units were forfeited as a result of the completion of the consulting agreement in relation to the modification
of certain of these restricted stock units on November 1, 2021 (see Stock Award Modifications below). In March 2022,
33,336 of these restricted stock units vested and were settled in shares of the Company’s common stock in satisfaction of
the first year of vesting. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company recognized $82 and $163,
respectively, of stock compensation expense associated with these awards, with $55 recorded in R&D expense and $27 in
G&A expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023, and $109 recorded in R&D expense and $54 in G&A expense for
the six months ended June 30, 2023. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recognized $196 and
$480, respectively, of stock compensation expense associated with these awards, with $55 recorded in R&D expense and
$141 in G&A expense for the three months ended June 30, 2022, and $109 recorded in R&D expense and $371 in G&A
expense for the six months ended June 30, 2022. G&A amounts recorded for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022
included $114 and $317, respectively, of stock compensation expense relating to the modification of certain of these
restricted stock units on November 1, 2021 (see Stock Award Modifications below). As of June 30, 2023, 15,999 restricted
stock units were outstanding and available to vest and settle in shares of the Company’s common stock.

In February 2020, the Compensation Committee also approved and granted a total of 98,000 time-based restricted
stock units to certain employees under the 2014 Plan with a grant date fair value of $16.36 per share. The restricted stock
units vested in three equal installments annually from the date of the grant. As a result, the Company recognized
compensation expense associated with these restricted stock units ratably over the three-year vesting period following the
grant date. In February 2023, 15,999 of these restricted stock units vested and were settled in shares of the Company’s
common stock in satisfaction of the third year of vesting. In February 2022, 32,666 of these restricted stock units vested
and were settled in shares of the Company’s common stock in satisfaction of the second year of vesting. For the six months
ended June 30, 2023, the Company recognized $39 of stock compensation expense associated with these awards, with $26
recorded in R&D expense and $13 in G&A expense. There was no associated stock compensation expense for the three
months ended June 30, 2023 as these restricted stock units were fully vested in the prior period. For the three and six
months ended June 30, 2022, the Company recognized $175 and $394, respectively, of stock compensation expense
associated with these awards, with $44 recorded in R&D expense and $131 in G&A expense for the three months ended
June 30, 2022, and $87 recorded in R&D expense and $307 in G&A expense for the six months ended June 30, 2022. G&A
amounts recorded for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 included $109 and $264, respectively, of stock
compensation expense relating to the modification of certain of these restricted stock units on November 1, 2021 (see Stock
Award Modifications below). As of June 30, 2023, none of these restricted stock units were outstanding as the remaining 
restricted stock units were fully vested in February 2023.  
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A summary of restricted stock unit activity related to employees and non-employee members of the Company’s Board
of Directors as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2023 is presented below:

Weighted
Number of Average Grant

     Units      Date Fair Value
Outstanding, December 31, 2022   372,513 $ 13.20
Awarded   601,172   7.81
Vested and released   (178,247)   12.15
Forfeited   (3,585)   10.46
Outstanding, June 30, 2023   791,853 $ 9.36
Restricted stock units exercisable (vested and deferred), June 30, 2023   —

Stock Options

Under the 2014 Plan, the Company granted 349,767 and 324,981 stock options during the three months ended June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively, and 1,798,921 and 1,302,419 stock options during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively. No stock options were granted under the 2019 Inducement Plan during the three and six months ended
June 30, 2023 and 2022. The fair values of stock options granted during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and
2022 were estimated as of the dates of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30,  June 30, 

     2023      2022          2023      2022     
Risk-free interest rate   3.38% - 3.89% 2.83% - 3.54%   3.38% - 4.22% 1.70% - 3.54% 
Expected volatility   80.3% - 81.3% 77.8% - 81.5%   76.3% - 81.3% 77.8% - 81.9% 
Expected dividend yield   0% 0%   0% 0%  
Expected life of employee and Board options
(in years)  

6.25 6.25     6.25 6.25
 

The weighted-average grant date fair value per share of options granted to employees and non-employee members of
the Company’s Board of Directors for their Board service during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was
$2.43 and $6.30, respectively, and during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $6.18 and $7.23, respectively.
No options were granted to non-employee consultants during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized compensation expense
relating to stock options as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30,  June 30, 

     2023      2022      2023      2022     
Research and development $ 1,447 $ 1,744 $ 2,927 $ 3,661
General and administrative   1,434   1,958   2,675   3,988

Total stock option expense $ 2,881 $ 3,702 $ 5,602 $ 7,649
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The following were excluded from the table above as they are not related to stock options: compensation expense for
(i) the vesting of certain employees’ restricted stock units for $116 in R&D expense and $310 in G&A expense for the three
months ended June 30, 2023, and $295 in R&D expense and $639 in G&A expense for the six months ended June 30,
2023; (ii) the vesting of certain employees’ restricted stock units for $198 in R&D expense and $517 in G&A expense for
the three months ended June 30, 2022, and $365 in R&D expense and $1,969 in G&A expense for the six months ended
June 30, 2022; (iii) compensation expense relating to the Board of Directors’ restricted stock units for $135 and $258 in
G&A expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively; and (iv) compensation expense relating to
the Board of Directors’ restricted stock units for $238 and $377 in G&A expense for the three and six months ended June
30, 2022, respectively.

A summary of stock option award activity related to employees, non-employee members of the Company’s Board of
Directors and non-employee consultants as of and for the six months ended June 30, 2023 is presented below:

Weighted
Number of Average Exercise

     Shares       Price     
Outstanding, December 31, 2022   7,689,449 $ 14.35  
Granted   1,798,921   8.76  
Exercised   (93,218)   6.00  
Forfeited   (117,629)   11.27  
Expired   (1,142,926)   14.35  
Outstanding, June 30, 2023   8,134,597 $ 13.25
Options exercisable, June 30, 2023   4,388,343

The Company does not expect to realize any tax benefits from its stock option activity or the recognition of stock-
based compensation expense because the Company currently has net operating losses and has a full valuation allowance
against its deferred tax assets. Accordingly, no amounts related to excess tax benefits have been reported in cash flows from
operations for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

Stock Award Modifications

In November 2021, the Company and the former President and CEO mutually agreed to a transition from CEO to a
consulting role through June 30, 2022, if not terminated earlier per the terms of the consulting agreement. As a result, the
Company modified the terms of its former CEO’s outstanding Stock Awards to (1) automatically vest any unvested stock
options or time-based restricted stock units that would have vested in the twelve month period following the end of the
consulting period if continuous service is achieved with the Company during such twelve-month period; (2) extend the
period during which the vested stock options may be exercised through the earlier of (i) eighteen months following the
separation date (November 8, 2021); or (ii) the original expiration date applicable to each of the stock options, unless
terminated earlier in accordance with the 2014 Plan, if continuous service is achieved with the Company; and (3) extend
the period in which performance-based vesting milestones for restricted stock units may be achieved through March 31,
2022, if continuous service is achieved with the Company. The consulting agreement ended on June 30, 2022.

The Company determined that vested Stock Awards which had modifications due to the extension of the exercise
period were Type 1 modifications pursuant to Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification
718, or ASC 718, because those Stock Awards would have vested before and after the modification. Acceleration of vesting
for the Stock Awards that would have vested in the twelve-month period following the consulting term was determined to
be a Type 3 modification requiring stock compensation expense pursuant to ASC 718 because absent the modification
terms, those Stock Awards would have been forfeited as of the last day that the former CEO provided
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continuous service as a consultant. In addition, Type 4 performance-based restricted stock units were not considered
probable of achieving performance targets on the modification date, but the vesting targets were achieved with respect to
17,333 performance-based restricted stock units in February 2022, which resulted in additional stock compensation
expense being recorded during the six months ended June 30, 2022.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, total incremental stock compensation expense relating to
modifications of stock options, time-based and performance-based restricted stock units of the former CEO was $999 and
$2,563, respectively, which was included in G&A expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.
Of this total amount, $776 and $1,679 were included in G&A expense in the stock option compensation expense table
above for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.

15. Income Taxes

The Company has recognized a full tax valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets as of June 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022. The tax benefit related to the exercise of stock options is recognized as a deferred tax asset that is
offset by a corresponding valuation allowance. As such, the Company’s effective tax rate is zero for each of the three and
six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

Historically, the Company’s benefit from income taxes related to state R&D tax credits exchanged for cash pursuant to
the Connecticut R&D Tax Credit Exchange Program, which permits qualified small businesses engaged in R&D activities
within Connecticut to exchange their unused R&D tax credits for a cash amount equal to 65% of the value of the
exchanged credits. It was not eligible to exchange its R&D tax credit for cash during the three and six months ended June
30, 2023 and 2022, therefore there was no benefit from income taxes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and
2022. As of June 30, 2023, the Company recorded $697 within income tax receivable which related to the 2020 R&D
credit.

The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 included tax legislation that became effective early in 2023. Significant 
legislation for corporate taxpayers includes a corporate alternative minimum tax of 15.0% for companies with $1,000,000 
or more in average net financial statement profits over the three previous years, as well as a 1.0% indirect excise tax on the 
repurchase of shares by a publicly traded company. The Company does not expect this legislation to have an effect on its 
tax provision as of June 30, 2023; however, the Company will continue to evaluate the effect on the tax provision each 
reporting period.  

16. Commitments and Contingencies

License Agreement with Enteris Biopharma, Inc.

In August 2019, the Company entered into a non-exclusive license agreement, or the Enteris License Agreement, with
Enteris Biopharma, Inc., or Enteris, pursuant to which Enteris granted to the Company a non-exclusive, royalty-bearing
license, including the right to grant sublicenses, under certain proprietary technology and patent rights related to or
covering formulations for oral delivery of peptide active pharmaceutical ingredients with functional excipients to enhance
permeability and/or solubility, known as Enteris’s Peptelligence® technology, to develop, manufacture and commercialize
products using such technology worldwide, excluding Japan and South Korea.

The Company is also obligated, pursuant to the Enteris License Agreement, to pay Enteris (1) milestone payments
upon the achievement of certain development, regulatory and commercial milestones and (2) low-single digit royalty
percentages on net sales of licensed products, subject to reductions in specified circumstances. During the three and six
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months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, no milestone payments or royalties were paid to Enteris by the Company in relation
to the Enteris License Agreement.

Manufacturing Agreements

In July 2021, the Company entered into an API Commercial Supply Agreement with Polypeptide Laboratories S.A., or
PPL, that defines each party’s responsibilities with respect to PPL’s manufacture and supply of the active pharmaceutical
ingredient difelikefalin, or API, for the difelikefalin injection product candidate. Under the API Commercial Supply
Agreement, PPL shall manufacture API at its facility for sale and supply to the Company, in the amounts as set forth in
purchase orders to be provided by the Company. The Company will be required to purchase its requirements of API for
each year of the term of the agreement, based on internal forecasts.

The API Commercial Supply Agreement will continue until the fifth anniversary of the approval by the FDA of the
new drug application for KORSUVA injection, unless the API Commercial Supply Agreement is earlier terminated, and
will automatically be extended for successive five-year periods unless either party gives notice to the other party of its
intention to terminate.

In July 2019, the Company entered into a Master Manufacturing Services Agreement, or MSA, with Patheon UK
Limited, or Patheon. The MSA governs the general terms under which Patheon, or one of its affiliates, will provide non-
exclusive manufacturing services to the Company for the drug products specified by the Company from time to time.
Pursuant to the MSA, the Company has agreed to order from Patheon at least a certain percentage of its commercial
requirements for a product under a related Product Agreement. Each Product Agreement that the Company may enter into
from time to time will be governed by the terms of the MSA, unless expressly modified in such Product Agreement.

In July 2019, the Company entered into two related Product Agreements under the MSA, one with each of Patheon and
Patheon Manufacturing Services LLC, or Patheon Greenville, to govern the terms and conditions of the manufacture of
commercial supplies of difelikefalin injection, the Company’s lead product candidate. Pursuant to the Product Agreements,
Patheon and Patheon Greenville will manufacture commercial supplies of difelikefalin injection at the Monza, Italy and
Greenville, North Carolina manufacturing sites, respectively, from active pharmaceutical ingredient supplied by the
Company. Patheon and Patheon Greenville will be responsible for supplying the other required raw materials and
packaging components, and will also provide supportive manufacturing services such as quality control testing for raw
materials, packaging components and finished product.

Leases (Original Corporate Headquarters in 2015 & Amendment for Additional Space in 2020)

Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term of the Company’s lease agreements for its
original headquarters, and additional office space, in Stamford, Connecticut. As a result, $406 and $813 of operating lease
cost, or lease expense, was recognized for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively, consisting of $284
relating to R&D lease expense and $122 relating to G&A lease expense for the three months ended June 30, 2023, and
$569 relating to R&D lease expense and $244 relating to G&A lease expense for the six months ended June 30, 2023. For
the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, $406 and $812, respectively, of lease expense was recognized, consisting of
$284 relating to R&D lease expense and $122 relating to G&A lease expense for the three months ended June 30, 2022,
and $568 relating to R&D lease expense and $244 relating to G&A lease expense for the six months ended June 30, 2022.
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Lease (New Corporate Headquarters in May 2023)

On May 11, 2023, the Company entered into the New Lease for the Company’s new principal executive offices. The
initial term of the New Lease commences on the earlier to occur of (a) the date the Company first occupies the premises for
the regular conduct of its business therein, and (b) the date the Landlord delivers the premises to the Company in the
condition required under the terms of the New Lease, provided that such date shall be no sooner than November 1, 2023, or
the Commencement Date, and will expire on the last day of the calendar month in which occurs the tenth anniversary of the
Rent Commencement Date, as defined below, or the Term.

The annual fixed rent rate under the New Lease will initially be $1.3 million (considered by the Company to be at
market rate as of the signing of the New Lease), commencing on the date which is the later to occur of (a) the date which is
12 months after the Commencement Date and (b) November 1, 2024, or the Rent Commencement Date, and will increase
2.5% annually thereafter.

The Company will also be responsible for the payment of Additional Rent, as defined in the New Lease, including its
share of the operating and tax expenses for the building. As a result, the New Lease contains both a lease and non-lease
component which are accounted for separately. The Company allocates the consideration to the lease and non-lease
component on a relative standalone price basis.

The Company will have the option to extend the Term under the New Lease for an additional five years on the same
terms and conditions (other than with respect to the annual fixed rent at the annual fair market rental rate, as defined in the
New Lease) as set forth in the New Lease. This renewable is not included as part of the lease term as defined in ASC 842
since it is not reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option on the Commencement Date.

On the Commencement Date (or sooner if the Company obtains control of the premises beforehand), the Company
will record a lease liability and a right-of-use asset for the New Lease.

Other information related to the existing leases was as follows (information related to the New Lease entered into in
May 2023 is not included below and will not be included until the Commencement Date):

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,  

     2023   2022      2023      2022  
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease
liabilities:                 

Operating cash outflows relating to operating leases $ 496 $ 487 $ 990 $ 972
ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease
liabilities $ — $ — $ — $ —
Remaining lease term - operating leases (years)   0.5   1.5   0.5   1.5
Discount rate - operating leases 7.0 %   7.0 %     7.0 %   7.0 %  
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases, as well as a reconciliation of these
undiscounted cash flows to the operating lease liabilities as of June 30, 2023, were as follows (information related to the
New Lease entered into in May 2023 is not included below and will not be included until the Commencement Date):

Year Ending December 31,      
2023 (Excluding the six months ended June 30, 2023)      $ 1,002

Total future minimum lease payments, undiscounted   1,002
Less imputed interest   (20)

Total $ 982

Operating lease liabilities reported as of June 30, 2023:     
Operating lease liabilities - current $ 982
Operating lease liabilities - non-current   —

Total $ 982

17. Related Party Transactions

As of June 30, 2023, Vifor International owned 7,396,770, or 13.7%, of the Company’s common stock. CSL Vifor and
its affiliates are considered related parties as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 (see Note 11, Collaboration and
Licensing Agreements).

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, amounts due from CSL Vifor of $10,124 and $3,260, respectively,
primarily relating to the Company’s share of the profit generated by sales of KORSUVA injection in the United States by
CSL Vifor, its commercial supply of KORSUVA injection to CSL Vifor, and royalty revenue from CSL Vifor relating to
sales of Kapruvia outside of the United States were included within accounts receivable, net – related party.

The Company’s collaborative revenue of $5,410 and $8,160 from its share of the profit generated by sales of
KORSUVA injection in the United States by CSL Vifor was included within collaborative revenue for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The Company’s collaborative revenue of $8,003 from its share of the profit 
generated by sales of KORSUVA injection in the United States by CSL Vifor was included within collaborative revenue for 
each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.  

Sales of KORSUVA injection to CSL Vifor of $1,400 and $4,591 were included within commercial supply revenue for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The associated COGS for the Company’s commercial supply
revenue from CSL Vifor was $1,418 and $4,008 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. Sales of
KORSUVA injection to CSL Vifor of $4,790 was also included within commercial supply revenue for the six months ended
June 30, 2022, with an associated COGS for the Company’s commercial supply revenue from CSL Vifor of $2,081.

The Company recorded $15,000 as license and milestone fee revenue from Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal
Pharma Ltd. for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, as a result of the European Commission’s regulatory
approval of Kapruvia in April 2022.

The Company recorded $123 and $248 as royalty revenue based on net sales of Kapruvia outside of the United States
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the terms “we,” “us” and “our” refer to Cara Therapeutics, Inc. Also, in
this Quarterly Report, unless the context otherwise requires, we use the term “CSL Vifor” to refer to CSL Vifor and its
affiliated entities, including where applicable, the joint venture between CSL Vifor and Fresenius Medical Care with which
we are a party to two collaborations for the commercialization of KORSUVA (difelikefalin) injection.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. In some cases, you can identify
forward-looking statements by the words “aim,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“intend,” “may,” “might,” “objective,” “ongoing,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “potential,” “seek,” “should,” “will,” or
“would,” and or the negative of these terms, or other comparable terminology intended to identify statements about the
future. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual
results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from the information expressed or implied
by these forward-looking statements. Although we believe that we have a reasonable basis for each forward-looking
statement contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we caution you that these statements are based on a
combination of facts and factors currently known by us and our expectations of the future, about which we cannot be
certain.

The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, among other things, statements about:

● our ability to successfully commercialize KORSUVA® (difelikefalin) injection, or KORSUVA injection, our
difelikefalin injection product which was granted marketing authorization in the United States, Canada, Australia,
Singapore, the United Arab Emirates, or UAE, Kuwait, and Israel, or Kapruvia® (difelikefalin), which was
granted marketing authorization in the European Union, or the EU, the United Kingdom, or the UK, and
Switzerland, or to execute on our marketing plans for any other drugs or indications that may be approved in the
future;

● our ability to pursue regulatory submissions or obtain regulatory approvals for difelikefalin injection in any
additional territories including receiving a positive outcome on the ongoing regulatory review in Japan;

● our ability to obtain and maintain coverage and adequate reimbursement for KORSUVA injection or Kapruvia in
markets around the world;

● the potential approval of the U.S. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS’s, end-stage renal disease,
or ESRD, Prospective Payment System, or PPS, proposed rule to update Medicare payment policies and rates for
renal dialysis services;

● the performance of our current and future collaborators and licensees, including CSL Vifor, a business formed as a
result of CSL Limited’s acquisition of Vifor Pharma AG in August 2022, Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal
Pharma Ltd. (CSL Vifor’s joint venture with Fresenius Medical Care), Maruishi Pharmaceuticals Co. Ltd., or
Maruishi, and Chong Kun Dang Pharmaceutical Corp., or CKDP, as well as sub-licensees, including Winhealth
Pharma and Kissei Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd., or Kissei, and our ability to maintain such collaborations;

● risks that KORSUVA injection and Kapruvia revenues, expenses and costs may not be as expected;

● the performance of third-party manufacturers, clinical research organizations, or CROs, and other vendors;
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● risks relating to KORSUVA injection’s and Kapruvia’s market acceptance, competition, reimbursement and
regulatory actions;

● the size and growth of the potential markets for pruritus management, including chronic kidney disease associated
pruritus, or CKD-aP, in hemodialysis and non-dialysis markets, pruritus associated with atopic dermatitis, or AD-
aP, and pruritus associated with notalgia paresthetica, or NP, markets;

● the success and timing of our clinical trials and reporting of our results from these trials, including our clinical
trial programs for oral difelikefalin in advanced chronic kidney disease, or CKD, AD-aP, or NP;

● our plans to develop and commercialize oral difelikefalin and any future indication or product candidates;

● the potential results of ongoing and planned preclinical studies and clinical trials and future regulatory and
development milestones for our product candidates;

● the rate and degree of market acceptance of any other future approved indications or products;

● our ability to obtain and maintain additional regulatory approval of our product candidates, and the labeling under
any approval we may obtain;

● the anticipated use of Enteris Biopharma, Inc.’s, or Enteris’s, Peptelligence® technology to develop, manufacture
and commercialize oral difelikefalin;

● our ability to establish additional collaborations for our product candidates;

● the continued service of our key scientific or management personnel;

● our ability to establish commercialization and marketing capabilities for any other future approved indications or
products;

● regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;

● our ability to obtain and maintain coverage and adequate reimbursement from third-party payers for any other
future approved indications or products;

● our planned use of our cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities and the clinical milestones we expect
to fund with such proceeds;

● the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses, future revenues and capital requirements;

● our ability to obtain funding for our operations;

● our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our product candidates and our ability to
operate our business without infringing on the intellectual property rights of others;

● our ability to maintain proper and effective internal controls, especially due to our high dependence on CSL Vifor
for timely and accurate information;

● the success of competing drugs that are or may become available; and

● the potential effects of the COVID-19 pandemic or future global health crises, geopolitical tensions and
macroeconomic conditions on our business, operations and clinical development and regulatory timelines and
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plans as well as commercial and clinical drug supply chain continuity and the commercial launch of KORSUVA
injection and Kapruvia.

You should refer to the “Risk Factors” section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2022 and in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of material factors that may cause our actual results to
differ materially from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. As a result of these factors, we cannot
assure you that the forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q will prove to be accurate.
Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements prove to be inaccurate, the inaccuracy may be material. In light of the
significant uncertainties in these forward-looking statements, you should not regard these statements as a representation or
warranty by us or any other person that we will achieve our objectives and plans in any specified time frame or at all. We
undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise, except as required by law.

You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we reference in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q and have filed as exhibits to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q completely and with the understanding that
our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements
by these cautionary statements.

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be
read in conjunction with: (i) the Condensed Financial Statements and related notes thereto which are included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q; and (ii) our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Overview

We are a commercial-stage biopharmaceutical company leading a new treatment paradigm to improve the lives of
patients suffering from pruritus. Our KORSUVA injection is the first and only U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or
FDA, approved treatment for moderate-to-severe pruritus associated with chronic kidney disease, or CKD, in adults
undergoing hemodialysis. We are developing an oral formulation of difelikefalin and have initiated Phase 3 programs for
the treatment of pruritus in patients with advanced CKD and atopic dermatitis, or AD. We have also initiated a Phase 2/3
program of oral difelikefalin for the treatment of moderate-to-severe pruritus in patients with NP.

On August 23, 2021, our lead product, KORSUVA injection, was approved by the FDA for the treatment of moderate-
to-severe pruritus associated with CKD in adults undergoing hemodialysis in the United States. In December 2021, CMS
granted Transition Drug Add-on Payment Adjustment, or TDAPA, to KORSUVA injection in the anti-pruritic functional
category. TDAPA went into effect on April 1, 2022, for a minimum of two years. On June 26, 2023, CMS issued the
Calendar Year, or CY, 2024 ESRD PPS proposed rule to update Medicare payment policies and rates for renal dialysis
services including a proposed methodology for post-TDAPA reimbursement for TDAPA designated products in existing
functional categories. CMS is expected to issue a final CY 2024 rule in the fourth quarter of 2023. The commercial launch
of KORSUVA injection commenced in April 2022 and we began recording the associated profit-sharing revenues in the
second quarter of 2022. We are partnering with CSL Vifor to commercialize KORSUVA injection in dialysis patients
with CKD-aP worldwide, excluding Japan (Maruishi/sub-licensee Kissei), and South Korea (CKDP).

In April 2022, the European Commission granted marketing authorization to difelikefalin injection under the brand
name Kapruvia for the treatment of moderate-to-severe pruritus associated with chronic kidney disease in adult
hemodialysis patients. The marketing authorization approves Kapruvia for use in all member states of the EU, as well as
Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway. Kapruvia was also approved in the UK in April 2022. Commercial launches in Austria,
Germany, Sweden, France, the Netherlands, and Finland have commenced. In August 2022, as part of the Access
Consortium, difelikefalin injection was approved in Switzerland under the brand name Kapruvia, as well as Singapore and
Canada under the brand name KORSUVA. Commercial launch in Switzerland has also commenced. In November 2022,
difelikefalin injection was approved in the last Access Consortium country, Australia, under the brand name KORSUVA.
Difelikefalin injection was also approved in the UAE, Kuwait, and Israel under the brand name KORSUVA in January
2023, May 2023, and June 2023, respectively. We expect additional commercial launches to commence over the next 12-18
months.
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In 2018, we entered into a licensing and collaboration agreement with Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma
Ltd. In 2020, we entered into a second licensing and collaboration agreement, along with stock purchase agreements, with
Vifor International. In May 2022, Vifor International assigned its rights and obligations under the license agreement and a
supply agreement, as permitted under the agreements, to Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. Our rights and
obligations under these agreements were unaffected by this assignment, and the assignment did not affect our economic
rights under the agreements with Vifor International.

In August 2022, Vifor Pharma Group (which includes Vifor International) was acquired by CSL Limited and
subsequently renamed CSL Vifor as part of the acquisition. The acquisition of Vifor Pharma Group did not affect any of the
Company’s rights and obligations pursuant to these agreements.

We are partnering with CSL Vifor to commercialize KORSUVA injection in dialysis patients with CKD-aP worldwide,
excluding Japan (Maruishi/sub-licensee Kissei), and South Korea (CKDP). CSL Vifor is a leading nephrology organization
with a significant presence in nephrology offices and dialysis centers. In the United States, we launched KORSUVA
injection into a highly concentrated market. The dialysis market is dominated by two large dialysis organizations, or LDOs,
Fresenius Medical Care, or FMC, and DaVita, which combined control about 75% of the market. In addition,
reimbursement is dominated by Medicare which covers about 80% of the CKD hemodialysis patients. Outside of the
United States, the dialysis market is not dominated by any corporate dialysis companies and is much more fragmented than
in the United States. Furthermore, each country has its own unique reimbursement system for hemodialysis patients.

We have built a pipeline around an oral formulation of difelikefalin, the active compound in KORSUVA injection and
Kapruvia. Our strategy is focused on maximizing the potential and utility of oral difelikefalin across our two core
franchises: nephrology and medical dermatology. We have an active late-stage pipeline of oral difelikefalin that addresses
broad, underserved, significant markets in nephrology and dermatology. We have three potentially pivotal programs
underway for chronic pruritus in: a) CKD; b) AD; and c) NP.

Based on our completed Phase 2 trials and successful End of Phase 2 meetings with the FDA, we initiated two Phase
3 clinical programs of oral difelikefalin for the treatment of chronic pruritus, one in advanced CKD and the other in AD, in
the first quarter of 2022, as well as a Phase 2/3 program of oral difelikefalin for the treatment of moderate-to-severe
pruritus in NP in the first quarter of 2023.

We were incorporated and commenced operations in 2004, and our primary activities to date have been organizing and
staffing our company, developing our lead product and product candidates, including conducting preclinical studies and
clinical trials of difelikefalin-based product candidates and raising capital. To date, we have financed our operations
primarily through sales of our equity and debt securities and payments from license agreements.
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Overview of our Product Candidates

Our current product and product candidate pipeline is summarized in the table below:

Program      Product Candidate      Primary Indication      Status      Commercialization Rights
Pruritus

 

KORSUVA
(difelikefalin)
injection

 

Pruritus CKD -
Hemodialysis

  • FDA approved in August 2021
• TDAPA designation granted in
December 2021 by CMS,
effective April 1, 2022
• EMA MAA approved in April
2022 (Kapruvia)
• UK MAA approved in April
2022 (Kapruvia)
• Switzerland (Kapruvia), Canada
(KORSUVA) and Singapore
(KORSUVA) MAAs approved in
August 2022
• Australia (KORSUVA) approved
in November 2022
• Japan New Drug Application
filed in September 2022
• U.S. commercial launch
commenced in April 2022
• EU commercial launch
commenced in third quarter of
2022
• UAE, Kuwait, and Israel
(KORSUVA) approved in January
2023, May 2023, and June 2023,
respectively  

CSL Vifor (Worldwide,
other than Japan and South
Korea); Maruishi (Japan);
CKDP (South Korea)

 

Oral difelikefalin

 

Pruritus AD-aP

 

• Phase 3 program initiated in first
quarter of 2022

 

Cara (Worldwide, other than
South Korea); CKDP (South
Korea)

 

Oral difelikefalin

 

Pruritus advanced
CKD-aP

 

• Phase 3 program initiated in first
quarter of 2022

 

Cara (Worldwide, other than
Japan and South Korea);
Maruishi (Japan); CKDP
(South Korea)

 

Oral difelikefalin

 

Pruritus NP

 

• Phase 2 trial reported in second
quarter of 2022
• Phase 2/3 program initiated in
first quarter of 2023

 

Cara (Worldwide, other than
South Korea); CKDP (South
Korea)

Our Nephrology Franchise

KORSUVA (difelikefalin) injection – Our Commercial Product

Overview

On August 23, 2021, our lead product, KORSUVA injection, was approved by the FDA for the treatment of moderate-
to-severe pruritus associated with CKD in adults undergoing hemodialysis. In December 2021, CMS granted TDAPA to
KORSUVA injection in the anti-pruritic functional category. TDAPA went into effect on April 1, 2022, for a minimum of
two years. The commercial launch of KORSUVA injection commenced in April 2022 and we began
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recording the associated profit-sharing revenues in the second quarter of 2022. On June 26, 2023, CMS issued the CY 2024
ESRD PPS proposed rule to update Medicare payment policies and rates for renal dialysis services including a proposed
methodology for post-TDAPA reimbursement for TDAPA designated products in existing functional categories. CMS is
expected to issue a final CY 2024 rule in the fourth quarter of 2023. We are partnering with CSL Vifor to commercialize
KORSUVA injection in dialysis patients with CKD-aP worldwide, excluding Japan (Maruishi/sub-licensee Kissei), and
South Korea (CKDP). For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, CSL Vifor recorded net sales of KORSUVA
injection in the United States of approximately $11.4 million and $17.1 million, respectively, and we recorded associated
collaborative revenue of $5.4 million and $8.2 million, respectively, which represented our share of the profit from these
sales.

In April 2022, the European Commission granted marketing authorization to difelikefalin injection under the brand
name Kapruvia for the treatment of moderate-to-severe pruritus associated with CKD in adult hemodialysis patients. The
marketing authorization approves Kapruvia for use in all member states of the EU, as well as Iceland, Liechtenstein, and
Norway. Kapruvia was also approved in the UK in April 2022. Commercial launches in Austria, Germany, Sweden, France,
the Netherlands, and Finland have commenced. In August 2022, as part of the Access Consortium, difelikefalin injection
was approved in Switzerland under the brand name Kapruvia, as well as Singapore and Canada under the brand name
KORSUVA. Commercial launch in Switzerland has also commenced. In November 2022, difelikefalin injection was
approved in the last Access Consortium country, Australia, under the brand name KORSUVA. Difelikefalin injection was
also approved in the UAE, Kuwait, and Israel under the brand name KORSUVA in January 2023, May 2023, and June
2023, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, we recorded royalty revenue of approximately
$123,000 and $248,000, respectively, which represented our royalties on net sales of Kapruvia in Europe. We expect
additional commercial launches to commence over the next 12-18 months.

In addition, our partner in Japan, Maruishi, announced positive Phase 3 top-line data in January 2022. Maruishi and
its sublicensee Kissei confirmed the primary endpoint was achieved in a Japanese Phase 3 clinical study (double-blind,
placebo-controlled period) of difelikefalin injection for the treatment of pruritus in hemodialysis patients. In the Phase 3
study, 178 patients were administered difelikefalin or placebo for 6 weeks followed by an open-label extension period of
difelikefalin administration for 52 weeks. The primary endpoint, change in itch numerical rating scale, or NRS, and the
secondary endpoint, change in itch scores of Shiratori severity criteria, were significantly improved from baseline
compared to the placebo group. Difelikefalin was well-tolerated.

In September 2022, Maruishi submitted a New Drug Application in Japan for the approval of difelikefalin injection
for the treatment of pruritus in hemodialysis patients. A final decision on the application is expected in the second half of
2023.

In January 2023, Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. and Winhealth Pharma signed a long-term
exclusive licensing agreement for the co-development and commercialization of KORSUVA injection for the treatment of
moderate-to-severe pruritus in adult patients undergoing hemodialysis in China.

Summary of the Clinical Results for KORSUVA injection/Kapruvia:

KORSUVA injection was approved by the FDA on August 23, 2021 and is the first and only product approved for the
treatment of moderate-to-severe pruritus associated with advanced CKD in adult patients undergoing hemodialysis in the
United States.

It was approved based on the NDA filing that was supported by positive data from two pivotal Phase 3 trials –
KALMTM-1, conducted in the United States, and KALM-2 conducted globally, as well as supportive data from an
additional 32 clinical studies. KORSUVA injection was found to be generally well tolerated in the pivotal studies
highlighted below.

In April 2020, we announced positive top-line results from the double blinded KALM-2 pivotal Phase 3 trial of
KORSUVA injection in hemodialysis patients with moderate-to-severe CKD-aP. The study met the primary efficacy
endpoint with 54% of the patients receiving 0.5 mcg/kg of KORSUVA injection vs. 42% of patients receiving placebo
achieving at least a three-point improvement from baseline with respect to the weekly mean of the daily 24-hour worst
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itch intensity NRS at week 12 (p= 0.02). The study also met the key secondary endpoint with 41% of patients receiving
KORSUVA injection achieving a four-point or greater improvement from baseline in the weekly mean of the daily 24-hour
worst itch NRS score at week 12 vs. 28% for patients receiving placebo (p= 0.01). In this trial, KORSUVA injection was
generally well-tolerated with a safety profile consistent with that seen in KALM-1 and the KORSUVA clinical program in
patients with CKD-aP.

Overall, the incidence of adverse effects, or AEs, and serious AEs were similar across both KORSUVA injection and
placebo groups. The most common treatment emergent AEs reported in greater than 5% of patients were diarrhea (8.1%
KORSUVA vs. 5.5% placebo), falls (6.8% KORSUVA vs. 5.1% placebo), vomiting (6.4% KORSUVA vs. 5.9% placebo),
nausea (6.4% KORSUVA vs. 4.2% placebo) and dizziness (5.5% KORSUVA vs. 5.1% placebo).

In May 2019, we announced positive results from the double blinded phase of our KALM-1 pivotal Phase 3 trial of
KORSUVA injection in hemodialysis patients with moderate-to-severe CKD-aP. The study met the primary efficacy
endpoint with 51% of the patients receiving 0.5 mcg/kg of KORSUVA injection vs. 28% of patients receiving placebo
achieving at least a three-point improvement from baseline with respect to the weekly mean of the daily 24-hour worst itch
intensity NRS score at week 12 (p= 0.000019). The study also met all secondary endpoints, including assessment of itch-
related quality of life changes measured using self-assessment Skindex-10 (patients receiving KORSUVA experienced 43%
improvement vs. patients receiving placebo, p= 0.0004) and 5-D Itch scales (patients receiving KORSUVA experienced
35% improvement vs. patients receiving placebo, p= 0.0009). In addition, 39% of patients receiving KORSUVA injection
achieved a four-point or greater improvement from baseline in the weekly mean of the daily 24-hour worst itch NRS score
at week 12 vs. 18% of patients receiving placebo (p= 0.000032), another key secondary endpoint. In this trial, KORSUVA
injection was generally well-tolerated with a safety profile consistent with that seen in earlier trials.

Overall, the incidence of AEs and serious AEs were similar across both KORSUVA injection and placebo groups. The
most common treatment emergent AEs reported in greater than 5% of patients were diarrhea (9.5% KORSUVA vs. 3.7%
placebo), dizziness (6.9% KORSUVA vs. 1.1% placebo), vomiting (5.3% KORSUVA vs. 3.2% placebo) and
nasopharyngitis (3.2% KORSUVA vs. 5.3% placebo).

KORSUVA Injection U.S. Launch Progress

In April 2022, our partner CSL Vifor initiated the commercialization of KORSUVA injection in the United States. The
launch was initially driven by independent and mid-size dialysis organizations coupled with product stocking at the
wholesaler level. In the third quarter of 2022, LDOs came on-line driving a significant quarter-to-quarter increase in order
volume from the wholesaler. Specifically, Fresenius placed large orders to drive the trial and adoption of KORSUVA
injection across its entire network of clinics. In the third quarter of 2022, CSL Vifor also contracted the sales force of
Fresenius Renal Pharmaceuticals, a division of Fresenius Medical Care North America, to complement CSL Vifor’s sales
force in selling into Fresenius clinics in the United States. After the initial inventory building at both the wholesaler and
certain clinics (primarily, Fresenius), we have started to see shipments to dialysis organizations reflect true end-user
demand versus the stocking activity seen in prior quarters. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023,
KORSUVA injection generated net sales of $11.4 million and $17.1 million, respectively, and we recorded collaborative
revenue of $5.4 million and $8.2 million, respectively, which represented our share of the profit from sales of KORSUVA
injection. Wholesalers shipped 66,852 and 112,572 vials to dialysis centers, the majority of which were Fresenius clinics,
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. Vial orders grew 46% quarter to quarter, signifying an
acceleration in patient demand.

KORSUVA Injection and Kapruvia Revenue and Other Metrics

We generate revenue from our lead products KORSUVA injection and Kapruvia primarily through our collaboration
agreements with CSL Vifor:

● Collaborative revenue from our share of the profit generated by KORSUVA injection sales in the United States.
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, we recorded collaborative revenue of approximately $5.4
million and $8.2 million, respectively, related to our share of the profit.
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● Commercial supply revenue from our sales of commercial product to CSL Vifor, which is subsequently sold to
wholesalers. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, we recorded commercial supply revenue of
approximately $1.4 million and $4.6 million, respectively.

● Royalty revenue in conjunction with the launch of Kapruvia in Europe. For the three and six months ended June
30, 2023, we recorded royalty revenue of approximately $123,000 and $248,000, respectively.

● Sales-based or regulatory milestone payments, which could be earned in the future in accordance with certain
licensing agreements. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, we did not record any sales-based
milestone revenue.

In addition to the information above, there are metrics that we have reported in the past and intend to continue to
report in the future, including:

● Net sales of KORSUVA injection in the United States. This amount is the net sales amount recorded by CSL Vifor
to reflect shipments of KORSUVA injection vials from CSL Vifor to wholesalers. For the three and six months
ended June 30, 2023, CSL Vifor recorded net sales of KORSUVA injection in the United States of approximately
$11.4 million and $17.1 million, respectively.

● Our share of profit from KORSUVA injection that we record as collaborative revenue. For the three and six
months ended June 30, 2023, we recorded collaborative revenue of approximately $5.4 million and $8.2 million,
respectively, related to our share of the profit.

● Shipments of KORSUVA injection vials from wholesalers to the dialysis clinics. For the three and six months
ended June 30, 2023, 66,852 and 112,572, respectively, of KORSUVA injection vials were shipped from
wholesalers to the dialysis clinics.

Oral Difelikefalin for Treatment of Advanced Chronic Kidney Disease Associated Pruritus (CKD-aP)

In December 2019, we announced top-line data from our Phase 2 trial of oral difelikefalin for the treatment of pruritus
in advanced CKD patients diagnosed with Stage III – V CKD. The Phase 2, multicenter, randomized, double-blind,
placebo-controlled 12-week trial was designed to evaluate the safety and efficacy of three dosage strengths (0.25 mg, 0.5
mg and 1 mg, once daily administration) of oral difelikefalin vs. placebo in approximately 240 stage III - V (moderate-to-
severe) CKD patients with moderate-to-severe pruritus. The primary efficacy endpoint was the change from baseline in the
weekly mean of the daily 24-hour worst itch NRS score at week 12 of the treatment period. Secondary endpoints included
change from baseline in itch-related quality of life scores at the end of week 12, as assessed by the total Skindex-10 and 5-
D itch scores, as well as the proportion of patients achieving an improvement from baseline ≥3 points with respect to the
weekly mean of the daily 24-hour worst itch NRS score at week 12.

Patients treated with the 1 mg dosage strength of oral difelikefalin achieved the primary endpoint of statistically
significant reduction in weekly mean of the daily worst itch NRS scores vs. placebo after the 12-week treatment period
(-4.4 difelikefalin vs. -3.3 placebo, p=0.018). The treatment was statistically significant after two weeks of treatment with
sustained benefit through the 12-week treatment period. Regarding secondary endpoints, the proportion of patients on 1 mg
tablet strength achieving a 3 point or greater improvement from baseline in the weekly mean of the daily worst itch NRS
score at week 12 was 72% vs. 58% for placebo but did not achieve statistical significance. Furthermore, patients on 1 mg
dosage strength showed positive improvements vs. placebo in itch quality of life endpoints as measured by the self-
assessment Skindex-10 and 5-D Itch scales but this did not achieve statistical significance.

Oral difelikefalin was generally well-tolerated with a safety profile consistent with that seen in earlier KORSUVA
clinical trials. Overall, the incidence of treatment AEs were similar across difelikefalin and placebo groups. The most
common AEs reported in >5% of patients in the 1 mg difelikefalin group vs. placebo were dizziness (7.5% difelikefalin vs.
0% placebo), fall (6% difelikefalin vs. 0% placebo), diarrhea (6% difelikefalin vs. 1.5% placebo) and constipation (6%
difelikefalin vs. 3% placebo).
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In April 2021, we held an End of Phase 2 Meeting with the FDA to discuss the results of the Phase 2 trial of oral
difelikefalin in advanced CKD and the potential Phase 3 program. The FDA indicated the acceptability of Stage V pre-
dialysis CKD patients as a viable patient population for a program. In November 2021, the FDA provided written guidance
indicating the patient population can be expanded to include the group of Stage IV pre-dialysis patients with advanced
CKD in a registration program consisting of two pivotal Phase 3 clinical trials.

In the first quarter of 2022, we initiated the Phase 3 advanced CKD program. The Phase 3 program consists of two
identically designed trials (U.S. and global), KICK 1 and KICK 2. Each trial is expected to enroll approximately 400
patients, who will be randomized 1:1 to either oral difelikefalin 1 mg once daily or matching placebo. The study population
will include adult patients suffering from moderate-to-severe pruritus with advanced CKD in Stages IV or V, including
patients on dialysis. The primary endpoint will be the proportion of patients with a ≥4-point improvement at Week 12 from
baseline in the worst-itch NRS after which patients will be re-randomized to either oral difelikefalin or placebo for 52-
weeks. We expect to report top-line results from this program in the second half of 2024.

Our Dermatology Franchise

Oral Difelikefalin for Treatment of Moderate-to-Severe Pruritus Associated with Atopic Dermatitis (AD)

In April 2021, we announced top-line data from our Phase 2 KARE clinical trial. The KARE Phase 2 trial was a
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study designed to evaluate the efficacy and safety of oral difelikefalin for
moderate-to-severe pruritus in 401 adult subjects with AD-aP. KARE enrolled 64% of patients characterized as mild-to-
moderate AD (Body Surface Area, or BSA, <10%) and 36% as moderate-to-severe AD (BSA>10%). Subjects were
randomized to three dosage strengths of oral difelikefalin: 0.25 mg, 0.5 mg and 1 mg taken twice daily (BID) vs. matching
placebo for 12 weeks followed by 4 weeks of an open-label active extension phase. A prespecified interim conditional
power assessment was conducted after approximately 50% of the originally targeted patient number completed the 12-
week treatment period. Based on the Independent Data Monitoring Committee’s recommendation, the sample size for each
of the 0.5 mg dose and placebo groups were increased, taking the total trial size up by 28%.

KARE’s primary efficacy endpoint was change from baseline in the weekly mean of the daily 24-hour Itch NRS
score at week 12 of the treatment period for the intent to treat, or ITT, population. Although no dose group met this
endpoint, a statistically significant improvement from baseline was evident as early as week 1 for the 1 mg dose group,
which was sustained through 75% of the treatment period.

In a prespecified analysis, a statistically significant change in the primary efficacy endpoint was observed in the mild-
to-moderate (BSA<10%) AD patient population (p=0.036, All doses vs. placebo), which was evident at week 1 and
sustained through the 12-week treatment period.

The key secondary endpoint for KARE was the assessment of the proportion of patients achieving an improvement
from baseline of ≥4 points with respect to the weekly mean of the daily 24-hour Itch NRS score at week 12 (4-point
Responder Analysis). No dose group met this endpoint for the ITT population.

A prespecified analysis by disease severity indicated a statistically significant improvement in the 4-point Responder
Analysis in the mild-to-moderate (BSA<10%) AD patient population with 33% of difelikefalin-treated patients achieving a
≥4-point reduction in NRS at Week 12 vs. 19% in the placebo group for the 0.5 mg dose (p=0.046). All doses performed
similarly (0.25 mg, 0.5 mg, and 1 mg) vs. placebo. Oral difelikefalin was generally well-tolerated across all doses.

In the first quarter of 2022, we initiated a Phase 3 program for the treatment of moderate-to-severe pruritus in AD
patients. The pivotal Phase 3 program for difelikefalin in AD comprises two studies: KIND 1 and KIND 2 and will
investigate the use of oral difelikefalin as adjunctive treatment to topical corticosteroids. The KIND 1 study will be
composed of two parts: Part A and Part B.

KIND 1 and KIND 2 will be double-blind, controlled, 12-week studies with patients allowed to roll-over into open
label 52-week extensions. Part A of KIND 1, the dose finding portion of the trial, is expected to include 280 patients
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who will be randomized equally to four arms (0.25 mg BID + TCS, 0.5 mg BID + TCS, placebo BID + TCS, placebo BID
+ vehicle). At the end of the 12-week treatment period in Part A of KIND 1, we expect to have an internal data read out
targeted for the fourth quarter of 2023. This readout will provide key information, specifically the dose and the sample size
to initiate Part B of KIND 1 and KIND 2. Part B and KIND 2 will be identical in design. They will be double-blind,
controlled, 12-week studies with patients randomized 1:1 to either difelikefalin or matching placebo as adjunct treatment to
topical corticosteroids. The difelikefalin dose is expected to be based on the results from Part A of KIND 1. The primary
endpoint will be the proportion of patients with a ≥4-point improvement at Week 12 from baseline in the worst itch NRS.

The studies will include adult patients with AD whose chronic pruritus has not been adequately controlled by topical
therapy alone and who have had chronic pruritus of moderate-to-severe intensity for ≥6 weeks (worst itch NRS of ≥ 5).
Patients must have an Investigator Global Assessment ≥ 2 and a BSA ≤20%. We will stratify patients to a BSA <10% or ≥
10% with the aim to enroll 85% of patients with a BSA <10%.

We expect to release top-line results for both KIND 1 Part B and KIND 2 in the first half of 2025.

Oral Difelikefalin for Treatment of Moderate-to-Severe Pruritus Associated with Notalgia Paresthetica (NP)

In June 2022, we announced positive top-line results from the proof-of-concept Phase 2 KOMFORT trial of oral
difelikefalin for the treatment of pruritus in patients with NP.

KOMFORT was a Phase 2 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial designed to evaluate the efficacy and
safety of oral difelikefalin for moderate-to-severe pruritus in 125 adult patients with NP and moderate-to-severe pruritus.
Patients were randomized to receive oral difelikefalin 2 mg twice daily (BID) vs. matching placebo for eight weeks
followed by a 4-week open-label active extension period and follow-up visit approximately 14 days after the last dose of
the study drug.

KOMFORT’s primary efficacy endpoint was the change from baseline in the weekly mean of the daily 24-hour worst
itch NRS score at week 8 of the treatment period. Patients treated with oral difelikefalin achieved the primary endpoint
(-4.0 difelikefalin vs. -2.4 placebo, p=0.001) with statistically significant improvement observed as early as Day 1 and
sustained through Week 8.

Other endpoints included a ≥4-point improvement in worst itch NRS, complete response in worst itch NRS, and safety
assessments. A statistically significantly greater proportion of patients treated with oral difelikefalin achieved a ≥4-point
improvement in worst itch NRS score at Week 8 vs. placebo (41% difelikefalin vs. 18% placebo, p=0.007). In addition,
oral difelikefalin met the complete response endpoint, defined as a worst itch NRS score of 0 or 1 for 70% of the daily non-
missing worst itch NRS scores for the week. At Week 8, a significantly greater proportion of patients receiving oral
difelikefalin vs. placebo achieved a complete response (22% difelikefalin vs. 5% placebo, p<0.01).

Oral difelikefalin was generally well tolerated, with all AEs in difelikefalin-treated patients reported as mild or 
moderate in severity. Nausea, headache, dizziness, constipation, and increased urine output were more commonly reported 
in patients on difelikefalin.   

In November 2022, we had a positive interaction with the FDA leading to the initiation of a Phase 2/3 program for the
treatment of chronic pruritus associated with NP. In February 2023, the results of our KOMFORT Phase 2 trial were
published in the New England Journal of Medicine.

In the first quarter of 2023, we initiated a Phase 2/3 program for the treatment of moderate-to-severe pruritus in NP
patients. The Phase 2/3 program for difelikefalin in NP will comprise two studies: KOURAGE 1 and KOURAGE 2. The
KOURAGE 1 study will be composed of two parts: Part A and Part B.

KOURAGE 1 and KOURAGE 2 will be double-blind, placebo-controlled, 8-week studies with patients allowed to
roll-over into open label 52-week extensions. Part A of KOURAGE 1, the dose finding portion of the trial, is expected to
include 200 patients who will be randomized equally to four arms (0.25 mg BID, 1.0 mg BID, 2.0 mg BID, placebo
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BID). At the end of the 8-week treatment period in Part A of KOURAGE 1, we expect to have an internal data read out
targeted for the second half of 2024. This readout will provide key information, specifically the dose and the sample size to
initiate Part B of KOURAGE 1 and KOURAGE 2. Part B and KOURAGE 2 will be identical in design. They will be
double-blind, placebo-controlled, 8-week studies with patients randomized 1:1 to either difelikefalin or matching placebo.
The difelikefalin dose is expected to be based on the results from Part A of KOURAGE 1. The primary endpoint will be the
proportion of patients with a ≥4-point improvement at Week 8 from baseline in the worst itch NRS.

The studies will include adult patients with NP who have had chronic pruritus of moderate-to-severe intensity for ≥6
months (worst itch NRS of ≥ 5).

We expect to release top-line results for both KOURAGE 1 Part B and KOURAGE 2 in the first half of 2026.

Collaboration and License Agreements

Vifor (International) Ltd., or Vifor International

In October 2020, we entered into a license agreement with Vifor International, or Vifor Agreement No. 1, under which
we granted Vifor International an exclusive license solely in the United States to use, distribute, offer for sale, promote, sell
and otherwise commercialize KORSUVA (difelikefalin) injection for all therapeutic uses relating to the inhibition,
prevention or treatment of itch associated with pruritus in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis patients in the United States.
Under Vifor Agreement No. 1, we retain all rights with respect to the clinical development of, and activities to gain
regulatory approvals of, KORSUVA (difelikefalin) injection in the United States.
 

Under the terms of Vifor Agreement No. 1, we received from Vifor International an upfront payment of $100.0 million
and an additional payment of $50.0 million for the purchase of an aggregate of 2,939,552 shares of our common stock at a
price of $17.0094 per share, which represents a premium over a pre-determined average closing price of our common
stock. The purchase of our common stock was governed by a separate stock purchase agreement, or the Vifor Stock
Purchase Agreement.

After U.S. regulatory approval of KORSUVA injection in August 2021, we received an additional $50.0 million in
October 2021 for the purchase of an aggregate of 3,282,391 shares of our common stock at a price of $15.23 per share,
which represents a 20% premium to the 30-day trailing average price of our common stock. The purchase of our common
stock was governed by the Vifor Stock Purchase Agreement. The excess of the stock purchase price over the cost of the
purchased shares at the closing price of our common stock on the date of the achievement of the milestone of $5.0 million
was included as license and milestone fees revenue for accounting purposes. In addition, pursuant to Vifor Agreement No.
1, we are eligible to receive payments of up to $240.0 million upon the achievement of certain sales-based milestones.

In connection with Vifor Agreement No. 1, we also have a related supply agreement with Vifor International, or Vifor
International Supply Agreement, pursuant to which we retain the right to make and have made KORSUVA injection, on a
non-exclusive basis, worldwide for commercial sale of KORSUVA injection for use in all therapeutic uses to prevent,
inhibit or treat itch associated with pruritus in hemodialysis and peritoneal-dialysis patients and for supply of difelikefalin
injection, or Licensed Product, to Vifor International. The supply price is our cost of goods sold, or COGS, as calculated
under GAAP, plus an agreed upon margin. The Vifor International Supply Agreement will co-terminate with Vifor
Agreement No. 1.

Vifor Agreement No. 1 provides full commercialization rights in dialysis clinics to Vifor International in the United
States under a profit-sharing arrangement. Pursuant to the profit-sharing arrangement, we are generally entitled to 60% of
the net profits (as defined in Vifor Agreement No. 1) from sales of KORSUVA injection in the United States and Vifor
International is entitled to 40% of such net profits (excluding sales to Fresenius Medical Center dialysis clinics,
compensation for which is governed by Vifor Agreement No. 2, as defined below), subject to potential temporary
adjustment in future years based on certain conditions. Under Vifor Agreement No. 1, in consideration of Vifor
International’s conduct of the marketing, promotion, selling and distribution of KORSUVA injection in the United States,
we pay a marketing and distribution fee to Vifor International based on the level of annual net sales. This fee as
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well as Vifor International’s COGS are deducted from net sales in calculating the net profits that are subject to the profit-
sharing arrangement under Vifor Agreement No. 1.

 
In May 2022, Vifor International assigned its rights and obligations under the license agreement and a supply

agreement, as permitted under the agreements, to Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. Our rights and
obligations under these agreements were unaffected by this assignment, and the assignment did not affect our economic
rights under the agreements with Vifor International.

In August 2022, Vifor Pharma Group (which includes Vifor International) was acquired by CSL Limited and
subsequently renamed CSL Vifor as part of the acquisition. The acquisition of Vifor Pharma Group did not affect any of the
Company’s rights and obligations pursuant to these agreements.

Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd.

In May 2018, we entered into a license agreement with Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd., or Vifor
Agreement No. 2, under which we have granted Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. a license to seek
regulatory approval to commercialize, import, export, use, distribute, offer for sale, promote, sell and otherwise
commercialize KORSUVA (difelikefalin) injection for all therapeutic uses to prevent, inhibit or treat itch associated with
pruritus in hemodialysis and peritoneal-dialysis patients worldwide (excluding the United States, Japan and South Korea).
We retained full development and commercialization rights for KORSUVA injection for the treatment of CKD-aP in
dialysis patients in the United States except in the dialysis clinics of Fresenius Medical Care North America, or FMCNA,
where Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. will promote KORSUVA injection under a profit-sharing
arrangement.

Upon entry into Vifor Agreement No. 2, we received a non-refundable, non-creditable $50.0 million upfront payment
for the purchase of an aggregate of 1,174,827 shares of our common stock at a price of $17.024 per share, which
represented a premium over a pre-determined average closing price of our common stock. The purchase of our common
stock was governed by the Vifor Stock Purchase Agreement.

As a result of the European Commission’s regulatory approval of Kapruvia in April 2022, we received a $15.0 million
regulatory milestone payment from Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd.

After U.S. regulatory approval of KORSUVA injection in August 2021, we received a $15.0 million regulatory
milestone payment.

We are eligible to receive from CSL Vifor commercial milestone payments in the aggregate of up to $440.0 million, all
of which milestones are sales related. We are also eligible to receive tiered double-digit royalty payments based on annual
net sales, as defined, of KORSUVA (difelikefalin) injection in the licensed territories. In the United States, CSL Vifor will
promote KORSUVA (difelikefalin) injection in the dialysis clinics of FMCNA under a profit-sharing arrangement (subject
to the terms and conditions of the Vifor Agreement No. 2) based on net FMCNA clinic sales (as defined in Vifor Agreement
No. 2) and Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. is entitled to 50% of such net profits, subject to potential
adjustments in a calendar year based on certain conditions.

In connection with Vifor Agreement No. 2, we also have a related supply agreement with Vifor Fresenius Medical
Care Renal Pharma Ltd., or the Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. Supply Agreement, pursuant to which we
retain the right to make and have made KORSUVA (difelikefalin) injection worldwide (excluding the United States, Japan
and South Korea), or the Territory, for commercial sale by Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. in or outside
the Territory, and for supply of KORSUVA (difelikefalin) injection to Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. The
supply price is our COGS, as calculated under GAAP, plus an agreed upon margin. The Vifor Fresenius Medical Care
Renal Pharma Ltd. Supply Agreement will co-terminate with Vifor Agreement No. 2.

In January 2023, Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. and Winhealth Pharma signed a long-term exclusive
licensing agreement for the co-development and commercialization of KORSUVA injection for the treatment of moderate-
to-severe pruritus in adult patients undergoing hemodialysis in China.
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Maruishi Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., or Maruishi

In April 2013, we entered into a license agreement with Maruishi, or the Maruishi Agreement, under which we granted
Maruishi an exclusive license to develop, manufacture and commercialize drug products containing difelikefalin in Japan
in the acute pain and uremic pruritus fields. Maruishi has a right of first negotiation for any other indications for which we
develop difelikefalin and, under certain conditions, Maruishi may substitute another pruritus indication for the uremic
pruritus indication originally included in its license from us. Maruishi is required to use commercially reasonable efforts, at
its expense, to develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize difelikefalin in Japan. We are required to use
commercially reasonable efforts, at our expense, to develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize difelikefalin
in the United States.

In January 2022, Maruishi and its sublicensee Kissei confirmed the primary endpoint was achieved in a Japanese
Phase 3 clinical study (double-blind, placebo-controlled period) of difelikefalin injection for the treatment of pruritus in
hemodialysis patients. In the Phase 3 study, 178 patients were administered difelikefalin or placebo for 6 weeks followed
by an open-label extension period of difelikefalin administration for 52 weeks. The primary endpoint, change in itch NRS
score, and the secondary endpoint, change in itching scores of Shiratori severity criteria, were significantly improved from
baseline compared to the placebo group. Difelikefalin was well-tolerated.

In September 2022, Maruishi submitted a New Drug Application in Japan for approval of difelikefalin injection for the
treatment of pruritus in hemodialysis patients. A final decision on the application is expected in the second half of 2023.

Under the terms of the Maruishi Agreement, we received a non-refundable and non-creditable upfront license fee of
$15.0 million and are eligible to receive up to an aggregate of $10.5 million in clinical development and regulatory
milestones (before contractual foreign currency exchange adjustments). As of the date of this filing, we have received $4.5
million (before contractual foreign currency exchange adjustments) of clinical development and regulatory milestones from
Maruishi. We are also eligible to receive a one-time sales milestone of one billion Yen when a certain sales level is attained.
We also receive a mid-double-digit percentage of all non-royalty payments received by Maruishi from its sublicensees, if
any, and tiered royalties based on net sales, if any, with minimum royalty rates in the low double digits and maximum
royalty rates in the low twenties. Maruishi’s obligation to pay us royalties continues, on a product-by-product basis, until
the expiration of the last-to-expire licensed patent covering such product or the later expiration of any market exclusivity
period.

Chong Kun Dang Pharmaceutical Corporation, or CKDP

In April 2012, we entered into a license agreement with CKDP, or the CKDP Agreement, under which we granted
CKDP an exclusive license to develop, manufacture and commercialize drug products containing difelikefalin in South
Korea. CKDP is required to use commercially reasonable efforts, at its expense, to develop, obtain regulatory approval for
and commercialize difelikefalin in South Korea. We are required to use commercially reasonable efforts, at our expense, to
develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize difelikefalin in the United States.

Under the terms of the CKDP Agreement, we received a non-refundable and non-creditable $0.6 million upfront
payment and are eligible to receive up to an aggregate of $3.8 million in development and regulatory milestones (before
South Korean withholding taxes). As of the date of this filing, we have received $2.3 million (before South Korean
withholding tax) of development and regulatory milestones. We are also eligible to receive a mid-double-digit percentage
of all non-royalty payments received by CKDP from its sublicensees, if any, and tiered royalties ranging from the high
single digits to the high teens based on net sales, if any. CKDP’s obligation to pay us royalties continues, on a product-by-
product basis, until the expiration of the last-to-expire licensed patent covering such product or the later expiration of any
market exclusivity period.
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Manufacturing and License Agreements

Polypeptide Laboratories S.A. (PPL)

In July 2021, we entered into an API Commercial Supply Agreement with Polypeptide Laboratories S.A., or PPL, that
defines each party’s responsibilities with respect to PPL’s manufacture and supply of active pharmaceutical ingredient, or
API, for the difelikefalin injection product candidate. Under the API Commercial Supply Agreement, PPL shall
manufacture API at its facility for sale and supply to us, in the amounts as set forth in purchase orders to be provided by us.
We will be required to purchase our requirements of API for each year of the term of the agreement, based on internal
forecasts.

The API Commercial Supply Agreement will continue until the fifth anniversary of the approval by the FDA of the
NDA for KORSUVA injection, unless the API Commercial Supply Agreement is earlier terminated, and will automatically
be extended for successive five-year periods unless either party gives notice to the other party of its intention to terminate.

Enteris Biopharma, Inc. (Enteris)

In August 2019, we entered into a license agreement with Enteris, or the Enteris License Agreement. Pursuant to the
Enteris License Agreement, Enteris granted us a non-exclusive, royalty-bearing license, including the right to grant
sublicenses, under certain proprietary technology and patent rights related to or covering formulations for oral delivery of
peptide active pharmaceutical ingredients with functional excipients to enhance permeability and/or solubility, known as
Enteris’s Peptelligence® technology, to develop, manufacture and commercialize products using such technology
worldwide, excluding Japan and South Korea.

As consideration for the licensed rights under the Enteris License Agreement, we paid an upfront fee equal to $8.0
million, consisting of $4.0 million in cash and $4.0 million in shares of our common stock.

We are also obligated, pursuant to the Enteris License Agreement, to pay Enteris (1) milestone payments upon the
achievement of certain development, regulatory and commercial milestones and (2) low-single digit royalty percentages on
net sales of licensed products, subject to reductions in specified circumstances. During the three and six months ended June
30, 2023 and 2022, no milestone payments or royalties were paid to Enteris by us in relation to the Enteris License
Agreement.

The Enteris License Agreement will expire on a country-by-country, licensed product-by-licensed product basis upon
the later of (1) the expiration (or invalidation) of all valid claims in licensed patent rights that cover such product in such
country, (2) the end of the calendar quarter in which generic competition (as defined in the Enteris License Agreement)
occurs for such product in such country and (3) ten years from the first commercial sale of such product.

Patheon UK Limited (Patheon)

In July 2019, we entered into a Master Services Agreement, or MSA, with Patheon UK Limited, or Patheon. The MSA
governs the general terms under which Patheon, or one of its affiliates, will provide non-exclusive manufacturing services
to us for the drug products specified by us from time to time. Pursuant to the MSA, we have agreed to order from Patheon
at least a certain percentage of our commercial requirements for a product under a related Product Agreement. Each
Product Agreement that we may enter into from time to time will be governed by the terms of the MSA, unless expressly
modified in such Product Agreement.

The MSA has an initial term ending December 31, 2024, and will automatically renew after the initial term for
successive terms of two years each if there is a Product Agreement in effect, unless either party gives notice of its intention
to terminate the MSA at least 18 months prior to the end of the then current term.

Also in July 2019, we entered into two related Product Agreements under the MSA, one with each of Patheon and
Patheon Manufacturing Services LLC, or Patheon Greenville, to govern the terms and conditions of the manufacture of
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commercial supplies of difelikefalin injection, our lead product candidate. Pursuant to the Product Agreements, Patheon
and Patheon Greenville will manufacture commercial supplies of difelikefalin injection at the Monza, Italy and Greenville,
North Carolina manufacturing sites, respectively, from API supplied by us. Patheon and Patheon Greenville will be
responsible for supplying the other required raw materials and packaging components, and will also provide supportive
manufacturing services such as quality control testing for raw materials, packaging components and finished product.

Components of Operating Results

The following discussion sets forth certain components of our Condensed Statements of Comprehensive Loss as well
as factors that impact those items.

Revenue

We generate revenue primarily from (1) collaborative revenue from our share of the profit generated by KORSUVA
injection sales in the United States; (2) commercial supply revenue from our sales of commercial product to CSL Vifor,
which is subsequently sold to wholesalers; (3) royalty revenue in conjunction with the launch of Kapruvia in Europe; and
(4) sales-based or regulatory milestone payments, which could be earned in the future in accordance with certain licensing
agreements. As of June 30, 2023, we have not recorded any sales-based milestone payments.

To date, we have earned a total of $129.6 million in clinical development or regulatory milestone payments, clinical
compound and commercial compound sales from certain license agreements, collaborative revenue from our share of the
profit generated by KORSUVA injection sales, and royalty revenue.

We commenced our commercial launch of KORSUVA injection for the treatment of pruritus in adult patients
undergoing hemodialysis in the United States in April 2022 following FDA approval of KORSUVA injection in August
2021. We also commenced our commercial launch of Kapruvia in Europe in the third quarter of 2022. Commercial
launches in Austria, Germany, Sweden, France, the Netherlands, Finland, and Switzerland have commenced. We expect
additional commercial launches to commence over the next 12-18 months.

Revenue from sales of KORSUVA injection in future periods is subject to uncertainties and will depend on several
factors, including the success of our and our commercial partners’ commercialization efforts in the United States, the
number of new patients adopting or switching to KORSUVA injection, patient retention and sustained demand, the number
of physicians prescribing KORSUVA injection, the rate of monthly prescriptions, reimbursement from third-party payors
including the U.S. government, the conversion of patients from our clinical trials to commercial customers, and market
trends. More specifically, in December 2021, CMS granted TDAPA to KORSUVA injection in the anti-pruritic functional
category. TDAPA went into effect on April 1, 2022, for a minimum of two years. On June 26, 2023, CMS issued the CY
2024 ESRD PPS proposed rule to update Medicare payment policies and rates for renal dialysis services including a
proposed methodology for post-TDAPA reimbursement for TDAPA designated products in existing functional categories.
The proposed rule provides for additional funding per dialysis treatment outside the bundle rate for a 3-year post-TDAPA
period starting immediately upon the expiration of the TDAPA period. CMS is expected to issue a final CY 2024 rule in the
fourth quarter of 2023. There is no assurance that the final CY 2024 rule provides for sufficient funding to maintain or
grow KORSUVA patient volume post the TDAPA period which could significantly impact our revenues in future periods.

Further, in November 2022, CMS published a CY 2023 ESRD PPS final rule that, among others, updated Medicare
payment policies and rates for renal dialysis services. This final rule rebased and revised ESRD bundled market basket to a
2020 base year, updated the labor-related share, changed the ESRD PPS methodology for calculating the outlier threshold
for adult patients, applied a permanent 5% cap on decreases in the ESRD PPS wage index, and increased the wage index
floor.

As of June 30, 2023, Vifor International owned 7,396,770, or 13.7%, of our common stock. CSL Vifor and its affiliates
are considered related parties as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022 (see Note 17 of Notes to Condensed Financial
Statements, Related Party Transactions, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q).
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Cost of Goods Sold (COGS)

COGS includes costs related to sales of our commercial product, KORSUVA injection, to CSL Vifor. Costs related to
the sales of KORSUVA injection are generally recognized upon receipt of shipment by CSL Vifor. Our COGS for
KORSUVA injection include the cost of producing commercial product that correspond with commercial supply revenue,
such as third-party supply and overhead costs, as well as certain period costs related to freight, packaging, stability, and
quality testing. The related COGS for CSL Vifor associated with the net profit share arrangement as well as the marketing
and distribution fee for the applicable period reduces our profit share revenue for the period.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, we recorded commercial supply revenue of $1.4 million and
$4.6 million, respectively, with associated COGS of $1.4 million and $4.0 million, respectively. During the six months
ended June 30, 2022, we recorded commercial supply revenue of $4.8 million with associated COGS of $2.1 million.
Through February 2022, we had not recorded any COGS related to our commercial supply revenue, as all inventory costs
were incurred prior to receipt of regulatory approval of KORSUVA injection and, accordingly, were expensed as incurred.
In March 2022, we recorded commercial supply revenue of $2.5 million, with associated COGS of $2.1 million as these
inventory costs were incurred subsequent to the receipt of regulatory approval of KORSUVA injection and, accordingly,
were capitalized as inventory. There was no commercial supply revenue during the three months ended June 30, 2022. We
expect our COGS to increase as CSL Vifor generates additional sales of KORSUVA injection in the future.

Research and Development (R&D)

Our R&D expenses relate primarily to the development of difelikefalin. R&D expenses consist of expenses incurred in
performing R&D activities, including compensation and benefits for full-time R&D employees, clinical trial and related
clinical manufacturing expenses, third-party formulation expenses or milestone payments, fees paid to CROs and other
consultants, stock-based compensation for R&D employees and consultants, and other outside expenses. Our R&D
expenses also included expenses related to preclinical activities for our earlier stage programs in prior periods and may
include such expenses in the future.

R&D costs are expensed as incurred. Non-refundable advance payments for goods or services to be received in the
future for use in R&D activities are deferred and capitalized. The capitalized amounts are expensed as the related goods are
delivered or the services are performed. Most of our R&D costs have been external costs, which we track on a program-by
program basis. Our internal R&D costs are primarily compensation expenses for our full-time R&D employees. We do not
track internal R&D costs on a program-by-program basis.

R&D activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally
have higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and
duration of later-stage clinical trials. Based on our current development plans, we presently expect that our R&D expenses
for 2023 will be higher than 2022. However, it is difficult to determine with certainty the duration and completion costs of
our current or future nonclinical and clinical studies of our product candidates, or if, when or to what extent we will
generate revenues from the commercialization and sale of any of our product candidates that obtain regulatory approval.
We may never succeed in achieving regulatory approval for any of our product candidates.

The duration, costs and timing of clinical trials and development of our product candidates will depend on a variety of
factors including, but not limited to:

● per patient trial costs;

● the number of patients that participate in the trials;

● the number of sites included in the trials;

● the countries in which the trial is conducted;
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● the length of time required to enroll eligible patients;

● the number of doses that patients receive;

● the drop-out or discontinuation rates of patients;

● potential additional safety monitoring or other studies requested by regulatory agencies;

● the duration of patient follow-up; and

● the efficacy and safety profile of the product candidate.

In addition, the probability of success for each product candidate will depend on numerous factors, including
competition, manufacturing capability and commercial viability. We will determine which programs to pursue and how
much to fund each program in response to the scientific and clinical success of each product candidate, as well as an
assessment of each product candidate’s commercial potential.

General and Administrative (G&A)

General and administrative, or G&A, expenses consist primarily of salaries and other related costs, including stock-
based compensation, for personnel in executive, finance, accounting, legal, business development, information technology,
or IT, human resources, project management, alliance management, and procurement functions. Other costs include facility
costs not otherwise included in R&D expenses, legal fees, insurance costs, investor relations costs, patent costs and fees for
accounting and consulting services.

We anticipate that our G&A expenses for 2023 will be consistent with 2022 to support our continued R&D activities
and for our product candidates. These expenses will likely include costs related to the hiring of additional personnel, fees to
outside consultants, lawyers, and accountants. In addition, if oral difelikefalin or any future product candidate obtains
regulatory approval for marketing, we may incur expenses associated with building sales and marketing, commercial
operations, and market access teams.

Our license agreements with CSL Vifor provide full U.S. commercialization rights of KORSUVA injection to CSL
Vifor under profit-sharing arrangements. Under these profit-sharing arrangements, in consideration of CSL Vifor’s conduct
of the marketing, promotion, selling and distribution of KORSUVA injection in the United States, we pay a marketing and
distribution fee to CSL Vifor based on the level of annual net sales. This fee as well as CSL Vifor’s COGS are deducted
from product sales in calculating the net profits that are subject to the profit-sharing arrangement (see Note 11 of Notes to
Condensed Financial Statements, Collaboration and Licensing Arrangements, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q).

Other Income, Net

Other income, net consists of interest and dividend income earned on our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable
securities, realized gains and losses on the sale of marketable securities and property and equipment, as well as accretion of
discounts/amortization of premiums on purchases of marketable securities. In the event we record a credit loss expense on
our available-for-sale debt securities, those expenses would be offset against other income.

Income Taxes

Historically, our benefit from income taxes related to state R&D tax credits exchanged for cash pursuant to the
Connecticut R&D Tax Credit Exchange Program, which permits qualified small businesses engaged in R&D activities
within Connecticut to exchange their unused R&D tax credits for a cash amount equal to 65% of the value of the
exchanged credits.
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The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 included tax legislation that became effective early in 2023. Significant
legislation for corporate taxpayers includes a corporate alternative minimum tax of 15.0% for companies with $1.0 billion
or more in average net financial statement profits over the three previous years, as well as a 1.0% indirect excise tax on the
repurchase of shares by a publicly traded company. We do not expect this legislation to have an effect on our tax provision
as of June 30, 2023; however, we will continue to evaluate the effect on the tax provision each reporting period.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2023 and 2022

Revenue

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
     June 30,            June 30,           
     2023      2022      % change      2023      2022      % change

Dollar amounts in thousands Dollar amounts in thousands
Collaborative revenue $  5,410 $  8,003 -32% $  8,160 $  8,003 2%
Commercial supply revenue  1,400  — N/A  4,591  4,790 -4%
Royalty revenue  123  — N/A  248  — N/A
License and milestone fees  —  15,000 -100%  —  15,000 -100%
Clinical compound revenue    —      —   N/A    99      —   N/A

Total revenue $  6,933   $  23,003   -70% $  13,098   $  27,793   -53%

Collaborative Revenue

We recognized collaborative revenue of $5.4 million and $8.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30,
2023, and $8.0 million for each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2022. This change in collaborative revenue for
both periods was related to our share of the profit from CSL Vifor’s sales of KORSUVA injection to third parties in the
United States, which commercially launched in April 2022.

Commercial Supply Revenue

We recognized commercial supply revenue of $1.4 million and $4.6 million for the three and six months ended June
30, 2023, and $4.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022. There was no commercial supply revenue for the three
months ended June 30, 2022. This change in commercial supply revenue was related to sales of KORSUVA injection to
CSL Vifor, as we and CSL Vifor began commercializing KORSUVA injection in the United States in December 2021 and
commercial launch began in April 2022.

Royalty revenue

We recognized royalty revenue of approximately $123,000 and $248,000 for the three and six months ended June 30,
2023, and no royalty revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022. This increase in royalty revenue was
related to sales of Kapruvia in Europe, which commercially launched in the third quarter of 2022.

License and milestone fees revenue

There was no license and milestone fees revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023. License and
milestone fees revenue of $15.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 was related to the regulatory
milestone payment earned from Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. for the approval of Kapruvia by the
European Commission in April 2022. (see Notes 11 and 12 of Notes to Condensed Financial Statements, Collaboration and
Licensing Agreements and Revenue Recognition, respectively, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q).
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Clinical compound revenue

We recognized clinical compound revenue of approximately $99,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2023, which
was related to sales of clinical compound to Maruishi. There was no clinical compound revenue for the three months ended
June 30, 2023, and the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.

Cost of Goods Sold (COGS)

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
     June 30,            June 30,           
     2023      2022      % change      2023      2022      % change

Dollar amounts in thousands Dollar amounts in thousands
Cost of Goods Sold $  1,418 $  — N/A $  4,008 $  2,081 93%

During the three months ended June 30, 2023, we recorded COGS of $1.4 million which was related to our
commercial supply revenue from CSL Vifor. There were no COGS recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2022
as there was no commercial supply revenue from CSL Vifor.

During the six months ended June 30, 2023, we recorded COGS of $4.0 million compared to $2.1 million during the
six months ended June 30, 2022. The increase in COGS for the six months ended June 30, 2023, was related to commercial
supply revenue for KORSUVA injection sales to CSL Vifor. All COGS incurred through February 2022 were expensed as
incurred since they were incurred prior to regulatory approval.

Research and Development Expense

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30,  June 30, 

     2023      2022      % change      2023      2022      % change
Dollar amounts in thousands Dollar amounts in thousands     

Direct clinical trial costs $  20,538 $  10,867 89% $  34,287 $  22,433 53%
Consultant services in support of clinical
trials    1,358      1,336   2%    2,429      2,685   -10%
Stock-based compensation    1,563      1,942   -20%    3,222      4,026   -20%
Depreciation and amortization    29      30   -3%    58      61   -6%
Other R&D operating expenses    6,822      5,730   19%    14,648      11,973   22%

Total R&D expense $  30,310   $  19,905   52% $  54,644   $  41,178   33%

For the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022, the $9.7 million
increase in direct clinical trial costs was primarily due to the increases in clinical trial spend related to our three late-stage
oral difelikefalin programs, and other general costs associated with our oral programs. These increases were partially offset
by decreases related to the Phase 2 efficacy trial for pruritus associated with NP, and costs associated with our prior
difelikefalin injection trials. The decrease in stock compensation expense is primarily related to lower grant date fair values
for new option grants during the three months ended June 30, 2023, and lower stock compensation expense related to time-
based restricted stock units that fully vested in February 2023. The $1.1 million increase in other R&D operating expenses
was primarily related to increases in payroll-related costs.

For the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022, the $11.9 million increase in
direct clinical trial costs was primarily due to the increases in clinical trial spend related to our three late-stage oral
difelikefalin programs. These increases were partially offset by decreases related to the Phase 2 efficacy trial for pruritus
associated with NP, costs associated with our prior difelikefalin injection trials, and other general costs associated with our
oral programs. The decrease in stock compensation expense is primarily related to lower grant date fair values for new
option grants during the six months ended June 30, 2023, and lower stock compensation expense related to time-based
restricted stock units that fully vested in February 2023. The $2.7 million increase in other R&D operating expenses was
primarily related to increases in payroll-related costs and travel costs.
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The following table summarizes our R&D expenses by program for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and
2022:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
     June 30,            June 30,      
     2023      2022      % change      2023      2022      % change

    Dollar amounts in thousands               Dollar amounts in thousands     
External research and development
expenses:

KORSUVA (difelikefalin) injection -
Pruritus $  —   $  1,700   -100% $  —   $  4,803   -100%
Oral difelikefalin - Pruritus    21,869      10,488   109%    36,675      20,499   79%

Internal research and development
expenses    8,441      7,717   9%    17,969      15,876   13%

Total research and development
expenses $  30,310   $  19,905   52% $  54,644   $  41,178   33%

General and Administrative Expenses

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30,  June 30, 

     2023      2022      % change      2023      2022      % change
Dollar amounts in thousands  Dollar amounts in thousands 

Professional fees and public/investor
relations $  1,796 $  1,469 22% $  3,440 $  3,404 1%
Stock-based compensation    1,879      2,713   -31%    3,573      6,333   -44%
Depreciation and amortization    31      32   -2%    61      64   -4%
Other G&A operating expenses    3,839      3,356   14%    7,362      7,116   3%

Total G&A expense $  7,545   $  7,570   0% $  14,436   $  16,917   -15%

The increase of $0.3 million in professional fees and public/investor relations expenses was primarily due to an
increase in consultants’ costs and legal fees. The decrease of $0.8 million in stock-based compensation expense for the
three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022 was primarily related to higher
expenses recorded during the three months ended June 30, 2022 for the modification of equity awards of our former Chief
Executive Officer, or CEO. The increase of $0.5 million in other G&A operating expenses was primarily the result of
increases in payroll-related costs.

The decrease of $2.8 million in stock-based compensation expense for the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared
to the six months ended June 30, 2022 was primarily related to higher expenses recorded during the six months ended June
30, 2022 for the modification of our former CEO’s equity awards, and certain performance-based restricted stock units that
vested during the six months ended June 30, 2022. The $0.2 million increase in other G&A operating expenses was
primarily the result of increases in payroll-related costs.

Other Income, Net

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30,  June 30, 

     2023      2022      % change      2023      2022      % change
Dollar amounts in thousands Dollar amounts in thousands

Other income, net $  861 $  266 223% $  1,846 $  428 331%

For the three months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the three months ended June 30, 2022, the increase in other
income, net was primarily due to an increase in interest income resulting from a higher yield on our portfolio of
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investments during the three months ended June 30, 2023 and an increase in accretion income from our available-for-sale
marketable securities.

For the six months ended June 30, 2023 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2022, the increase in other
income, net was primarily due to an increase in interest income resulting from a higher yield on our portfolio of
investments during the six months ended June 30, 2023 and an increase in accretion income from our available-for-sale
marketable securities.

Benefit from Income Taxes

We were not eligible to exchange our R&D tax credit for cash during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023
and 2022, therefore there was no benefit from income taxes for each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and
2022. As of June 30, 2023, we recorded $0.7 million within income tax receivable which related to the 2020 R&D credit.

We recognized a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets at June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022. The tax
benefit related to the exercise of stock options is recognized as a deferred tax asset that is offset by a corresponding
valuation allowance. As such, our effective tax rate is zero for each of the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and
2022.

Capital Requirements, Liquidity, and Capital Resources

Short-Term and Long-Term Cash Requirements

Our primary uses of capital have been, and we expect will continue to be, compensation and related expenses, third-
party clinical R&D services, and clinical costs related to the oral difelikefalin program.

As of June 30, 2023, we have no commitments for capital expenditures in either the short-term or long-term. The
following discussion summarizes our current and long-term material cash requirements as of June 30, 2023, which we
expect to fund primarily with current unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sale marketable securities:

Material Cash Requirements (amounts in thousands)

     Total      2023 2024 2025      2026      2027     
2028 &
After

Operating lease obligations(1) $  15,373     $ 1,002 $  108 $  1,298 $  1,330 $  1,363     $  10,272
Manufacturing purchase
obligations(2)  6,402       6,402  —  —  —  —       —
Other obligations(3)  1,908  408  —  —  —  —  1,500
   Total $  23,683 $ 7,812 $  108 $  1,298 $  1,330 $  1,363 $  11,772

(1) Operating lease obligations in 2023 relate to our Stamford operating leases entered into in December 2015, and
amended in June 2020 (which continue through December 2023). Operating lease obligations in 2024 and beyond
relate to our new lease entered into in May 2023 for our new principal executive offices, for which rent payments
are expected to begin in late 2024. See Note 16 of Notes to Condensed Financial Statements, Commitments and
Contingencies, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for details about our operating lease obligations.

(2) Based on our MSA with Patheon that we entered into in July 2019, we have a purchase capacity reservation
through December 31, 2023. We expect the majority of this capacity reservation will be reimbursed in accordance
with the supply agreement with CSL Vifor. See Note 16 of Notes to Condensed Financial Statements,
Commitments and Contingencies, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for details about our MSA with Patheon.
We have no other material non-cancelable purchase commitments with any other contract manufacturers or
service providers, as we have generally contracted on a cancelable purchase order basis.

(3) We are required to maintain a stand-by letter of credit as a security deposit under our leases for office space in
Stamford, Connecticut. Obligations in 2023 relate to our existing leases that terminate in December 2023.
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Obligations in 2028 and after relate to our stand-by letter of credit for our new lease for our new principal
executive offices. See Note 6 of Notes to Condensed Financial Statements, Restricted Cash, in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for details about our letter of credit associated with our Stamford operating leases and new
lease for our new principal executive offices in May 2023.

As we anticipate revenue increasing in the short-term and long-term with the commercialization of KORSUVA
injection and Kapruvia, our costs of manufacturing will also increase.

Based on the Enteris License Agreement that we entered into in August 2019, we are obligated to pay (1) milestone
payments upon the achievement of certain development, regulatory and commercial milestones and (2) low-single digit
royalty percentages on net sales of licensed products, subject to reductions in specified circumstances. As these milestone
payments may or may not be achieved, and royalties may or may not be owed depending on our future commercial
success, there were no future potential payments that were considered cash requirements in the table above as of June 30,
2023. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, there were no milestone payments made to Enteris.
See Note 16 of Notes to Condensed Financial Statements, Commitments and Contingencies, in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for details about our Enteris License Agreement.

We do not have any other requirements or off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a
material current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of
operations, liquidity, cash requirements or capital resources.

Since inception, we have incurred significant operating and net losses. We incurred net losses of $31.5 million and
$4.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and $58.1 million and $32.0 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of June 30, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $624.4
million. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating and net losses in the foreseeable future, as we
and our partner CSL Vifor expand the commercial launch of KORSUVA injection and Kapruvia and to develop and seek
marketing approval for oral difelikefalin. However, we will not incur any material commercial costs on KORSUVA
injection and Kapruvia due to the licensing agreement with CSL Vifor. Our financial results may fluctuate significantly
from quarter to quarter and year to year, depending on the success of our commercialization efforts, timing of our clinical
trials, the receipt of additional milestone payments, if any, under our licensing and collaborations with CSL Vifor, Maruishi
and CKDP, the receipt of payments under any future collaborations and/or licensing agreements we may enter into, and our
expenditures on other R&D activities.

We anticipate that our expenses will increase as we:

● continue the development of oral difelikefalin for pruritus associated with AD, advanced CKD, and NP;

● seek regulatory approvals for any product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

● establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure and scale up external manufacturing capabilities to
commercialize any other products for which we may obtain regulatory approval;

● maintain, expand and protect our global intellectual property portfolio;

● hire additional clinical, quality control and scientific personnel; and

● add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support
our drug development and potential future commercialization efforts.

The successful commercialization of KORSUVA injection and Kapruvia and the successful development of any of our
other product candidates is highly uncertain. As such, at this time, we cannot reasonably estimate or know the nature,
timing and costs of the efforts that will be necessary to successfully commercialize KORSUVA injection and Kapruvia,
complete the development of oral difelikefalin or our other current and future programs. We are also unable to predict
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when, if ever, we will generate any further material net cash inflows from difelikefalin. This is due to the numerous risks
and uncertainties associated with developing medicines, including the uncertainty of:

● successful enrollment in, and completion of clinical trials;

● receipt of marketing approvals from applicable regulatory authorities;

● establishing commercial manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers;

● obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity for our product
candidates;

● launching commercial sales of the products, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with
others;

● achieving meaningful penetration in the markets which we seek to serve; and

● obtaining adequate coverage or reimbursement by third parties, such as commercial payers and government
healthcare programs, including Medicare and Medicaid.

A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of oral difelikefalin or any of our
future product candidates would significantly change the costs and timing associated with the development of that product
candidate. Further, the timing of any of the above may be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, introducing additional
uncertainty.

Commercial launch of KORSUVA injection began in the United States in April 2022, and commercial launch of
Kapruvia has commenced in the EU in Austria, Germany, Sweden, France, the Netherlands, and Finland. In August 2022,
as part of the Access Consortium, difelikefalin injection was approved in Switzerland under the brand name Kapruvia, as
well as Singapore and Canada under the brand name KORSUVA. Commercial launch in Switzerland has also commenced.
Difelikefalin injection was also approved under the brand name KORSUVA in the UAE, Kwait, and Israel in January 2023,
May 2023, and June 2023, respectively. We expect additional commercial launches to commence over the next 12-18
months. Our other product candidates are still in clinical development and since the outcome of these efforts is uncertain,
we cannot estimate the actual amounts necessary to successfully complete the commercialization of KORSUVA injection
and Kapruvia and the development and commercialization of our other product candidates or whether, or when, we may
achieve profitability. Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our
cash needs through a combination of equity or debt financings and collaboration arrangements, including our existing
licensing and collaboration agreements with CSL Vifor, Maruishi and CKDP.

We will require additional capital beyond our current balances of cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sale
marketable securities and anticipated amounts as described above, and this additional capital may not be available when
needed, on reasonable terms, or at all. Our ability to raise additional capital may be adversely impacted by potential
worsening global economic conditions and continuing disruptions to and volatility in the credit and equity markets in the
United States and worldwide, including impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic or future public health crises, geopolitical
tensions, such as the ongoing military conflict between Russia and Ukraine and related sanctions against Russia, decades-
high inflation, rising interest rates, uncertainty and liquidity concerns in the broader financial services industry, such as
those caused by certain recent banking failures, and a potential recession in the United States. If we are not able to do so,
we could be required to postpone, scale back or eliminate some, or all, of these objectives. To the extent that we raise
additional capital through the future sale of equity or convertible debt, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be
diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our
existing common stockholders. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of debt securities, these securities could
contain covenants that would restrict our operations. If we raise additional funds through collaboration arrangements in the
future, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future
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revenue streams or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise
additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate
our drug development or future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we
would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Sources of Liquidity

Since our inception to date, we have raised an aggregate of $897.5 million to fund our operations, including (1) net
proceeds of $446.3 million from the sale of shares of our common stock in five public offerings, including our initial public
offering; (2) proceeds of  $73.3 million from the sale of shares of our convertible preferred stock and from debt financings 
prior to our initial public offering; (3) payments of $255.2 million under our license and supply agreements (including 
commercial supply sales and royalty payments), primarily with CSL Vifor, Maruishi, CKDP, and an earlier product 
candidate for which development efforts ceased in 2007; (4) our share of the profit generated by KORSUVA injection sales 
of $24.7 million; and (5) net proceeds of $98.0 million from the purchase of our common stock in relation to the license
agreements with CSL Vifor (see Note 11 of Notes to Condensed Financial Statements, Collaboration and Licensing
Agreements, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q).

In order to fund our future operations, including our planned clinical trials, on March 1, 2022, we filed a universal
shelf registration statement, or the Shelf Registration Statement, which provides for aggregate offerings of up to $300.0
million of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants or any combination thereof. The Shelf Registration
Statement was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 11, 2022. The securities registered
under the Shelf Registration Statement include $154.5 million of unsold securities that had been registered under our
previous Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-230333) that was declared effective on April 4, 2019. We
believe that our Shelf Registration Statement will provide us with the flexibility to raise additional capital to finance our
operations as needed.

On March 1, 2022, we entered into an open market sales agreement, or the Sales Agreement, with Jefferies LLC, as
sales agent, pursuant to which we may, from time to time, issue and sell common stock with an aggregate value of up to
$80.0 million in an at-the-market offering. Jefferies is acting as sole sales agent for any sales made under the Sales
Agreement for a 3% commission on gross proceeds. The common stock will be sold at prevailing market prices at the time
of the sale, and, as a result, prices may vary. Unless otherwise terminated earlier, the Sales Agreement continues until all
shares available under the Sales Agreement have been sold. No shares were sold under the Sales Agreement during the
three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022.

We may offer additional securities under our Shelf Registration Statement from time to time in response to market
conditions or other circumstances if we believe such a plan of financing is in the best interests of our stockholders.

Under Vifor Agreement No. 1, we are eligible to receive commercial milestone payments in the aggregate of up to
$240.0 million upon the achievement of certain sales-based milestones. In October 2021, we received a $50.0 million
milestone payment from Vifor International in exchange for the issuance of 3,282,391 shares of our common stock to Vifor
International as a result of the regulatory approval of KORSUVA injection in August 2021. As of the date of this filing, we
have received $50.0 million of regulatory milestones from Vifor International.

Under Vifor Agreement No. 2, we are eligible to receive commercial milestone payments in the aggregate of up to
$440.0 million, all of which are sales-related. We are also eligible to receive tiered double-digit royalty payments based on
annual net sales, as defined in Vifor Agreement No. 2, of difelikefalin injection in the licensed territories. In June 2022, we
received a $15.0 million milestone payment from Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. as a result of the
regulatory approval of Kapruvia by the European Commission in April 2022. In October 2021, we received a $15.0 million
milestone payment from Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd. as a result of the regulatory approval of
KORSUVA injection in August 2021. As of the date of this filing, we have received $30.0 million of regulatory milestones
from Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd.

Under the Maruishi Agreement, we are also potentially eligible to earn up to an aggregate of $6.0 million in clinical
development milestones and $4.5 million in regulatory milestones, before any foreign exchange adjustment, as well as
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tiered royalties, with percentages ranging from the low double digits to the low twenties, based on net sales of products
containing difelikefalin in Japan, if any, and share in any sub-license fees. As of the date of this filing, we have received
$4.5 million (before contractual foreign currency exchange adjustments) of clinical development and regulatory milestone
from Maruishi.

Under the CKDP Agreement, we are potentially eligible to earn up to an aggregate of $2.3 million in clinical
development milestones and $1.5 million in regulatory milestones, before South Korean withholding tax, as well as tiered
royalties with percentages ranging from the high single digits to the high teens, based on net sales of products containing
difelikefalin in South Korea, if any, and share in any sub-license fees. As of the date of this filing, $2.3 million (before
South Korean withholding tax) of development and regulatory milestones have been received under the CKDP Agreement.

In December 2021, CMS granted TDAPA designation to KORSUVA injection in the anti-pruritic functional category.
TDAPA went into effect on April 1, 2022, for a minimum of two years. On June 26, 2023, CMS issued the CY 2024 ESRD
PPS proposed rule to update Medicare payment policies and rates for renal dialysis services including a proposed
methodology for post-TDAPA reimbursement for TDAPA designated products in existing functional categories. The
proposed rule provides for additional funding per dialysis treatment outside the bundle rate for a 3-year post-TDAPA
period starting immediately upon the expiration of the TDAPA period. CMS is expected to issue a final CY 2024 rule in the
fourth quarter of 2023. There is no assurance that the final CY 2024 rule provides for sufficient funding to maintain or
grow KORSUVA patient volume post the TDAPA period which could significantly impact our revenues in future periods.
Commercial launch of KORSUVA injection commenced in April 2022 and we began recording associated profit-sharing
revenues in the second quarter of 2022. As a result of the European Commission’s approval of Kapruvia in April 2022, the
commercial launch of Kapruvia in the EU has commenced in Austria, Germany, Sweden, France, the Netherlands, and
Finland. Commercial launch has also commenced in Switzerland, and we expect additional commercial launches to
commence over the next 12-18 months.

Our ability to earn these payments and their timing is dependent upon the outcome of oral difelikefalin development
activities and successful commercialization of KORSUVA injection and Kapruvia. However, our receipt of any further
such amounts is uncertain at this time and we may never receive any more of these amounts.

Outlook

We expect that our current unrestricted cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sale marketable securities,
including collaborative revenue from our share of the profit from KORSUVA injection, will be sufficient to fund our
currently anticipated operating plan for at least the next 12 months. Our anticipated operating expenses include
contractually committed costs as well as non-contractually committed clinical trial costs for trials that may be delayed or
not initiated and other non-committed controllable costs. Because the process of testing product candidates in clinical trials
is costly and the timing of progress in these trials is uncertain, it is possible that the assumptions upon which we have based
this estimate may prove to be wrong, and we could use our capital resources sooner than we presently expect.
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Cash Flows

The following is a summary of the net cash flows provided by (used in) our operating, investing and financing
activities for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

Six Months Ended
June 30,

     2023      2022
Dollar amounts in thousands

Net cash used in operating activities $  (55,063) $  (30,028)
Net cash provided by investing activities    50,511    63,108
Net cash provided by financing activities    560    185

Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $  (3,992) $  33,265

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2023 consisted primarily of a net loss of $58.1
million and a $4.5 million cash outflow from net changes in operating assets and liabilities, partially offset by a $7.6
million cash inflow from net non-cash charges. The change in operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of cash
outflows of $6.9 million from an increase in accounts receivable, net – related party primarily relating to amounts due from
CSL Vifor for our share of the profit generated by KORSUVA injection sales, for commercial supply of KORSUVA
injection to CSL Vifor, and for royalty revenue from sales of Kapruvia outside of the United States by CSL Vifor, an
increase in inventory, net of $1.0 million, and a cash outflow of $0.9 million relating to operating lease liabilities associated
with our lease agreements for our operating facility in Stamford, Connecticut. These cash outflows were partially offset by
an increase of $2.9 million in accounts payable and accrued expenses primarily relating to decreased payments made in the
first half of 2023, and a decrease in prepaid expenses of $1.3 million, primarily related to prepaid clinical costs. Net non-
cash charges primarily consisted of stock-based compensation expense of $6.8 million, and the amortization expense
component of lease expense of $0.8 million relating to our Stamford operating leases.

Net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 consisted primarily of a net loss of $32.0
million and a $9.8 million cash outflow from net changes in operating assets and liabilities, partially offset by a $11.7
million cash inflow from net non-cash charges. The change in operating assets and liabilities primarily consisted of an
increase of $8.0 million in accounts receivable, net – related party relating to amounts due from CSL Vifor from our profit
sharing arrangements governing KORSUVA injection sales in the United States, an increase in prepaid expenses of $3.5
million, primarily related to an increase in prepaid clinical costs, an increase of $0.9 million of inventory, net for our
commercial supply of KORSUVA injection to CSL Vifor, and a cash outflow of $0.9 million relating to operating lease
liabilities associated with our lease agreements for our operating facility in Stamford, Connecticut, partially offset by a cash
inflow of $3.5 million from an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses. Net non-cash charges primarily
consisted of stock-based compensation expense of $10.4 million, which includes incremental expense related to the
modification of our former CEO’s equity awards in 2021 of $2.6 million, the amortization expense component of lease
expense of $0.7 million relating to our Stamford operating leases, and the amortization of available-for-sale marketable
securities, net of $0.5 million.

Net cash provided by investing activities

Net cash provided by investing activities was $50.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, which primarily
included cash inflows of $76.3 million from maturities and redemptions of available-for-sale marketable securities,
partially offset by cash outflows of $25.8 million for the purchases of available-for-sale marketable securities.
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Net cash provided by investing activities was $63.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, which primarily
included cash inflows of $94.3 million from maturities of available-for-sale marketable securities, partially offset by cash
outflows of $31.1 million for the purchases of available-for-sale marketable securities.

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 consisted of proceeds of
approximately $560,000 and $185,000, respectively, received from the exercise of stock options.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Please refer to Note 2 of Notes to Condensed Financial Statements, Basis of Presentation, in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of our condensed financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. GAAP and our
discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations require us to make estimates, judgments and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the condensed financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable
under the circumstances at the time such estimates are made. Actual results and outcomes may differ materially from our
estimates, judgments, and assumptions. We periodically review our estimates in light of changes in circumstances, facts,
and experience. The effects of material revisions in estimates are reflected in the condensed financial statements
prospectively from the date of the change in estimate. Note 2 of Notes to Financial Statements, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies, in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, or Annual Report,
describes the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our condensed financial statements.

We define our critical accounting estimates as those subjective estimates and judgments about matters that are
uncertain and are likely to have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations as well as the specific
manner in which we apply U.S. GAAP. Our critical accounting policies that require significant judgments and estimates are
more fully described under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Critical Accounting Estimates” in our Annual Report and in Note 2 to our audited financial statements
contained in our Annual Report. There have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies that require
significant judgments and estimates from those disclosed in our Annual Report.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest Rate Risk

As of June 30, 2023, we invested a majority of our cash reserves in a variety of available-for-sale marketable
securities, including investment-grade debt instruments, principally corporate bonds, commercial paper, municipal bonds
and direct obligations of the U.S. government and U.S. government-sponsored entities, and in cash equivalents. See Note 3
of Notes to Condensed Financial Statements, Available-for-Sale Marketable Securities, in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for details about our available-for-sale marketable securities.

As of June 30, 2023, we had invested $43.5 million of our cash reserves in such marketable securities. Those
marketable securities included $43.5 million of investment grade debt instruments with a yield of approximately 1.01% and
maturities through November 2024. As of December 31, 2022, we had invested $93.0 million of our cash reserves in such
marketable securities. Those marketable securities included $93.0 million of investment grade debt instruments with a yield
of approximately 2.01% and maturities through November 2024.

We maintain an investment portfolio in accordance with our investment policy, which includes guidelines on
acceptable investment securities, minimum credit quality, maturity parameters, and concentration and diversification.
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The primary objectives of our investment policy are to preserve principal, maintain proper liquidity and to meet operating
needs. Our investments are subject to interest rate risk and will decrease in value if market interest rates increase. However,
due to the conservative nature of our investments and relatively short duration, we do not believe we are materially
exposed to changes in interest rates related to our investments. As a result, we do not currently use interest rate derivative
instruments to manage exposure to interest rate changes.

Duration is a sensitivity measure that can be used to approximate the change in the fair value of a security that will
result from a change in interest rates. Applying the duration model, a hypothetical 100 basis point, or 1%, increase in
interest rates as of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, would have resulted in immaterial decreases in the fair values of
our portfolio of marketable securities at those dates.

Credit Quality Risk

Although our investments are subject to credit risk, our investment policy specifies credit quality standards for our
investments and limits the amount of credit exposure from any single issue, issuer or type of investment. Nonetheless,
deterioration of the credit quality of an investment security subsequent to purchase may subject us to the risk of not being
able to recover the full principal value of the security. As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the aggregate
unrealized losses on our available-for-sale marketable securities were $0.7 million and $1.7 million, respectively. For each
of the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, we did not record any charges to credit loss expense for our
available-for-sale securities. Refer to Note 3 of Notes to Condensed Financial Statements, Available-for-Sale Marketable
Securities, in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.  

As of June 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had accounts receivable, net - related party from CSL Vifor of $10.1
million and $3.3 million, respectively, primarily for our share of the profit generated by KORSUVA injection sales,
commercial supply revenue, and royalty revenue. We believe that credit risk associated with CSL Vifor is not significant.
We review the need for an allowance for credit losses for any receivable based on various factors including payment
history and historical bad debt experience. We had an insignificant allowance for credit losses as of June 30, 2023 and
December 31, 2022.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act) as of June 30, 2023. Based on such evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of June 30, 2023, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that
we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods
specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosures.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended June 30,
2023 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Limitations on Controls and Procedures

Management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives
and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost benefit relationship of possible
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controls and procedures. Because of the inherent limitations of the effectiveness of all control systems, no evaluation of
controls and procedures can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within Cara
Therapeutics, Inc. have been detected.
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PART II

OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become subject to arbitration, litigation or claims arising in the ordinary course of
business. We are not currently a party to any arbitration or legal proceeding that, if determined adversely to us, would have
a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition. The results of any future claims or
proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us
because of defense and litigation costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business is subject to risks and events that, if they occur, could adversely affect our financial condition and results
of operations and trading price of our securities. In addition to the risk factor set forth below and other information set forth
in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the factors described in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk
Factors” of our Annual Report. We may disclose changes to risk factors or disclose additional factors from time to time in
our future filings with the SEC. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem
immaterial also may impair our business operations. There have been no material changes to our risk factors as presented
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, other than the risk factor set forth below:

Risks Related to Legal and Compliance Matters

If the government or other third-party payers fail to provide coverage and adequate reimbursement and payment rates
for KORSUVA injection or Kapruvia or any of our other current or future product candidates, if any, or if providers
choose to use therapies that are less expensive, our revenue and prospects for profitability will be limited.

In both U.S. and international markets, sales of KORSUVA injection, Kapruvia and our future products (if approved)
will depend in part upon the availability of coverage and reimbursement from third-party payers. Such third-party payers
include government health programs such as Medicare and Medicaid in the United States, managed care providers, private
health insurers and other organizations. Coverage decisions may depend upon clinical and economic standards that disfavor
new drug products when more established or lower cost therapeutic alternatives are already available or subsequently
become available. Assuming coverage is approved, the resulting reimbursement payment rates might not be adequate. In
the United States, KORSUVA injection for the treatment of pruritus in adult hemodialysis patients is expected to be
designated as a component of the government’s bundled reimbursement for end stage renal disease treatment after the
expiration of the TDAPA period.

On October 31, 2019, CMS issued a final rule that revises payment policies and rates under the ESRD PPS for renal
dialysis services furnished to beneficiaries on or after January 1, 2020. The final rule also updates the TDAPA. In the final
rule, CMS revised ESRD PPS eligibility to focus on innovative drugs and excluded certain drugs from being eligible for
the TDAPA. CMS will pay the revised TDAPA adjustment, which is called the Transitional Add-on Payment Adjustment
for New and Innovative Equipment and Supplies , or TPNIES, for equipment and supplies that: (1) have been designated
by CMS as a renal dialysis service, (2) are new, meaning granted marketing authorization by FDA on or after January 1,
2020, (3) are commercially available by January 1 of the particular calendar year, meaning the year in which the payment
adjustment would take effect, (4) have a HCPCS application submitted in accordance with the official Level II HCPCS
coding procedures by September 1 of the particular calendar year, (5) are innovative, meaning they meet the substantial
clinical improvement criteria specified in the Inpatient Prospective Payment System regulations and related guidance, and
(6) are not capital-related assets. TDAPA went into effect on April 1, 2022, for a minimum of two years, for KORSUVA
injection. However, there is no assurance that KORSUVA injection will be able to maintain its price established in the
TDAPA period in the post-TDAPA timeframe.

On November 2, 2020, CMS issued a final rule outlining its payment policies and rates under the ESRD PPS for the
2021 calendar year. In addition to the annual technical updates to the ESRD PPS, the final rule, among other things,
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expands eligibility under the TPNIES. In particular, the final rule provided for biannual coding cycles for new HCPCS
Level II code applications, revised the definition of “new” to be three (3) years beginning on the date of FDA marketing
authorization, and expanded eligibility under the TPNIES to include certain home dialysis capital-related assets.
Additionally, in October 2021, CMS issued a final rule that updates the ESRD PPS for calendar year 2022. Further, on June
28, 2022, in its Calendar Year 2023 ESRD PPS proposed rule, CMS issued a request for information, or RFI, to seek input
on potential methodologies to add additional money through an add-on adjustment methodology for certain TDAPA drugs
that enter the prospective payment system in an existing functional category. The options included in the RFI, if proposed
and ultimately approved through Notice and Comment Rulemaking, could result in the provision of additional payments
for KORSUVA injection post-TDAPA. Further, on November 7, 2022, CMS published a Calendar Year 2023 ESRD PPS
final rule that will, among others, update Medicare payment policies and rates for renal dialysis services. This final rule
rebases and revises ESRD bundled market basket to a 2020 base year, updates the labor-related share, changes the ESRD
PPS methodology for calculating the outlier threshold for adult patients, applies a permanent 5% cap on decreases in the
ESRD PPS wage index, and increases the wage index floor. Also in the final rule, with regard to the RFI in the June 2022
proposed rule, CMS noted that most commenters expressed support for an add-on payment adjustment for new renal
dialysis drugs to improve patient access to innovative drugs and that CMS intends to take the received comments into
consideration during potential future policy development. As this is an RFI, these provisions have not been proposed or
implemented as a rule and there is no guarantee that CMS will formally propose a change in policy in the form presented in
the RFI. On June 26, 2023, CMS issued the Calendar Year 2024 ESRD PPS proposed rule to update Medicare payment
policies and rates for renal dialysis services including a proposed methodology for post-TDAPA reimbursement for
TDAPA designated products in existing functional categories. The proposed rule provides for additional funding per
dialysis treatment outside the bundle rate for a 3-year post-TDAPA period starting immediately upon the expiration of the
TDAPA period. CMS is expected to issue a final Calendar Year 2024 rule in the fourth quarter of 2023. There are no
assurances that provisions, including any add-on payments after the expiration of the TDAPA period, contained in the
Calendar Year 2024 proposed rule will be included in the Calendar Year Final Rule.

Additionally, many U.S. hospitals receive a fixed reimbursement amount per procedure for certain surgeries and other
treatment therapies they perform, or a pre-determined rate for all hospital inpatient care provided as payment in full.
Because, in these instances, the amount of reimbursement that such providers receive may not be based on the actual
expenses the provider incurs, providers may choose to use therapies which are less expensive when compared to our
product candidates. Accordingly, KORSUVA injection or any of our other current or future product candidates, if approved,
will face competition from other therapies and drugs for these limited provider financial resources. We may need to
conduct post-marketing studies in order to demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of any future products to the satisfaction of
hospitals, other target customers and their third-party payers. Such studies might require us to commit a significant amount
of management time and financial and other resources. Our future products might not ultimately be considered cost-
effective. Third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement might not be available to enable us to maintain price levels
sufficient to realize an appropriate return on investment in product development.

Third-party payers, whether U.S. or international, or governmental or commercial, are developing increasingly
sophisticated methods of controlling healthcare costs. In addition, in the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and
reimbursement for drug products exists among third-party payers. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement for drug
products can differ significantly from payer to payer. Further, we believe that future coverage and reimbursement will
likely be subject to increased restrictions both in the U.S. and international markets. Third-party coverage and
reimbursement for our products or product candidates for which we receive regulatory approval may not be available or
adequate in either the U.S. or international markets, which could have a negative effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition, and prospects.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None.

Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities.

None.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

Resignation of Board Member

On August 4, 2023, Harrison M. Bains notified our board of directors of his decision to resign from our board of 
directors, including each committee of the board of directors on which he is a member, effective upon the filing of our 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending September 30, 2023. Mr. Bains has served as a member of the board 
of directors and as chair of the audit committee since 2014. Mr. Bains’ resignation is not the result of any disagreement 
with our policies, practices or procedures.  

This disclosure is provided in this Part II, Item 5 in lieu of disclosure under Item 5.02(b) of Form 8-K.
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Item 6. Exhibits.

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit

No.      Description of Exhibit      Form      File No.      Exhibit No.      Date Filed

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation.

8-K 001-36279 3.1 February 7, 2014

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws. 8-K 001-36279 3.2 February 7, 2014

10.1† Agreement of Lease dated May 11,
2023 by and between 400 Atlantic
Joint Venture LLC and SLJ
Atlantic Stamford LLC (tenants-
in-common) and Cara
Therapeutics, Inc.

10.2†+ Amended and Restated Non-
Employee Director Compensation
Policy.

31.1† Certification of Chief Executive
Officer of Cara Therapeutics, Inc.
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934.

31.2† Certification of Chief Financial Officer
of Cara Therapeutics, Inc. pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

32.1†* Certifications of Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer of
Cara Therapeutics, Inc. pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.CAL† Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Calculation Linkbase.

101.INS† Inline XBRL Instance Document.

101.LAB† Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Label Linkbase.

101.PRE† Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Presentation Linkbase.

101.SCH† Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Schema Linkbase.

101.DEF† Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension
Definition Linkbase Document.

104† Cover page interactive data file
(formatted as Inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101).

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1346830/000119312514040346/d670092dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1346830/000119312514040346/d670092dex32.htm
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†     Filed herewith.
+     Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
* This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise

subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Date: August 7, 2023 By /s/ CHRISTOPHER POSNER
Christopher Posner
President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 7, 2023 By /s/ RYAN MAYNARD
Ryan Maynard
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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SLJ ATLANTIC STAMFORD LLC (tenants-in-common)

as Landlord

- and -

CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC.,

as Tenant

400 ATLANTIC STREET,
 STAMFORD, CONNECTICUT

Dated as of May 11, 2023
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THIS AGREEMENT OF LEASE (this “Lease”), is dated as of May 11, 2023 (“Effective Date”),
between 400 ATLANTIC JOINT VENTURE LLC AND SLJ ATLANTIC STAMFORD LLC (tenants-in-
common), each a Delaware limited liability company, with an office at c/o George Comfort & Sons, Inc., 200
Madison Avenue, New York, New York 10016 (“Landlord”), and CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC., a Delaware
corporation, with an office at 4 Stamford Plaza, 107 Elm Street, 9th Floor, Stamford, Connecticut 06902
(“Tenant”).

WI T N E S S E T H:

Landlord and Tenant hereby covenant and agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1
Definitions

Section 1.01. Definitions.  For the purposes of this Lease, unless the context otherwise requires:

(a) “Alterations” shall mean alterations, installments, improvements, additions or other changes
(other than temporary partition walls and decorations), in the Premises (hereinafter defined), or, to the extent
expressly permitted pursuant to the terms of this Lease, outside of the Premises, including, without limitation,
Tenant’s Alterations (hereinafter defined).

(b) “Building” shall mean, collectively, the building(s) and improvements constituting the
office complex located at and known as 400 Atlantic Street, Stamford, Connecticut.

(c) “Building Common Areas” shall mean all of the non-rentable areas in the interior and
exterior of the Building designated by Landlord as available in common for or for the common benefit of, the
tenants of the Building, including, without limitation, restrooms on multitenant floors, fire stairs, common space
on the ground floor of the Building (the “Plaza”), any common loading docks, and the Garage.

(d) “Building Systems” shall mean the base Building mechanical, gas, electrical, sanitary,
heating, air-conditioning, ventilating, elevator, plumbing, life-safety, roof and balcony drainage and other service
systems of the Building (other than any horizontal distribution of the Building Systems within and exclusively
serving the Premises following the main point of connection thereof).

(e) “City” shall mean Stamford, Connecticut.

(f) “Complex” shall mean the office building(s) and the related facilities, parking areas,
interconnected garages, terraces and roadways and any other improvements constructed on the Land and currently
known as and having an address at 400 Atlantic Street, Stamford, Connecticut.  Landlord and Tenant have agreed
that for the purpose of this Lease, as of the date hereof, the rentable square footage of the Complex is deemed to
be 491,420 rentable square feet.  Said Complex rentable square footage shall be subject to change, from time to
time, based solely on any actual, physical additions or deletions of rentable square footage to the Complex, or
pursuant to the terms of this Lease.
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(g) “Complex Common Areas” shall mean all of the areas in and around the building(s)
comprising the Complex which are designated by Landlord as being available for common use by or the common
benefit of all tenants of the Complex, subject to such commercially reasonable access restrictions which Landlord
may impose, including, without limitation, the Complex Garages (hereinafter defined); any exterior parking areas
located at and being a part of the Complex; any Complex common parking spaces; any Complex annexes and/or
common terraces; landscaped areas of the Land; any Complex common loading and unloading areas; any common
facilities which are designated for the use of tenants of the Complex; and the Land and the roadways and
sidewalks located adjacent to the building(s) in the Complex.

(h) “Complex Garages” shall mean all of the motor vehicle parking garages which are located
adjacent to the building(s) comprising the Complex.

(i) “Control” shall mean ownership of more than fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding voting
stock of a corporation or other majority equity and/or control interest if not a corporation and/or the possession of
power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policy of such corporation or other entity, whether
through the ownership of voting securities or interests or by statute.

(j) “Environmental Laws” shall mean all applicable Federal, state, county, and local statutes,
laws, regulations, rules, ordinances, codes, standards, guidelines, orders, licenses and permits of any
Governmental Authorities relating to environmental, health or safety matters, including by way of illustration and
not by way of limitation, the Clean Air Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, the Solid Waste
Disposal Act of 1970, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1970, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation
and Liability Act of 1980, the Toxic Substances Control Act and any state and local equivalents of all for the
preceding laws, including, but not limited to Connecticut General Statutes §22a-1 et seq., including any
amendments or extensions thereof and all future similar statutes, laws, rules, regulations, and directives and any
rules, regulations, standards or guidelines issued pursuant to any of said Environmental Laws.

(k) “Garage” shall mean that portion of the Complex Garages located directly under and
around the Building.

(l) “Governmental Authorities” or a “Governmental Authority” shall mean any federal, state,
county, municipal or local government or any quasi-governmental authority, now or hereafter created and all
departments, commissions, boards, bureaus and offices thereof having or claiming jurisdiction over the Building
or Complex or any portion thereof.

(m) “Hazardous Materials” shall mean any hazardous or toxic chemical, waste, byproduct,
pollutant, contaminant, compound, product or substance, including, without limitation, asbestos, polychlorinated
biphenyl’s, lead, petroleum (including crude oil or any fraction thereof), and any material the exposure to, or
manufacture, possession, presence, use, generation, storage, transportation, treatment, release, disposal,
abatement, cleanup, removal, remediation or handling of which is now, or may in the future be, prohibited,
controlled or regulated by any of the Environmental Laws.
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(n) “Land” shall mean the parcel or parcels of land situated in the County of Fairfield, State of
Connecticut and the City upon which the Complex stands.

(o) “Lease Year” shall mean every period of twelve (12) consecutive months during the Term
of this Lease commencing on the Rent Commencement Date (as hereinafter defined), provided that if the Rent
Commencement Date does not occur on the first day of a month, then the first Lease Year shall commence on the
Rent Commencement Date and end on the last day of the month in which shall occur the day immediately
preceding the first anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date and provided further that the last Lease Year
shall end on the Expiration Date (as hereinafter defined).

(p) “Requirements” shall mean all present and future laws, rules, orders, ordinances,
regulations, statutes, requirements, codes and executive orders, extraordinary as well as ordinary, of all
Governmental Authorities now existing or hereafter created, and of any and all of their departments and bureaus
affecting the Complex or any portion thereof, or any street, avenue or sidewalk comprising a part of or in front
thereof.

(q) “Superior Lease” shall mean any and all ground or underlying leases of the Land, Complex
or the Building and all renewals, extensions, supplements, amendments and modifications thereof.

(r) “Superior Mortgages” shall mean any trust indenture or mortgage which may now or
hereafter affect the Land, the Complex or the Building or any Superior Lease and the leasehold interest created
thereby or any condominium declaration or similar common interest ownership structure, and all renewals,
extensions, supplements, amendments, modifications, consolidations and replacements thereof or thereto,
substitutions therefor and advances made thereunder.

(s) “Tenant’s Alterations” shall mean the fit-up improvements and Alterations made by Tenant
to the Premises, excluding Tenant’s Property, during the Term of this Lease, including, without limitation,
improvements to the First Offer Space (as hereinafter defined), if any.

(t) “Tenant’s Property” shall mean Tenant’s (i) moveable trade fixtures and partitions, (ii)
telephones, computers, printers and other business office machines, and (iii) furniture, furnishings, work stations,
decorations and other items of moveable personal property.

(u) “Unavoidable Delays” shall mean any and all delays beyond the reasonable control of a
party, including, without limitation, delays caused by the other party hereto, governmental restrictions,
governmental regulations, governmental controls, order of civil, military or naval authority, governmental
preemption, governmental mandated pandemic shut-downs, strikes, labor disputes, lock-outs, shortage of labor
materials, inability to obtain materials or reasonable substitutes therefor, default of any building or construction
contractor or subcontractor, Acts of God, pandemics, epidemics, fire, earthquake, floods, explosions, actions of
the elements, extreme weather conditions, enemy action, civil commotion, riot or insurrection, fire or other
unavoidable casualty or any other cause beyond such party’s reasonable control.  Notwithstanding the foregoing,
(i) lack of funds shall not be deemed a cause beyond either party’s
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reasonable control, and (ii) the provisions of this Section 1.01(u) shall not excuse Tenant from its obligation to pay
Fixed Rent and/or Additional Rent as and when due hereunder, nor Landlord from its obligation to reimburse
Tenant any funds or make any other payments due hereunder.

ARTICLE 2
Demise; Premises; Term; Renewal Option

Section 2.01. Demise; Premises; Term.  Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby hires
from Landlord, the interior rentable area located on the fifth (5th) floor of the Building, as more particularly
outlined on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Premises”), in the Building situated on a
portion of the Land as more particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto and made a part hereof, for the
Term hereinafter stated, and for the rents, covenants and conditions (including limitations, restrictions and
reservations) hereinafter provided.

Section 2.02. Rentable Area.  Landlord and Tenant hereby stipulate that, as of the date hereof, the
rentable square footage of the Premises shall be deemed to be 26,374 rentable square feet (“Tenant’s Area”).  Such
Premises rentable area shall be subject to change, from time to time, based solely on any actual, physical additions
or deletions of rentable square footage to the Premises pursuant to the terms of this Lease (including Articles 12,
13, or 36) or by written agreement between the parties.

Section 2.03. Term.   The Premises are leased for a term (the “Term”) of approximately eleven
(11) years, commencing on the earlier to occur of (a) the date that Tenant first occupies the Premises for the
regular conduct of its business therein, and (b) the date Landlord delivers the Premises to Tenant in the condition
required hereunder with Landlord’s Critical Path Work substantially completed, provided that such date shall be
no sooner than November 1, 2023 (the “Commencement Date”), and expiring at 11:59 p.m. (Eastern Time) on the
last day of the calendar month in which occurs the tenth (10th) anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date (the
“Expiration Date”), unless the Term shall sooner terminate pursuant to any of the terms, covenants or conditions
of this Lease or pursuant to law.   If Tenant validly exercises any option to renew pursuant to the terms of this
Lease, the Term shall include any such exercised renewal period.   Upon substantial completion of Landlord’s
Critical Path Work, the Premises shall be turned over to Tenant in the following condition (the “Delivery
Condition”): vacant, broom-clean condition, ready for Tenant to commence Tenant’s Work, fully demised, utilities
separately metered, with all construction debris removed.

Section 2.04. Inability to Deliver Premises.  If Landlord fails to substantially complete Landlord’s
Critical Path Work on or prior to any target substantial completion date, this Lease shall not be void or voidable,
nor shall Landlord be liable for any damages or penalties in connection therewith, except as expressly set forth
herein.   Notwithstanding the foregoing and provided that Tenant has received all permits necessary to begin
construction of Tenant’s Work on or before the date Landlord actually substantially competes Landlord’s Critical
Path Work: (i) subject to any Tenant Delays and Unavoidable Delays, if Landlord does not substantially complete
Landlord’s Critical Path Work on or before June 30, 2023, then Tenant shall be entitled to a credit, in the amount
of one and one-half (1.5) days of Base Rent for every day after such date that Landlord has not so substantially
completed Landlord’s Critical Path Work, and, subject to any
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Tenant Delays and Unavoidable Delays, if Landlord does not substantially complete Landlord’s Critical Path
Work on or before August 31, 2023, then Tenant shall have the right to terminate the Lease by providing ten (10)
Business Days’ prior written notice of termination within ten (10) Business Days after such date (time being of the
essence), provided that if Landlord substantially completes Landlord’s Critical Path Work prior to the expiration
of such ten (10) Business Day period, then such termination notice shall be deemed null and void and of no
further force or effect, and (ii) subject to any Tenant Delays and Unavoidable Delays, if Landlord does not
substantially complete Landlord’s Base Building Work on or before October 31, 2023, then Tenant shall be
entitled to a credit, in the amount of one and one half (1.5) days of Base Rent for every day after such date that
Landlord has not so substantially completed Landlord’s Base Building Work.

Section 2.05. Option to Renew.   Landlord hereby grants to Tenant and Tenant shall have the
option (the “Option”) to extend the Term of this Lease for one (1) five (5) year period (the “Extended Term”) after
the Expiration Date, subject to and in accordance with all of the following terms and conditions:

(a) Tenant shall exercise the Option by giving written notice to Landlord at least twelve (12)
months prior to the Expiration Date, time being of the essence;

(b) The Extended Term shall be under the then applicable terms and conditions contained in
this Lease, except that the annual Fixed Rent shall be at the annual fair market rental rate (as hereinafter defined)
of the Premises as of the Expiration Date;

(c) Tenant shall not be in default of any terms and/or conditions of this Lease beyond any
applicable notice and cure periods;

(d) Tenant’s failure to give Landlord written notice exercising the Option to extend within the
stipulated time shall result in the automatic forfeiture of the Option.  Landlord shall have no obligation to solicit
such notice, or to remind Tenant of its obligations hereunder;

(e) Except as modified herein, all terms and conditions applicable as of the Expiration Date of
this Lease shall be in full force and effect during the Extended Term without any further options to extend; and

(f) The Option to extend is offered exclusively to the named Tenant herein (i.e., Cara
Therapeutics, Inc.) and may not be assigned, pledged or otherwise transferred (except pursuant to a permitted
assignment of the Tenant’s leasehold to related or affiliated companies as defined in and pursuant to Article 19 of
this Lease).

(g) The “annual fair market rental rate” for the Extended Term shall be determined as follows:
Upon Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s timely notice of Tenant’s exercise of the Option, and commencing on or
about the date which is eleven (11) months before the end of the Lease Term, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant, in
writing, Landlord’s good faith determination of the then annual fair market rental rate of the Premises as of the
Expiration Date, which shall be based on the annual fair market rental rate for comparable, first-class commercial
office space (including any available in the Complex) on comparable renewal terms and conditions in the
Complex or in the Stamford, Connecticut commercial office rental market.  Tenant shall have ten (10) Business
Days following receipt of Landlord’s determination to either accept or reject same,



6

by written notice given to Landlord, time being of the essence.  If the parties are unable to so agree on the annual
fair market rental rate for the Extended Term, then such figure shall be determined as follows: Each party shall,
within ten (10) Business Days after the expiration of such ten (10) Business Day period, appoint a reputable,
independent, commercial MAI appraiser, commercial real estate broker, commercial real estate appraiser or
commercial real estate consultant, which, as to any such selected party, has had not less than ten (10) years’
experience appraising and/or leasing comparable, first-class commercial premises in the Stamford, Connecticut,
area (an “advisor”).  The advisor shall not have the power to add to, modify or change any of the provisions of this
Lease.   On the failure of either party to appoint such advisor within ten (10) days after notification of the
appointment by the other party, the person appointed as an advisor shall appoint an advisor to represent the party
who has not so appointed an advisor.  The two (2) advisors appointed in either manner above provided shall then
proceed to act to determine such figure equaling such annual fair market rental rate as of such applicable date, in
accordance with the above definition.  In the event of their inability to reach an agreement between them within
ten (10) days, they shall, within ten (10) days, appoint a third similarly qualified advisor who has had not less than
ten (10) years’ experience appraising comparable, first-class commercial premises in the Stamford, Connecticut,
area.  If the three (3) advisors are then unable to reach an agreement within ten (10) days thereafter, the decision
of the third advisor shall determine such figure equaling such annual fair market rental rate, in accordance with
the above definition (which decision shall be made by the third advisor picking one of the two such submitted
figures by the other advisor(s)).  The final decision of the advisors shall be delivered to the parties in writing not
later than nine (9) months before the expiration of the Lease Term (the “Decision Date”), time being of the
essence.  Landlord and Tenant agree to each pay the expenses and fees of their own advisor and one-half (1/2) the
expenses and fees of any third advisor and to be bound by their final decision.

(h) If for any reason by the commencement of the Extended Term, the annual Fixed Rent for
such period shall not have been finally determined, Tenant shall, until such determination, pay the annual Fixed
Rent at the last applicable annual Fixed Rent rate per rentable square foot of the Premises during the Lease Term.
 Upon such final determination, Tenant shall thereafter pay such annual Fixed Rent at a rate which is based upon
the annual Fixed Rent for the Extended Term as so determined and shall pay Landlord the balance, if any, which
shall be owing for the period preceding such determination.  Whenever the annual Fixed Rent for the Extended
Term shall have been determined, the parties hereto, on request of either of them, shall enter into a stipulation with
respect to the annual Fixed Rent rate for the Extended Term.

ARTICLE 3
As-is Condition of the Premises

Section 3.01. As-is Condition.   Except as hereinafter specifically provided, Tenant  hereby
acknowledges that it shall take the Premises, the Building and the Complex in their “AS-IS,” “WHERE-IS”
condition as of the date of this Lease, and (except as expressly specified pursuant to the terms of this Lease)
Landlord shall have no obligation to alter, repair or perform any work to prepare the Premises, the Building, the
Complex or any portion thereof for Tenant’s occupancy.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall, at its sole
cost and expense (subject to the Tenant Improvement Allowance), be responsible for the completion of the work
identified in Exhibit G hereto (collectively, “Tenant’s Work”).  In addition, Landlord shall cause Landlord’s Base
Building Work to be substantially completed, subject to the terms of this Lease and Exhibit
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F (collectively, “Landlord’s Base Building Work”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord hereby warrants to
Tenant that, as of the Commencement Date, the roof and all structural elements of the Building, as well as all
Building Systems (including, without limitation, HVAC, mechanical, electrical, lighting, plumbing and life safety
systems) serving the Premises shall be delivered in good working order, and the Premises, the Building and
Common Areas (and paths of travel to and from the Building) shall be in compliance with applicable
Requirements (including, without limitation, applicable zoning regulations (including, for the Permitted Use),
environmental laws and ADA).

Section 3.02. Tenant Improvement Allowance.   Landlord has agreed to contribute a one-time
tenant improvement allowance (the “Tenant Improvement Allowance”) in the amount of up to $2,901,140.00
(based on a rate of $110.00/rentable square foot of the Premises) to reimburse Tenant for (a) the actual hard and
soft costs (but subject to the last sentence of this Section 3.02) of completing, constructing or installing the
Tenant’s Work to the Premises, (b) government permit fees relating to such Tenant’s Work, and (c) Tenant’s actual
costs for computer cabling, furniture, fixtures and equipment in connection with Tenant’s Work.   The Tenant
Improvement Allowance, or a portion thereof, will be disbursed by Landlord to Tenant no less frequently than
monthly (the “Monthly Draws”) within twenty (20) days (such period, the “Disbursement Date”) after Tenant
submits all of the following to Landlord: (i) a written certification from Tenant’s architect stating that the
improvements (to the extent completed during the period covered by the Monthly Draw) were completed in
accordance with the Landlord-approved plans and specifications therefor, (ii) partial lien releases from all
contractors and materialmen providing services or supplies, through the date of the pertinent Monthly Draw, in
connection with the improvements covered by such Monthly Draw, (iii) invoices or other reasonable evidence of
the costs incurred in connection with the improvements covered by the Monthly Draw, through the date of the
pertinent Monthly Draw, and (iv) a certificate of completion or certificate of occupancy (but, only with respect to
the final Monthly Draw, or sooner, if the pertinent improvements are completed sooner than the month of the final
Monthly Draw) for the Premises (if required by applicable Requirements and if necessary pursuant to such
Requirements, Landlord shall reasonably cooperate, at no expense to Landlord, with respect thereto).   If Tenant
timely submits to Landlord each of the foregoing and Landlord fails to disburse the applicable portion of the
Tenant Improvement Allowance when due and payable hereunder, then Landlord shall pay interest on the
undisbursed portion of any such due and unpaid portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance at the Default
Rate, until paid by Landlord.  If Landlord in good faith disputes any Monthly Draw request and/or asserts that the
required supporting documentation for such Monthly Draw was not duly submitted, it shall pay any undisputed
portion of the Monthly Draw and provide, in writing, to Tenant the basis for not paying the balance within the
above-referenced thirty (30) day timeframe for payment, with Tenant entitled to interest at the Default Rate
hereunder only with respect to unpaid portions of the Tenant Improvement Allowance to the extent Landlord’s
non-payment continues after same is due and payable hereunder.  Tenant shall be solely responsible for any and all
costs of designing and constructing improvements to the Premises in excess of the Tenant Improvement
Allowance.   Tenant shall have until the date which is the last day of the month in which the second (2nd)
anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs to perform work in the Premises that is reimbursed by the Tenant
Improvement Allowance.  In the event that Tenant does not use the entire Tenant Improvement Allowance on or
before second (2nd) anniversary of the Commencement Date, the unused portion of the Tenant Improvement
Allowance (up to twenty percent (20%), or $580,228.00, of the Tenant Improvement
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Allowance) shall be applied as a credit against Fixed Rent next coming due and payable under this Lease.
 Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, up to $580,228.00 (or twenty percent (20%)) of the
Tenant Improvement Allowance may be used to reimburse Tenant’s reasonable, out-of-pocket architectural and
engineering costs incurred for Tenant’s Work, pursuant to Monthly Draw requirements, accompanied with
Tenant’s relevant invoices and paid receipts.

Section 3.03. Tenant shall cause to be performed, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense (except for the
Tenant Improvement Allowance due and payable hereunder), subject to and in accordance with the provisions of
the Work Letter attached hereto as Exhibit G, any and all alterations to the Premises necessary for Tenant to
conduct its business in the Premises (collectively, the “Tenant’s Work” or “Initial Alterations”).   Subject to
Landlord’s reasonable prior approval (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed)
and Tenant’s compliance with all applicable terms, conditions and requirements of this Lease (including, without
limitation, Exhibit G hereof), Tenant may, at its election and expense, include the following items as part of
Tenant’s Work: (a) a commercially reasonable computer room in the Premises; (b) two (2) commercially
reasonable office pantries (with associated seating) in the Premises; and (c) a commercially reasonable
Supplemental HVAC system in the Premises.

Section 3.04. Tenant’s Installations.  Tenant shall cause to be installed, at Tenant’s sole cost and
expense, any and all furniture, fixtures, business equipment, cabling, wiring and technology installations in and to
the Premises necessary (in Tenant’s discretion and otherwise in accordance with the terms of this Lease) for
Tenant to conduct its business therein.

Section 3.05. If Landlord fails, after satisfaction of all required conditions under Section 3.02, to
pay all or any installment of the Tenant Improvement Allowance on or before the due date therefor, and such
failure continues for thirty (30) days after Tenant notifies Landlord of such failure and no monetary or material
non-monetary default by Tenant shall have occurred and be continuing beyond applicable notice and cure periods,
then Tenant shall have the right to deliver to Landlord a written notice (a “Second Allowance Notice”) stating that
Landlord has failed to pay all or any installment of the Tenant Improvement Allowance in accordance with
Section 3.02.   If Landlord fails to pay all or any portion of the Tenant Improvement Allowance covered by the
Second Allowance Notice within ten (10) Business Days after Tenant gives the Second Allowance Notice to
Landlord, then, subject to the provisions of this Section 3.05, Tenant shall be entitled to offset such amount against
the next installments of Rent coming due until fully paid.   Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if
Landlord disputes that Tenant is entitled to the amount covered by the Second Allowance Notice by notice given
to Tenant within such ten (10) Business Day period (which notice sets forth in reasonable detail the reason(s) for
why Landlord believes Tenant is not entitled to the disputed amount), then Tenant shall not be entitled to offset the
disputed amount unless and until Tenant obtains the determination of the Arbitrator pursuant to Article 25 that
Tenant is entitled to the disputed amount.   If Tenant obtains such determination, then Tenant may offset the
disputed amount against the next installments of Rent coming due until fully paid, together with interest thereon
from the date the disputed amount was due until the date that the disputed amount has been fully offset at the Base
Rate.   The obligations of Landlord and Tenant under the provisions of this Section 3.05 shall survive the
expiration or earlier termination of the Term.
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Section 3.06. Disputes.   Any dispute under this Article 3 shall be determined by arbitration
pursuant to Article 25 hereof initiated by either party.

ARTICLE 4
Rent

Section 4.01. Fixed and Additional Rent.  Commencing on the date which is the later to occur of
(a) the date which is twelve (12) months after the Commencement Date and (b) November 1, 2024 (the “Rent
Commencement Date”), Tenant shall pay to Landlord, without notice or demand, in lawful money of the United
States of America, at the office of Landlord or at such other place as Landlord may designate by written notice,
without any set-off, offset, abatement or deduction, except as otherwise provided herein, annual fixed rent (“Fixed
Rent”) as follows:

Lease Years/Period
     Annual Fixed

Rent Rate Per RSF
     Monthly Fixed

Rent Rate
     Annual Fixed

Rent Rate

1 $49.00 $107,693.83 $1,292,326.00
2 $50.23 $110,397.17 $1,324,766.02
3 $51.48 $113,144.46 $1,357,733.52
4 $52.77 $115,979.67 $1,391,755.98
5 $54.09 $118,880.81 $1,426,569.66
6 $55.44 $121,847.88 $1,462,174.56
7 $56.82 $124,880.89 $1,498,570.68
8 $58.25 $128,023.79 $1,536,285.50
9 $59.70 $131,210.65 $1,574,527.80

10 $61.19 $134,485.42 $1,613,825.06

payable in advance on the first day of each and every calendar month thereafter occurring during the Term, except
Tenant’s first monthly installment of Fixed Rent shall be paid in advance on Tenant’s execution of this Lease; and

(a) In addition, commencing on the Commencement Date, and continuing during the Term,
Tenant shall pay Landlord additional rent (“Additional Rent”) consisting of all other sums of money as shall
become due and payable by Tenant under this Lease (for default in the payment of which Landlord shall have the
same rights and remedies as for a default in the payment of Fixed Rent).  Unless otherwise expressly set forth in
this Lease, all items of Additional Rent shall be due and payable not later than twenty-five (25) days after receipt
of a statement therefor.  For purposes of this Lease, the term “Rent” shall mean Fixed Rent and Additional Rent.

(b) There shall be no abatement of, deduction from, counterclaim or set off against Fixed Rent
or Additional Rent except as otherwise expressly provided herein.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, as long as Tenant is not in
default of any of its Lease obligations beyond any applicable notice and cure periods, Tenant shall be entitled to a
full Fixed Rent abatement (the “Abated Rent”) for the twelve (12)-month period from the Commencement Date
through the date preceding the Rent Commencement Date (such twelve (12) month Fixed Rent abatement period,
the “Abatement
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Period”).   Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event Tenant defaults in any of its monetary or material non-
monetary Lease obligations beyond any applicable notice and cure periods at any time during the Abatement
Period, all of the previously Abated Rent shall become due and payable within ten (10) days after Landlord’s
written demand therefor and Tenant shall not be entitled to any further rent abatement during the remainder of the
Abatement Period.  Payment by Tenant of any Abated Rent in the event of such default shall not limit or affect any
Landlord’s rights, claims or remedies pursuant to the Lease or available at law or in equity, as a result of any such
default.   During the Abatement Period, only the applicable Fixed Rent specified therefor shall be abated, and
except as expressly set forth herein, all Additional Rent and other costs and charges specified in this Lease shall
remain due and payable pursuant to the provisions of this Lease.

Section 4.02. Interest.  If Tenant shall fail to pay when due any installment of Fixed Rent or any
Additional Rent more than once in any 12-month period during the Term, then Tenant shall pay interest thereon at
an annual rate of interest equal to three percent (3%) above the Base Rate (said rate or the maximum rate
permitted by applicable usury laws, if any, whichever is less, is referred to herein as the “Default Rate”) from the
date when such installment or payment shall have become due to the date of the payment thereof, and such
interest shall be deemed Additional Rent.  For purposes of this Lease, the term “Base Rate” shall mean the annual
rate of interest publicly announced from time to time by Citibank, N.A., or its successor, as its “prime lending
rate” (or such other term as may be used by Citibank, N.A., or its successor, from time to time, for the rate
presently referred to as its “prime lending rate”).

ARTICLE 5
Use

Section 5.01. Use.  Tenant shall use and occupy the Premises solely for executive, general and
administrative offices for Tenant’s business (and lawful related uses) (the “Permitted Use”) and for no other
purpose without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent shall be determined by Landlord within its
sole discretion.  Tenant shall not use or occupy or suffer or permit the use or occupancy of the Premises or any
part thereof in any manner which in Landlord’s reasonable judgment shall adversely affect or interfere with any
services required to be furnished by Landlord to Tenant or to any other tenant or occupant of any part of the
Complex, or with the proper and economical rendition of any such service or with the use or enjoyment of any
part of the Complex by any other tenant or occupant.

Section 5.02. Restrictions on Use.  Tenant’s specific manner of use or occupancy of the Premises
(as opposed to the general use of the Premises for the Permitted Use) shall not suffer or permit the Premises or any
part thereof to be used in any manner, or anything to be done therein, or suffer or permit anything to be brought
into or kept therein, which would in any way: (a) violate any applicable Requirements of any Governmental
Authority; (b) make void or voidable any insurance policy then in force with respect to the Building or the
Premises; (c) make unobtainable from reputable insurance companies authorized to do business in the State of
Connecticut at standard rates any fire insurance with extended coverage, or liability, elevator, boiler or other
insurance required to be furnished by Landlord under the terms of the Superior Mortgages or Superior Leases, if
any; (d) cause, or be likely to cause, physical damage to the Building or Complex or any part thereof (except for
permitted Alterations performed and/or installed in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Lease); (e)
constitute a public or
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private nuisance; (f) materially or unreasonably impair the appearance or reputation of the Building; (g) discharge
noxious fumes, vapors or odors into the Building’s air conditioning system or into Building’s flues or vents or
otherwise in such a manner as may unreasonably offend other occupants; (h) cause substantial or objectionable
noise or vibrations; (i) violate any of the exclusive use restrictions applicable to all or any portion of the Complex
in effect on the date hereof; (j) permit any uses of governmental agencies and/or excessively high density
businesses, such as call centers, staffing centers, or medical offices with regular patient visitations; or (k) impair
or interfere with any of the Building’s or Complex’s services or operations, including, without limitation, the
furnishing of electrical energy, or the proper and economic cleaning, air conditioning or other servicing of the
Building or the Premises or impair or interfere with the use of any of the other areas of the Building or the
Complex, or occasion material or unreasonable discomfort, annoyance or inconvenience to Landlord or any of the
other tenants or occupants of the Building or of the Complex.  The provisions of this Section, and the application
thereof, shall not be deemed to be limited in any way to or by the provisions of any other Section of this Article or
any of the Rules and Regulations referred to in Article 27 or set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto and made a part
hereof.

Section 5.03. Certificate of Occupancy.  Tenant shall not at any time use or occupy, or suffer or
permit to use or occupy the Premises in violation of the certificate of occupancy issued for the Premises or the
Building or any applicable zoning ordinances of the City and in the event that any department of the City or State
of Connecticut shall hereafter contend or declare by notice, violation, order or in any other manner whatsoever
that the Premises are used for a purpose which is a violation of such certificate of occupancy, Tenant shall
immediately notify Landlord and discontinue such use of the Premises.   Landlord represents to Tenant, to
Landlord’s actual knowledge, as of the date hereof, that Tenant’s Permitted Use of the Premises set forth in this
Lease does not violate the current certificate of occupancy for the Building, and Landlord hereby agrees not to
amend the certificate of occupancy to prevent the use of the Premises by Tenant for the Permitted Use.

Section 5.04. Floor Load.   Tenant shall not place a load upon any floor of the Premises that
exceeds the floor load per square foot that such floor was designed to carry fifty (50) pounds per square foot (live
load)) and which is allowed by certificate, rule, regulation, permit or law.   Subject to the terms of the next
preceding sentence, if Tenant wishes to place any safes, vaults or other structural reinforcements in the Premises,
it may do so at its own expense, in accordance with the provisions of Article 9 hereof.  Landlord reserves the right
to prescribe their weight and position.  Business machines and mechanical equipment in the Premises shall be
placed and maintained by Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, in such manner as shall be sufficient in Landlord’s
reasonable judgment to absorb vibration and noise and prevent annoyance or inconvenience to Landlord or to any
of the other tenants or occupants of the Building.

Section 5.05. Names.  Neither Tenant nor any occupant of the Premises shall use the name “400
Atlantic Street”, or any combination or simulation thereof, for any purpose whatsoever including, but not limited
to, or as for any corporate, firm or trade name, trademark or designation or description of merchandise or services
except that the foregoing shall not prevent the use of such name as part of Tenant’s business address.
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Section 5.06. Use of Hazardous Materials.

(a) Tenant shall not install, use, generate, store or dispose of in or about the Premises any
Hazardous Materials, except for immaterial quantities of lawful Hazardous Materials customarily used in business
office operations, provided Tenant uses such Hazardous Materials in accordance with all applicable
Environmental Laws.

(b) Landlord shall not use, generate, store or dispose of in or about the Building any Hazardous
Materials, except for immaterial quantities of Hazardous Materials customarily used in the operation or
management of office buildings, provided that such Hazardous Materials are used in accordance with all
applicable Environmental Laws.

(c) Landlord hereby represents to Tenant that, to Landlord’s actual knowledge, as of the date
hereof, that there are no Hazardous Materials in violation of applicable Environmental Laws at the Building.  If
any such Hazardous Materials in violation of applicable Environmental Laws are discovered at the Building,
Landlord shall remove, remediate and/or encapsulate same in compliance with applicable Environmental Laws,
with commercially reasonable diligence to completion, subject to Tenant Delays and conditions beyond
Landlord’s reasonable control.  To the extent that any such removal (i) requires Tenant to vacate all or a portion of
the Premises for a period of five (5) consecutive Business Days or more, then thereafter Fixed Rent and Tenant’s
obligation to pay Tenant’s Projected Share and Tenant’s Proportionate Share of any increase in Taxes shall abate
for the portion of the Premises which have thus been vacated until the earlier of completion of Landlord’s removal
work or reoccupation of such part of the Premises by Tenant or (ii) causes an actual delay in the performance of
Tenant’s Work, then the Rent Commencement Date shall be delayed on a per diem basis for each day of such
delay, provided that such delay in the Rent Commencement Date shall not accrue until Tenant has provided
written notice to Landlord of the actual delay in the performance of Tenant’s Work caused by such removal.
  Following the completion of such work, Landlord shall provide Tenant with an appropriate report from
Landlord’s environmental consultant certifying the completion of such work.

(d) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Landlord shall indemnify, defend with
counsel reasonably acceptable to Tenant, and hold harmless Tenant and shareholders, members, principals,
partners, officers, directors, managers, employees, representatives, and agents (collectively, the “Tenant Parties”)
from and against any and all Losses (as defined in Section 17.01 below), directly resulting from, or directly
attributable to the presence or removal of Hazardous Materials from all or any portion of the Complex, to the
extent such Losses are actually suffered or incurred by Tenant and/or Tenant Parties as a result of the release or
presence of Hazardous Materials in, on, at, to or under all or any portion of the Complex where (i) such release or
presence is actually caused by, or the direct result of, any negligent or intentional acts or omissions of Landlord, or
(ii) Landlord is actually compensated by a third party for the Losses suffered or incurred by Tenant (in which case
Landlord shall indemnity the Tenant Parties hereunder up to the amount of such compensation).   The
undertakings, covenants and obligations imposed under this Section 5.06 shall survive the termination or
expiration of this Lease.
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ARTICLE 6
Escalations

Section 6.01. Taxes; Cost of Operation and Maintenance.  As used herein:

(a) The term “Taxes” shall mean all real estate taxes, assessments, special or otherwise, sewer
rents, rates and charges, water rents, rates and charges, personal property taxes, or any other charge of
Governmental Authority of a similar or dissimilar nature which may be levied or assessed upon or with respect to
the portion of the Land on which the Building stands and/or the Building and all taxes or charges levied or
assessed upon or with respect to the Fixed Rent or Additional Rent or the gross receipts from the Building, or
charges levied on Landlord’s receipts from the Building which are in lieu of or a substitute for, any other tax or
assessment or charge upon or with respect to the Building.  Taxes shall also include the “Building’s Share” (as
described in paragraph (f) below) of the Taxes, if any, assessed against any real estate shared by the Complex
(such as any common landscaped terraces) with other properties.  Taxes shall not be deemed to include:

(i) franchise or similar taxes of Landlord,

(ii) income, revenue or profit taxes of Landlord,

(iii) any real estate taxes or water or sewer rents exclusively chargeable to and
reimbursable by another tenant,

(iv) excise, inheritance, estate, margin, capital stock, gift, gains, transfer, conveyance,
capital levy or other taxes not limited to real property or the revenues therefrom, as provided above, or

(v) penalties or interest on Taxes if caused solely by Landlord’s failure to submit such
Taxes on a timely basis.

(b) The term “Tax Year” shall mean the period of twelve (12) months commencing on July 1st
of each year.

(c) The term “Landlord’s Statement” shall mean an instrument containing a computation of any
Additional Rent due pursuant to the provisions of this Article, together with, if requested by Tenant in writing and
available to Landlord, reasonable back-up data, billings and other written materials sufficient to evidence the
computation of such Additional Rent.

(d) The term “Base Taxes” shall mean the Taxes for the fiscal tax year commencing on July 1,
2023 and ending on June 30, 2024 (the “Tax Base Year”).

(e) The term “Tenant’s Proportionate Share” shall be 5.37%.

(f) The term “Building’s Share” shall be 100%.

(g) Subject to the provisions of Section 6.08 hereof, the term “Cost of Operation and
Maintenance” shall mean any and all actual costs incurred by Landlord with respect to the
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operation, maintenance, replacement and repair of the Building and the improvements thereto and the Building
Common Areas, including, without limitation, the cost incurred for air conditioning; mechanical ventilation;
heating; cleaning of the Building; rubbish removal; window washing (interior and exterior, including inside
partitions); repair and maintenance of the elevators; porter and matron service; metered or unmetered (if or to the
extent not separately metered and paid directly by tenants for tenant space in the Complex) cost of electric current,
oil and gas used throughout the Building Common Areas; steam; protection and security service; utility
consultant’s fees; repairs; maintenance; fire, extended coverage, boiler, sprinkler, apparatus, public liability and
property damage insurance; supplies, wages, salaries, disability benefits, pensions, hospitalization, retirement
plans and group insurance respecting service and maintenance employees; uniforms and working clothes for such
employees and the cleaning thereof; expenses imposed pursuant to any collective bargaining agreement with
respect to such employees; payroll, social security, unemployment and other similar taxes with respect to such
employees’ sales, use and other similar taxes; water rates; structural and/or capital repairs, improvements,
alterations, additions or replacements (i) incurred or performed for the purpose of reducing or stabilizing Cost of
Operation and Maintenance, or (ii) which are necessary to comply with applicable Requirements or insurance
rating standards or recommendations enacted after the date hereof, to the extent such repairs, improvements,
alterations, additions or replacements are capitalized under generally accepted accounting principles (provided
that only the annual amortization of any such expenditure shall be included in the Cost of Operation and
Maintenance or Complex Operating Expenses, as applicable (such amortization to be calculated on a straight-line
basis over the useful life thereof, as reasonably determined by Landlord in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, together with interest at the Base Rate plus three percent (3%)); all materials, supplies and
equipment, purchased or hired therefor; replacement of tools and machinery and equipment which are not capital
expenses; maintenance and repairs in and to Building Systems; repairing all rooftops, facades and foundations and
all parts thereof (but excluding any such repairs that would be considered capital expenditures under generally
accepted accounting principles, in which case same would be subject to the other terms and conditions of this
Article 6); painting, whether decorative or otherwise; removal of snow, ice, trash, garbage or other refuse;
extermination; sewer rents and competitive management fees not to exceed prevailing management fees then
charged at comparable first-class office complexes located in the City, based on fully-occupied properties.  The
Cost of Operation and Maintenance shall also include the “Building’s Share” of the Complex Operating Expenses
(hereinafter defined).

(h) The term “Complex Operating Expenses” shall include, but not be limited to, all costs and
expenses incurred by Landlord with respect to the operation, maintenance, replacement and repair of the Complex
Common Areas, including the Complex Garages, and the property manager’s office for the Complex including,
without limitation, the following: maintenance and repair of grounds; all materials, supplies and equipment,
purchased or hired therefor; service contracts for any of the foregoing; removal of snow, ice, trash, garbage and
other refuse; all oil or gas used in connection with heating the Complex Garages; all electricity consumed by
reason of the operation of the Complex Garages; the cost of lighting exterior Complex Common Areas; the cost of
personnel engaged in the operation, maintenance or repair of the Complex Common Areas, including the Complex
Garages, including all wages, salaries, disability benefits, pensions, hospitalization, retirement plans and group
insurance(including the property manager’s telephone charges pertaining to the operation of the Complex and
Complex Common Areas); the property manager’s office utilities; all taxes, charges and assessments levied or
assessed against
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the personal property of Landlord used in the operation of the Complex Common Areas, including the Complex
Garages; all insurance carried by Landlord applicable to Complex Common Areas, including the Complex
Garages (including, without limitation, liability insurance for Complex Common Areas, including the Complex
Garages and extended coverage replacement cost property damage insurance); Complex Garage and Complex
management fees (to the extent same do not include Building management fees otherwise charged to and paid for
by Tenant); reasonable legal fees and accounting fees; taxes (including, without limitation, sales and use taxes);
structural and/or capital repairs, improvements, alterations, additions or replacements (i) incurred or performed for
the purpose of reducing or stabilizing Complex Operating Expenses, or (ii) which are necessary to comply with
Requirements or insurance rating standards or recommendations enacted after the date hereof, to the extent such
repairs, improvements, alterations, additions or replacements are capitalized under generally accepted accounting
principles (provided that only the annual amortization of any such expenditure shall be included in Complex
Operating Expenses, as applicable (such amortization to be calculated on a straight-line basis over the useful life
thereof, as reasonably determined by Landlord in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
together with interest at the Base Rate plus three percent (3%)); energy; and any systems, measures, procedures
and personnel which Landlord may provide to control access to Complex Common Areas; and any other
reasonable costs and expenses in connection with the operation, maintenance and repair of the Complex Common
Areas; line painting; repaving; traffic systems, and traffic personnel; the costs of maintaining and repairing all
private roads forming a part of the Complex and used for access through the Complex and Complex Garages
and/or to and from the Building.  Costs and expenses incurred in connection with the operation, maintenance and
repair of Complex Common Areas, including the Complex Garages shall be included in Complex Operating
Expenses notwithstanding the fact that Tenant or other Complex tenants may have the controlled or designated use
of portions of same.

Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, there shall be excluded from the Cost of Operation and
Maintenance and from Complex Operating Expenses the following:

(i) Taxes;

(ii) debt service on mortgages, deeds of trust or other encumbrances upon the Complex
or any part thereof and all interest on and amortization or depreciation of any other debts of Landlord;

(iii) any cost or expense for which Landlord is reimbursed or otherwise compensated
through insurance or condemnation awards (to the extent such insurance proceeds or condemnation awards are
actually received by Landlord, with Landlord being obligated to use commercially reasonable, good faith efforts
to collect such insurance proceeds or condemnation awards), or is otherwise compensated or reimbursed by any
tenant (including Tenant) of the Complex, under a warranty or from any other source, other than through an
operating expense provision such as the one contained in this Article 6;

(iv) salaries and other compensation (such as benefits and other expenses for employees
of Landlord or Landlord’s affiliates) of personnel above the grade of manager of the Complex;
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(v) any fee or expenditure paid to any person or entity which shall Control, be under the
Control of, or be under common Control with Landlord, in each case in excess of the amount which would be paid
in the absence of such relationship;

(vi) the cost of any other tenant improvement work in any space leased to an existing
tenant or prospective tenant of the Building (including installations and other tenant improvements for tenants
(including Tenant)) and all costs of obtaining new tenants or extending or renegotiating leases with existing
tenants, including without limitation, brokerage commissions and other professional fees, including, without
limitation, any legal, architectural and engineering fees, and relocation costs;

(vii) depreciation and amortization;

(viii) rent paid under Superior Leases (other than in the nature of rent consisting of taxes
or operating expenses or other “pass-through” escalations as permitted herein);

(ix) leasing commissions, advertising, promotion costs and other fees and expenses,
including, without limitation, legal fees, relating to procuring tenants to rent space in the Complex and lease
takeover costs;

(x) Landlord’s advertising and promotional costs;

(xi) legal fees and arbitration expenses, together with other similar professional fees,
incurred in connection with any Superior Lease, Superior Mortgage, or procuring or leasing to other tenants in the
Building or Complex;

(xii) franchise, income, gains, estate, inheritance, transfer, margin, conveyance,
corporate, unincorporated business, succession, gift, capital stock, mortgage recording or other taxes imposed
upon Landlord except that the amount of occupancy, rent or other similar tax attributable to the offices of the
management for the Complex shall be includible in the Cost of Operation and Maintenance;

(xiii) to the extent any costs that are otherwise includible in the Cost of Operation and
Maintenance are incurred with respect to both the Complex and other properties (including, without limitation,
salaries, fringe benefits and other compensation of Landlord’s personnel who provide services to both the
Complex and such other properties), there shall be excluded from the cost of Operation and Maintenance and
Complex Operating Expenses a fair and reasonable percentage thereof that is properly allocable to such other
properties;

(xiv) any increased insurance costs reimbursed directly to Landlord by a tenant,
including, without limitation, Tenant, pursuant to their respective leases;

(xv) any interest, late charge or penalties incurred or payable by Landlord or any increase
in insurance premium resulting from Landlord’s violation of any Requirements or insurance requirement;

(xvi) all costs and expenses, and taxes and impositions, whatsoever, incurred in
connection with a sale or transfer, financing or refinancing, of all or any portion of the
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Land and/or Building, and/or the Complex, or any interest therein or in any party of whatever tier owning an
interest therein;

(xvii) all costs and expenses (including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees and overtime
pay) incurred in curing a default by Landlord under this Lease or any other lease at the Complex;

(xviii) the cost of performing special or exclusive services for any particular tenant
(including Tenant) to the extent that such services exceed those provided or available to other tenants in the
Complex;

(xix) the cost of Landlord’s Base Building Work;

(xx) charitable or political contributions;

(xxi) expenses incurred by Landlord to resolve disputes, enforce or negotiate lease terms
with prospective or existing tenants or in connection with any financing, sale or syndication of the Property;

(xxii) cost of alterations, capital improvements, equipment replacement and other items
which under generally accepted accounting principles are properly classified as capital expenditures, except those
expressly permitted to be included under either Section 6.01(g) or (h) above;

(xxiii) cost of repairs necessitated by Landlord’s negligence or willful misconduct, or of
correcting any latent defects or original design defects in the Building construction, materials, or equipment;

(xxiv) a property management fee for the Complex in excess of three percent (3%) of the
gross rents of the Complex exclusive of taxes, utilities, capital expenditures, tenant reimbursements and ancillary
income from other tenants (e.g., income from antennae or satellite dishes, paid parking, security deposits and
interest thereon, etc.) applicable to the Complex for the relevant calendar year, based on a fully-occupied property;

(xxv) Landlord’s general corporate overhead and administrative expenses except if it is
solely for the Building;

(xxvi) business interruption insurance or rental value insurance;

(xxvii) expenses incurred by Landlord in order to comply with Requirements and
environmental obligations hereunder, including, without limitation, removal, remediation or other handling of
Hazardous Materials, compliance with or certification under so-called “green” initiatives and/or emissions
reduction efforts or requirements;

(xxviii)reserves;

(xxix) any additional operating expenses incurred by Landlord relative to any declaration
of covenants or restrictions to which the Complex or Land may be subject; and
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(xxx) the operating expenses incurred by Landlord relative to retail stores and hotels in the
Complex.

(xxxi) “Operational Year” shall mean each calendar year after the calendar year 2024 (such
2024 calendar year, the “Operational Base Year”).

(i) “Tenant’s Projected Share” shall mean Tenant’s Proportionate Share multiplied by
Landlord’s written estimate of the reasonable increase of Cost of Operation and Maintenance for the ensuing
calendar year over the Base Expenses (as hereinafter defined), said written estimate to be delivered by Landlord to
Tenant during December of each year.   Tenant’s Projected Share shall be divided by twelve (12) and shall be
payable on the first of each month, starting January 1 of the ensuing year, by Tenant to Landlord as Additional
Rent.

(j) The term “Base Expenses” shall mean the Cost of Operation and Maintenance for the
Operational Base Year (i.e., the calendar year 2024).

Section 6.02. Tax Increases; Contest.

(a) (i) Commencing on the first (1st) anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, if
Taxes payable by Landlord in any Tax Year, falling wholly or partially within the Term shall be greater than the
Base Taxes, Tenant shall pay as Additional Rent for such Tax Year a sum equal to Tenant’s Proportionate Share of
the amount by which the Taxes for such Tax Year (or portion thereof) exceed the Base Taxes.   Promptly after
receipt of a tax bill, Landlord shall submit to Tenant a copy of a bill issued by the City or other applicable
Governmental Authority for Taxes, together with Landlord’s Statement consistent with the proportionate share
allocation provided herein, and Tenant shall pay the Additional Rent set forth on such Statement within twenty-
five (25) days after the date of receipt of such Statement by Landlord.

(i) The foregoing notwithstanding, in the event a Mortgagee (hereinafter defined) of
Landlord shall require Taxes be paid in monthly installments, then Landlord shall render to Tenant a Landlord’s
Statement or Statements showing (i) a comparison and/or good faith estimate of the Taxes for the Tax Year with
the Base Taxes, and (ii) the amount of Tenant’s payment for the Taxes (“Tax Payment”) resulting from such
comparison and/or good faith estimate.   On the first day of the month following the furnishing to Tenant of a
Landlord’s Statement or estimate, Tenant shall pay to Landlord a sum equal to 1/12th of the Tax Payment shown
thereon to be due for such Tax Year multiplied by the number of months of the Term then elapsed since the
commencement of such Tax Year.  Tenant shall continue to pay to Landlord a sum equal to one-twelfth (1/12th) of
the Tax Payment shown on such Statement or estimate on the first day of each succeeding month until the first day
of the month following the month in which Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a new Landlord’s Statement or
estimate.   If Landlord furnishes a Landlord’s Statement for a new Tax Year subsequent to the commencement
thereof, promptly after the new Landlord’s Statement is furnished to Tenant, Landlord shall give notice to Tenant
stating whether the amount previously paid by Tenant to Landlord for the current Tax Year was greater or less than
the installments of the Tax Payment for the current tax year in accordance with the Landlord’s Statement, and (a)
if there shall be a deficiency, Tenant shall pay the amount thereof within twenty-five (25) days after demand
therefor, or (b) if there shall have been an overpayment, Landlord shall credit the amount thereof against the next
monthly installments of the Additional
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Rent payable under this Lease (or refund to Tenant within thirty (30) days after the Expiration Date). Tax
Payments shall be collectible by Landlord in the same manner as Fixed Rent. Landlord’s failure to render a Tax
Statement shall not prejudice Landlord’s right to render a Landlord’s Statement during or with respect to any
subsequent Tax Year, and shall not eliminate or reduce Tenant’s obligation to make Tax Payments for such Tax
Year.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, failure of Landlord to bill Tenant for any Tax Payment within twenty-four
(24) months after the end of the Tax Year in which the same are due shall be deemed a waiver of Landlord to
collect such Tax Payment from Tenant.

(ii) If as a result of any application or proceeding brought by or on behalf of Landlord,
the Base Taxes actually paid by Landlord shall be decreased, Landlord’s Statement next following such decrease
shall include any adjustment for prior Tax Years reflecting such decrease in the Base Taxes (less Tenant’s
Proportionate Share of all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses, including counsel fees, incurred by
Landlord in connection with such application or proceeding).  After the Term, any such net adjustment in favor of
Tenant shall be paid to Tenant withing thirty (30) days after such determination by the taxing authority.  If, as a
result of any application or proceeding brought by or on behalf of Landlord for review of the assessed valuation of
the Land or Building for any fiscal year, there shall be a decrease in the Taxes actually paid by Landlord for any
Tax Year with respect to which Landlord shall have previously rendered a Landlord’s Statement and Tenant shall
have paid Additional Rent hereunder, then Landlord’s Statement next following such decrease shall include an
adjustment applicable to prior Tax Years.   If Landlord receives a rebate of past Taxes overpaid, Tenant shall
receive Tenant’s Proportionate Share of the net rebate for the period during which Tenant paid Additional Rent on
account of said Taxes (less Tenant’s Proportionate Share of all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses,
including counsel fees, incurred by Landlord in connection with such application or proceeding).   If Landlord
receives a credit against future Taxes, that net credit shall be reflected in subsequent Additional Rent payments
Tenant is required to make on account of such Taxes; provided with respect to any or all of the foregoing
adjustments or credits benefitting Tenant, that Tenant is not in default hereunder beyond applicable notice and
cure periods.   If this Lease shall terminate prior to recoupment of the entire net credit due to Tenant, Landlord
shall continue to make payments to Tenant as and to the extent that Landlord receives credits against future Taxes
until such time as Tenant’s credit is paid in full.

(b) Any payments of Additional Rent or refunds due to Tenant hereunder for any period of less
than a full Lease Year or any adjustment required due to the change in the rentable area of the Premises, shall be
equitably prorated to reflect any such event.

(c) Following the expiration of this Lease in accordance with the provisions hereof (and
provided Tenant is not in default hereunder beyond applicable notice and cure periods), any overpayments by
Tenant of any Tax Payment known to Landlord shall be refunded to Tenant within thirty (30) days of such Lease
expiration.

(d) Intentionally omitted.

Section 6.03. Operating Expense Increases.
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(a) Commencing on the first day of the month after which the first anniversary of the Rent
Commencement Date occurs, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, Tenant’s Projected Share, as set
forth in Section 6.01(j) hereof.  After the expiration of each Operational Year, Landlord shall furnish Tenant a
written statement (in commercially reasonable detail) prepared by Landlord’s chief financial officer or Landlord’s
independent certified public accountant (in accordance with sound commercial real estate management practices
consistently applied in good faith), setting forth the Cost of Operation and Maintenance incurred for such
Operational Year.  Within twenty-five (25) days after receipt of such statement for any Operational Year setting
forth Tenant’s Proportionate Share of any increase of Cost of Operation and Maintenance during such Operational
Year over the amount of the Base Expenses (said increase being referred to herein as the “Cost Increase”), Tenant
shall pay same (less the amount of Tenant’s Projected Share paid by Tenant on account thereof) to Landlord as
Additional Rent.

(b) If Landlord’s Statement at the end of the then Operational Year shall indicate that Tenant’s
Projected Share exceeded Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Cost Increase, Landlord shall permit Tenant to credit
the amount of such excess against the subsequent payment(s) of Additional Rent due hereunder.   If Landlord’s
Statement shall indicate that Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Cost Increase exceeded Tenant’s Projected Share for
the then Operational Year, Tenant shall, within twenty-five (25) days after demand therefor, pay the amount of
such excess to Landlord.   If said Landlord’s Statement is furnished to Tenant after the commencement of such
Operational Year, there shall be promptly paid by Tenant to Landlord or vice versa, as the case may be, an amount
equal to the portion of such payment or credit allocable to the part of such Operational Year which shall have
elapsed prior to the first day of the calendar month next succeeding the calendar month in which said Landlord’s
Statement is furnished to Tenant.

(c) Following the expiration of this Lease in accordance with the provisions hereof (and
provided Tenant is not in default hereunder beyond applicable notice and cure periods), any overpayments by
Tenant of any Additional Rent shall be refunded to Tenant within thirty (30) days of such Lease expiration.

Section 6.04. Apportionment.   Additional Rent for the Lease Year in which the Rent
Commencement Date or the Expiration Date shall occur shall be apportioned in that percentage which the number
of days in the period from January 1st of such Lease Year to such date of expiration, both inclusive, shall bear to
the total number of days in the calendar year in which such expiration occurs.

Section 6.05. Landlord’s Statement; Dispute.

(a) Landlord’s failure to render Landlord’s Statement with respect to any Operational Year or
Tax Year or Landlord’s delay in rendering said Statement shall not prejudice Landlord’s right to render a
Landlord’s Statement with respect to that Year or any subsequent Operational Year or Tax Year, except that
notwithstanding the foregoing, failure of Landlord to bill Tenant for the Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Cost
Increase within twenty-four (24) months after the end of the calendar year in which the same are due shall be
deemed a waiver of Landlord to collect such Tenant’s Proportionate Share of Cost Increase from Tenant.  The
obligations of Landlord and Tenant under the provisions of this Article shall survive the expiration or earlier
termination of the Term except as expressly provided for herein.
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(b) Each Landlord’s Statement shall be conclusive and binding upon Tenant unless within sixty
(60) days after receipt of such Landlord’s Statement Tenant shall notify Landlord that it disputes the correctness of
Landlord’s Statement, specifying the respects in which Landlord’s Statement is claimed to be incorrect.  Pending
the determination of such dispute as hereinafter provided, Tenant shall timely pay Additional Rent in accordance
with the applicable Landlord’s Statement, and such payment shall be without prejudice to Tenant’s position.  In
the event Tenant disputes Landlord’s Statement, Tenant may use, solely on a confidential basis pursuant to a
confidentiality agreement in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Landlord and Tenant, Tenant’s own
independent certified public accountant to reasonably inspect Landlord’s records of the material reflected on said
Statement, which records shall be maintained in Fairfield County, Westchester County, or Manhattan (and which
shall be made available on a confidential basis to Tenant and its certified public accountant and attorneys within a
reasonable amount of time after written request by Tenant but not to exceed thirty (30) days); and in the event said
independent certified public accountant determines that Landlord’s Statement was in error, the dispute shall be
referred to binding arbitration as provided in Article 25 hereof.   If the dispute shall be determined in Tenant’s
favor, Tenant shall be entitled to a one-time credit (or prompt payment if the Term has expired) against Additional
Rent thereafter payable in the amount of Tenant’s overpayment of Additional Rent resulting from compliance with
Landlord’s Statement.   If the arbitrator determines that the amount overcharged to Tenant exceeded the actual,
total annual expenses by more than five percent (5%), then Landlord shall reimburse Tenant for its reasonable,
out-of-pocket expenses incurred (including its independent certified public accountant) in connection with
Tenant’s audit and the arbitration.  If the arbitration determines such overcharges do not exceed such five percent
(5%) threshold, Tenant shall be solely responsible for all costs incurred by Landlord and/or Tenant in connection
with such audit and arbitration.

Section 6.06. Refunds.   Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, in no event
shall the aggregate amount of the refunds allowable to Tenant in any Operational Year pursuant to this Article 6
exceed the Additional Rent payable by Tenant pursuant to this Article 6 for such Operational Year, it being the
intention of Landlord and Tenant that the Fixed Rent payable by Tenant hereunder shall not be reduced by reason
of any decrease in the Taxes or Cost of Maintenance and Operation or Complex Operating Expenses; however,
any portion of the aggregate refunds to Tenant not allowed in any Operating Year due to this Section 6.06 shall be
carried forward and used to offset Additional Rent payable by Tenant in each subsequent Operating Year in the
same manner as described in this Section 6.06 until such credits have been exhausted.

Section 6.07. Remedies.  Any Additional Rent payable pursuant to Article 6 or elsewhere in this
Lease shall be collectible by Landlord in the same manner as Fixed Rent and Landlord shall have the same rights
and remedies for nonpayment thereof as Landlord has hereunder for non-payment of Fixed Rent.

Section 6.08. Gross-Up.  In determining the amount of the Cost of Operation and Maintenance for
the Operational Base Year and any Operational Year, if less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Building
rentable area shall have been occupied by tenant(s) at any time during the Operational Base Year or any such
Operational Year, the Costs of Operation and Maintenance which vary based upon occupancy levels in the
Building shall be determined for the Operational Base Year or such Operational Year to be an amount equal to the
like expenses which
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would normally be expected to be incurred if one hundred percent (100%) of such areas had been occupied
throughout such Operational Base Year or Operational Year.   If less than one hundred percent (100%) of the
rentable area of the Complex shall have been occupied by tenant(s) at any time during any Operational Year,
Complex Operating Expenses which vary based upon occupancy levels in the Complex shall be similarly grossed
up.  For purposes of computing the Base Taxes or Taxes for subsequent Tax Years, if the Building or Complex is
not fully assessed for real estate tax purposes as a completed Building or Complex at any time during the Tax
Base Year or subsequent Tax Years, then the Taxes shall be increased to reflect what such costs would have been if
they had been calculated on the basis of a fully assessed Building and Complex having a full assessment of Taxes
for the entire Tax Base Year or subsequent Tax Years.

Section 6.09. Adjustments for Changes in Complex.   Notwithstanding anything to  the contrary
contained in this Lease, Landlord may elect to separate or split portions of the Building and/or Complex into
distinct ownership, condominium or operating structures.  To the extent such separate structure occurs, Tenant’s
Additional Rent charges under this Article 6 thereafter shall be equitably adjusted (without duplicative payments
by Tenant) to reasonably reflect the percentage ratios of the then applicable rentable areas of the Premises, the
Building and the Complex, based on such applicable structure.   In such event, Tenant’s Proportionate Share,
Tenant’s Projected Share, and the Building’s Share shall thereupon be equitably adjusted based on such new
rentable areas, and Tenant shall pay its Additional Rent pursuant to Landlord’s revised statements without
prejudice to Tenant’s position; however, any disputes between Landlord and Tenant in connection therewith that
are not resolved in writing within sixty (60) days following notice of such dispute shall be resolved by binding
arbitration pursuant to Article 25 hereof.

ARTICLE 7
Insurance

Section 7.01. Prohibited Acts; Compliance.

(a) Tenant shall not do anything, or suffer or permit anything to be done in or about the
Premises, Land or Building by reason of any activity being conducted in the Premises which shall (i) subject
Landlord to any liability or responsibility for injury to any person or property, (ii) cause any increase in the fire
insurance rates applicable to the Building or equipment or other property located therein, or (iii) be prohibited by
any license or other permit required or obtained pursuant to Section 5.03, including the certificate of occupancy
for the Building.  Landlord acknowledges that the Permitted Use (as opposed to Tenant’s particular manner of use
of the Premises) will not cause any of the foregoing to occur.

(b) Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall comply with all rules, regulations or requirements of the
Connecticut Board of Fire Underwriters and the Connecticut Fire Insurance Rating Organization or any similar
body with respect to Tenant’s particular manner of use of the Premises, provided that such compliance does not
require structural changes to the Premises or capital expenditures by Tenant unless such changes are necessitated
or occasioned by Tenant’s particular manner of use of the Premises, including, but not limited to, Tenant’s
Alterations.

Section 7.02. Rate Increases.   If by reason of any act, omission or negligence on the part of
Tenant, the rate of fire insurance with extended coverage on the Building or equipment
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or other property of Landlord shall be higher than it otherwise would be, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord on
demand, for that part of the premiums for fire insurance and extended coverage paid by Landlord due to such act,
omission or negligence on the part of Tenant.  Landlord acknowledges that the Permitted Use will not cause any
of Landlord’s insurance premiums to increase.

Section 7.03. Tenant’s Insurance Requirements.   Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall
maintain during the Term:

(a) Commercial general liability insurance (occurrence form), with a contractual liability
endorsement covering Tenant’s indemnity obligations under this Lease, and with each location limits of not less
than $1,000,000.00 per occurrence/ $2,000,000.00 aggregate per location, combined single limit for personal
injury, bodily injury or death, or property damage or destruction (including loss of use thereof) per occurrence;

(b) Workers’ compensation insurance as required by applicable Requirements, and employer’s
liability insurance in the amount of at least $1,000,000.00 each accident, each employee for disease, policy limit
for disease;

(c) Automobile liability insurance including non-owned & hired auto coverage with a limit of
$1,000,000.00 per occurrence;

(d) Umbrella/excess liability insurance with limits of $5,000,000.00 per occurrence and annual
aggregate per location;

(e) Special causes of loss property insurance (formerly known as “All-Risk” insurance
coverage) covering Tenant’s Property, furniture and fixtures, machinery and equipment, improvements and
betterments and all Tenant’s Alterations, with no water damage exclusion.  Coverage shall also include business
interruption insurance (including business income and extra expense).

(f) All insurance required under this Section 7.03 shall be provided by responsible state
licensed and admitted insurers rated at least “A X” in the current edition of A.M. Best’s Reports Insurance Guide
or its successor(s).   Tenant’s property damage insurance shall include full replacement cost coverage and the
amount shall satisfy any co-insurance requirements under the applicable policy.   Tenant’s insurance shall be
primary, and any insurance maintained by Landlord or any other additional insureds hereunder shall be excess and
noncontributory.   All such liability insurance policies listed in this Section 7.03 shall name the Landlord,
Managing Agent, George Comfort & Sons, Inc. and Comfort Maintenance Corp. and their respective members,
partners, subsidiaries and affiliates, and its/their respective directors, officers, agents, servants, and employees, as
additional insureds, with respect to this Lease.  Tenant shall also include any other parties reasonably requested in
writing by Landlord from time to time as additional insureds, including, without limitation, Landlord’s
Mortgagee(s).

(g) Tenant shall obtain such other insurance and/or coverages and amounts as may from time to
time be reasonably required by Landlord against other insurable hazards which at the time are commonly insured
against, or resulting from a change in local practice in the case of comparable office buildings and/or in the case of
premises similarly situated, due regard being given to the type of building, its location, construction, use and
occupancy.
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(h) These insurance requirements shall apply to any contractors, subcontractors and/or vendors
entering the Premises on the Tenant’s behalf.  In the event any such contractors, subcontractors and/or vendors fail
to meet these insurance requirements, Tenant shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, indemnify, defend and
hold harmless Landlord, George Comfort & Sons, Inc., Comfort Maintenance Corp., and any of their respective
partners, subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively, “indemnitees”), for any third party claims arising out of the
activities of the contractors, subcontractors, and/or vendors while on the insured Premises, except to the extent
caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of the indemnitees.

Section 7.04. Certificates, Subrogation and Other Matters.   Tenant shall provide Landlord with
evidence of the insurance coverages described in Section 7.03 above in the form of  certificate of liability
insurance.   Tenant shall provide such certificates prior to the Commencement Date or Tenant’s access to or
possession of the Premises or construction of improvements therein (whichever first occurs).   Tenant shall
maintain at all times throughout the Term and any extensions thereof, all insurance required of Tenant under this
Article 7.  Tenant shall provide renewal certificates to Landlord at least thirty (30) days prior to expiration of such
policies.  Tenant shall provide notice to Landlord promptly upon receipt of any notice received by Tenant from its
insurance carrier advising of non-renewal or cancelation of the policies required under this Lease, but Tenant’s
failure to do so shall not be a default under this Lease.  The parties mutually hereby waive all rights and claims
against each other for all losses covered by their respective insurance policies, and waive all rights of subrogation
of their respective insurers.   The parties agree that their respective insurance policies are now, or shall be,
endorsed so that such waivers of subrogation shall not affect their respective rights to recover thereunder.

Section 7.05. Waiver of Claims.   Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Lease, except for claims arising from each party’s negligent acts or omissions that are not covered by the other
party’s insurance, Landlord and Tenant each waives all claims against the other party for injury or death to
persons, damage to property or to any other interest of such waiving party sustained by such waiving party or any
party claiming through the waiving party resulting from any occurrence in or upon the Complex.  To the extent
that each party is required to or does carry insurance hereunder, Landlord and Tenant each agrees that its property
loss risks shall be borne by its own insurance, and agrees to look solely to and seek recovery only from its
insurance carriers in the event of such losses.   For purposes hereof, any deductible amount shall be treated as
though it were recoverable under such policies.

Section 7.06. Landlord’s Insurance Requirements.   Landlord shall obtain and keep in full force
and effect insurance against loss or damage by fire and other casualty to the Building, excluding Tenant’s
Alterations, as may be insurable under then available standard forms of property insurance policies, in a
commercially reasonable amount which shall include full replacement cost (as reasonably determined by
Landlord) (including an “agreed amount” endorsement), sufficient to avoid co-insurance.   In addition, Landlord
shall maintain at all times during the Term commercial general liability insurance coverage in amounts not less
than $3,000,000.00.  Tenant shall reasonably cooperate with Landlord and Landlord’s insurance companies in the
adjustment of any claims for any damage to the Building.
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ARTICLE 8
Compliance with Laws

Section 8.01. Tenant’s Compliance Obligations.  Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall,
with respect to its particular manner of use of (as opposed to the Permitted Use) or Alterations to the Premises
(and the particular manner of use of or Alterations to the Premises involving any parties claiming by, under or
through Tenant) cause the Premises to be in compliance with all Requirements at any time duly issued or in force
with respect to the Building and the Complex Common Areas, including without limitation, those applicable to the
making of any Alterations therein or the result of the making thereof and those Requirements applicable by reason
of the nature or type of business operated by Tenant in the Premises.  The foregoing notwithstanding, Tenant shall
not perform any structural changes, repairs or Alterations to the Premises, Building (including the Building
Systems), or the Complex required pursuant to any Requirements as set forth above, but rather Landlord shall
perform any such work and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the reasonable costs thereof, as Additional Rent,
within twenty-five (25) days after written demand, if such structural changes, repairs, or Alterations are
necessitated or occasioned by Tenant’s particular manner of use of the Premises (as opposed to being necessitated
or occasioned merely because the Permitted Use of the Premises is the one specified in Section 5.01) or by
Tenant’s Alterations.

Section 8.02. Landlord’s Compliance Obligations.   Landlord, at Landlord’s cost and expense
(subject to recoupment as provided for in Article 6 hereof, if permitted), shall comply with all Requirements
applicable to the Premises (which are not Tenant’s obligation as set forth in Section 8.01 above) and those portions
of the Complex over which Landlord has exclusive control (subject to Landlord’s right of contest the applicability
or legality thereof), including, without limitation, the Building Systems and the exterior and structural portions of
the Building; provided, the foregoing covenant shall not apply to Requirements with respect to which Tenant or
other occupants of the Building shall be required to comply.

ARTICLE 9
Alterations; Improvements

Section 9.01. Restrictions.

(a) Except as hereinafter provided, Tenant shall make no changes or Alterations in or to the
Premises of any nature without reasonable prior written notice to Landlord, and without Landlord’s prior written
consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, unless the changes or
Alterations are of the type described in Section 9.04(e) with respect to which Landlord may withhold its consent
in its sole discretion.   Subject to the provisions and limitations of this Article 9, Tenant, at Tenant’s expense,
without Landlord’s prior consent, may make Alterations which are non-structural and which are located in or to
the interior of the Premises, provided that such Alterations do not violate the following restrictions (the
“Alteration Restrictions”): such Alterations do not (i) other than to a de minimis extent, affect any structural
portions of the Building, or any Building Systems, or any utility services or plumbing and electrical lines outside
of the Premises; (ii) adversely affect the appearance, value or utility of the Building; or (iii) require the issuance of
a building permit.  Tenant shall use contractors and/or subcontractors who are first approved by Landlord (other
than in the case of painters and carpet installers;
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provided, Landlord is notified of the pending work and the identity of such painting or carpeting contractors),
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and who are licensed to do business
in the State of Connecticut.   Landlord approves the following contractors: Blackwell, C+F, Crate, Andron
Construction, AP Construction, Signature Construction, Magna Construction, Olympic Construction and Pavarini.

(b) All fixtures (other than Tenant’s Property) installed in the Premises at any time, either by
Tenant or by Landlord on Tenant’s behalf, shall become the property of Landlord and shall remain upon and be
surrendered with the Premises.  Upon the Expiration Date, (i) all Tenant’s Property and (ii) Specialty Alterations
(as hereinafter defined) designated by Landlord for such removal at the time Landlord issues its consent to the
construction thereof, shall be removed from the Premises by Tenant; provided that in no event shall Tenant be
required to remove the improvements in the Premises existing as of the date of this Lease of, Tenant’s Work (other
than any Specialty Alterations), or any of Landlord’s Base Building Work, including, without limitation, any data,
telephone or other wiring or cabling.  Nothing in this Section shall be construed to prevent Tenant’s removal of
Tenant’s Property, but upon removal of any of Tenant’s Property from the Premises or upon removal of other
installations as may be required or permitted by Landlord, Tenant shall immediately, and at its expense, repair and
restore the Premises to the condition existing prior to installation, reasonable wear and tear and damage from
casualty excepted, and repair any damage to the Premises or the Building due to such removal.   All Tenant’s
Property left in the Premises after expiration or termination of this Lease and unclaimed by Tenant ten (10) days
after notice of same by Landlord to Tenant (unless the Premises are sooner being occupied by a third party tenant)
may be removed from the Premises and may be stored by Landlord at Tenant’s expense, which costs will be
repaid to Landlord on demand together with interest thereon at the Default Rate, or Landlord may dispose of said
property at Tenant’s cost and expense.  Tenant’s obligations under this Section 9.01(b) shall survive the Term.

(c) For purposes of this Lease, the term “Specialty Alterations” shall mean any and all
alterations installed by or on behalf of Tenant after the date hereof (and not part of Landlord’s Base Building
Work) which are not standard, typical and customary for a standard office occupancy as determined by Landlord
in its sole but reasonable, good faith judgment, including, without limitation, any such alterations which are part
of Tenant’s Alterations, any executive bathrooms, raised computer floors, vaults, internal staircases, office
kitchenettes (not customary office pantries), dumbwaiters, pneumatic tubes, rooftop equipment or installations,
vertical and horizontal transportation systems and/or internal stairways, any structural Alteration which is made to
accommodate additional floor loads, and generator or UPS equipment.  Specialty Alterations shall not include any
commercially reasonable computer/IT rooms or any supplemental HVAC installed in accordance with the terms
and conditions of this Lease.

Section 9.02. Permits; Mechanic’s Liens.  Tenant shall, before making any Tenant’s Alterations,
additions, installations or improvements, at its expense, obtain all permits, approvals and certificates required by
any governmental or quasi-governmental bodies and (upon completion) certificates of final approval thereof and
shall deliver promptly duplicates of all such permits, approvals and certificates to Landlord, and Tenant agrees to
carry and will cause Tenant’s contractors and subcontractors to carry such workmen’s compensation, commercial
general liability, personal and property damage insurance as Landlord may reasonably require.  As permitted by
law, Tenant agrees to obtain and deliver to Landlord written and unconditional
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waivers of mechanic’s liens upon the Land, Building and Complex, for all work, labor and services performed to
date and all materials to be furnished to date in connection with such work, signed by all contractors and
subcontractors involved in such work.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any mechanic’s lien is filed against the
Premises, Land, Complex or Building, for work claimed to have been done for, or materials furnished to, Tenant,
such lien shall be bonded off or discharged by Tenant within thirty (30) days after Tenant receives notice of the
filing (or such shorter period if required by the terms of any Superior Lease or Mortgage) at Tenant’s expense.

Section 9.03. Expenses.  Tenant shall pay to Landlord from time to time during the performance
of any of the initial Tenant’s Alterations or any subsequent Tenant’s Alterations which cost $100,000.00 or more,
within twenty-five (25) days after demand therefor, as Additional Rent, a fee equal to Landlord’s or Landlord’s
agent’s reasonable and actual out-of- pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with any reasonably
necessary review of Tenant’s Plans (as hereinafter defined) by third parties engaged by Landlord in connection
with any Alterations and any review and inspection of Tenant’s Alterations.   Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Landlord shall not charge Tenant any fees in connection with the review of any plans or any inspections that
Landlord deems necessary with respect to any Alterations which (i) are non-structural and constitute merely
cosmetic changes to the interior of the Premises, (ii) do not violate the Alteration Restrictions, and (iii) cost less
than $100,000.00.

Section 9.04. Review of Tenant’s Plans.

(a) Tenant hereby agrees that, prior to Tenant commencing any Alterations for which
Landlord’s consent is required pursuant to Section 9.01(a), Tenant shall submit to Landlord four (4) sets of
complete working plans (either digitally or on paper, at Tenant’s option), drawings and specifications (collectively,
“Tenant’s Plans”), including, but not limited to, all mechanical, electrical and other utility systems and facilities
for Tenant’s Alterations, prepared by an architect or engineer selected by Tenant and licensed as such in the State
of Connecticut who maintains at least $1,500,000.00 of insurance (“Tenant’s Architect”), and shall not commence
any such Alteration without first obtaining Landlord’s approval of such Tenant’s Plans, which approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed with respect to the portion of Tenant’s Plans relating to
Alterations that would not be covered by Section 9.04(e) below.  Within five (5) days following Landlord’s receipt
of Tenant’s Plans, Landlord shall review or cause the same to be reviewed and shall thereupon return to Tenant
one (1) set of Tenant’s Plans with Landlord’s approval or disapproval noted thereon, and if same shall be
disapproved in any respect, Landlord shall state the reasons for such disapproval.   If Landlord disapproves
Tenant’s Plans in any respect, Tenant shall cause Tenant’s Architect to make such changes to Tenant’s Plans as
Landlord shall reasonably require and shall thereupon resubmit the same to Landlord for its approval.  If Landlord
fails to respond to any request for consent within either five (5) days following written receipt of the request for
consent as applies to initial submissions of Tenant’s Plans and five (5) following receipt of the request for consent
as applies to submission of revised Tenant’s Plans, Tenant may deliver to Landlord a second notice, which shall
have the following written at the top thereof in bold-faced capitalized letters —“THIS IS TENANT’S SECOND
NOTICE REQUESTING LANDLORD’S APPROVAL.   LANDLORD’S FAILURE TO RESPOND TO THIS
NOTICE WITHIN 5 BUSINESS DAYS SHALL BE DEEMED LANDLORD’S APPROVAL”— and if Landlord
fails to respond thereto within five (5) Business Days, Landlord shall be deemed to have approved the work
shown on such Tenant’s Plans.  Following the approval of Tenant’s Plans, as
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aforesaid, the same shall be final and shall not be materially changed by Tenant without the prior approval of
Landlord, which approval shall granted or withheld in accordance with the terms of this Section 9.04.  Tenant
acknowledges and agrees that Landlord’s approval of Tenant’s Plans shall be conditioned upon Tenant employing
licensed persons and firms (where required by law) and such labor for the performance of Tenant’s Alterations so
as not to cause any jurisdictional or other labor disputes at the Building or Complex.

(b) Any review or approval by Landlord of any plans and/or specifications or any preparation
or design of any plans by Landlord’s architect or engineer (or any preparation or designated by Landlord) with
respect to any Alteration is solely for Landlord’s benefit, and without any representation or warranty whatsoever
to Tenant or any other person with respect to the compliance thereof with any Requirements, the adequacy,
correctness or efficiency thereof or otherwise.

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 9.01(a), a copy of Tenant’s construction contracts
for Tenant’s Alterations which cost $100,000.00 or more (other than carpeting or purely cosmetic work, such as
painting) shall be furnished to Landlord prior to the commencement of any such work.

(d) All of Tenant’s Alterations shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner diligently
to completion and so as not to unreasonably interfere with other tenants, occupants or contractors, if any, in the
Complex.  Passenger elevators shall not be used by Tenant, its contractors, subcontractors, agents or employees to
transport construction material and/or workers to the Premises or any part thereof.   At all times during the
progress of Tenant’s Alterations, Tenant shall permit Landlord, upon no less than twenty-four (24) hours’ notice
(except in cases of emergency, in which case no notice shall be required) its architect and other representatives of
Landlord access to the Premises for the purpose of inspecting same, verifying conformance of Tenant’s Alterations
with Tenant’s Plans and otherwise viewing the progress of Tenant’s work.  All such inspections by Landlord, its
architect and other representatives (other than during cases of emergency) shall be carried out in a commercially
reasonable manner, which minimizes interference with (i) the progress of Tenant’s work and (ii) Tenant’s business
operations in the Premises.

(e) The performance of Tenant’s Alterations shall not (i) entail any structural changes to the
Building, (ii) adversely affect the certificate of occupancy for the Building or the Premises, or (iii) other than to a
de minimis extent, affect any part of the Building other than the Premises or require any Alterations to be
performed in or made to any portion of the Building, Complex or the Land other than the Premises (other than
those installations permitted under Article 39), or (iv) other than to a de minimis extent, affect utility services or
plumbing and electrical lines outside of the Premises (other than those permitted under Section 11.03), or (v)
adversely affect the appearance, value or utility of the Building without Landlord’s prior consent (which may be
withheld, conditioned, or delayed by Landlord in its sole discretion).  All of Tenant’s Alterations, other than those
installations permitted under Article 39, shall be performed within the Premises.  Tenant covenants and agrees that
the performance of Tenant’s Alterations shall not interfere with or impair the use, occupancy or operation of any
portions of the Complex or its services, including, without limitation, the plumbing, heating, ventilating, air
conditioning
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and electrical systems (other than as may have been approved by Landlord in accordance with this Article 9).

ARTICLE 10
Repairs

Section 10.01. Tenant’s Obligations.  Tenant shall maintain and take good care of the non-structural
portions of the Premises and all fixtures, equipment, internal systems, installations, Alterations and appurtenances
exclusively serving same, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, and shall promptly make all non-structural repairs
and replacements as and when needed to preserve the Premises and all Building Systems within and exclusively
serving the Premises in good working order and condition, reasonable wear and tear and damage by casualty,
excepted.

Section 10.02. Landlord’s Obligations.

(a) Landlord, at Landlord’s sole cost and expense (subject to recoupment as provided in Article
6 hereof, if permitted), shall perform all necessary repairs, replacements and maintenance at the Complex
(including, without limitation, all Complex Common Areas and the Building’s roof, roof membrane, exterior walls
and windows, structural and non-structural elements, the foundations and floor slabs, all load-bearing walls,
gutters and downspouts, landscaping, the Building Systems and other Complex facilities serving the Premises) in
good working order and condition, reasonable wear and tear and damage by casualty excepted, and shall make
such repairs, as and when needed in or to the Building, Building Common Areas or Building Systems, except for
(i) those repairs for which Tenant is responsible pursuant to any other provision of this Lease, including but not
limited to Section 10.01 above, or (ii) repairs to Tenant’s Property (unless caused by the gross negligence or
willful misconduct of Landlord, its agents, employees or contractors).

(b) Tenant shall be required to reimburse Landlord, within twenty-five (25) days after receipt of
a bill therefor as Additional Rent for the cost of repairing the following: (i) unless Landlord actually receives
insurance proceeds with respect thereto (with Landlord being obligated to use commercially reasonable, good
faith efforts to collect such insurance proceeds), any structural repairs or replacements necessitated or occasioned
by the negligence or willful misconduct of Tenant, or any of its servants, employees, contractors, agents, guests,
invitees or licensees; or (ii) unless covered by Landlord’s insurance, the proceeds of which actually become
available to Landlord (with Landlord being obligated to use commercially reasonable, good faith efforts to collect
such insurance proceeds), any structural repairs or replacements resulting from the particular manner of use or
occupancy of the Premises by Tenant or any such person (as distinct from the Permitted Use permitted by Section
5.01); or (iii) unless covered by Landlord’s insurance, the proceeds of which actually become available to
Landlord (with Landlord being obligated to use commercially reasonable, good faith efforts to collect such
insurance proceeds), any structural repairs or replacements necessitated or occasioned by or resulting from
Tenant’s Alterations; or (iv) unless covered by Landlord’s insurance, the proceeds of which actually become
available to Landlord (with Landlord being obligated to use commercially reasonable, good faith efforts to collect
such insurance proceeds), any repairs made to the distribution portions of the Building Systems located
exclusively within the Premises if such repairs are necessitated by the negligence
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or willful misconduct of Tenant, or any of its servants, employees, contractors, agents, guests, invitees or
licensees.

(c) If Landlord shall default in the performance of Landlord’s repair obligations solely relating
to the Premises (as opposed to Landlord’s obligations relating to areas outside of the Premises which may affect
other tenancies) (a “Premises Default”), and such Premises Default shall not be cured within twenty-five (25) days
after receipt of written notice thereof from Tenant, or, in the case of a Premises Default which cannot with due
diligence be cured within a period of twenty-five (25) days, such longer period as may be reasonably necessary so
long as Landlord duly institutes such cure and diligently prosecutes same to completion, then, if same remains
uncured, Tenant, following fifteen (15) days additional prior written notice to Landlord, shall have the option of
reasonably curing such default and, if such default involves the expenditure of money, Landlord shall reimburse
Tenant for Tenant’s reasonable, out-of-pocket third party costs and expenses reasonably incurred to cure such
Premises Default within thirty (30) days after Tenant’s delivery of paid invoices therefor.

ARTICLE 11
Utilities and Services

Section 11.01. HVAC; Elevators; Supplemental HVAC.

(a) Landlord, at Landlord’s expense, shall furnish and distribute to the Premises heated, cooled
and outside air, at reasonable temperatures, pressures and degrees of humidity in accordance with the HVAC
performance specifications set forth in Exhibit E hereto (collectively “HVAC”) on a year round basis on Business
Days (as hereinafter defined) from 8:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M.  The term “Business Days” shall mean all days, except
Saturdays, Sundays and the following holidays: New Year’s Day, President’s Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day,
Independence Day, Labor Day, Columbus Day, Thanksgiving Day, the day after Thanksgiving Day and Christmas
Day (or such other Complex-standard Business Days adopted by Landlord for the Complex which constitute legal
holidays as declared by the State or Federal governments).  If Tenant shall require HVAC service at any other time
(“Overtime”), Landlord shall furnish Overtime HVAC upon reasonable advance notice from Tenant, given
between the hours of 9:00 A.M. and 1:00 P.M. on any Business Day, and Tenant shall pay to Landlord Additional
Rent for such services, within twenty-five (25) days after being billed therefor, at the standard rates then fixed by
Landlord for the Building.  The current hourly rate for overtime HVAC is $450.00.  Landlord may reasonably
increase the rates for after-hours HVAC from time to time on a Building-wide basis consistent with other first-
class office buildings in Stamford, CT.  If requested by Tenant, in lieu of Landlord providing Overtime HVAC on
a Tenant-requested advance notice basis, Landlord may, at Landlord’s option, make arrangements and/or
installations, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, enabling Tenant to operate the Overtime HVAC systems for the
Premises on a seven (7) days per week, twenty-four (24) hours per day basis, provided Tenant pays, as Additional
Rent, Landlord’s standard after-hours rates for such Overtime HVAC usage.  Whenever said HVAC systems are in
operation, Tenant shall cause all windows of the Premises to be kept closed.   Tenant shall also cause all the
windows of the Premises to be closed whenever the Premises are not occupied.

(b) Landlord shall maintain in good and safe operating condition and repair not less than two
(2) automatic passenger elevators servicing the Premises (which shall be available
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to Tenant’s employees and invitees on a 24 hour, 7 day per week basis), subject to the terms of this Lease.  Tenant
shall have access to the Building on a 24 hour, 7 day per week basis, subject to the terms of this Lease.  Tenant
shall receive, on a scheduled basis, an aggregate of up to thirty (30) hours of freight elevator service at the
Building for Tenant’s initial move-in to the Premises and during the performance of Tenant’s Work, at no charge.

(c) Any supplemental HVAC systems and equipment that now serve (or is hereafter installed to
serve) the Premises (collectively, the “Supplemental HVAC”) is separate and apart from the HVAC referenced in
Section 11.01(a).  Tenant may install a commercially reasonable supplemental HVAC system as part of Tenant’s
Work subject to Landlord’s reasonable, prior written approval, and provided Tenant complies with all of the
applicable terms of this Lease (including, without limitation, Exhibit E hereto).  Tenant shall be billed (and shall
timely pay) for all electricity usage for the Supplemental HVAC pursuant to Section 11.03 below.   It shall be
Tenant’s obligation (at Tenant’s sole cost and expense) to operate, maintain, repair or replace any and all
Supplemental HVAC in compliance with all Requirements and such reasonable rules and procedures as Landlord
may impose.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, at any time during the Term that Tenant utilizes a
Supplemental HVAC system in the Premises, Tenant shall maintain in force a maintenance contract with a
reputable HVAC service contractor approved by Landlord (which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed) providing for semi-annual inspection and maintenance of the Supplemental HVAC and
reports of any defective conditions, together with any recommendations for maintenance, repair or parts-
replacement, and Tenant shall furnish to Landlord a copy of such contract or any such reports issued thereunder,
from time to time, upon Landlord’s request.  At any time during the Term that Tenant utilizes a Supplemental
HVAC system in the Premises, Tenant shall pay to Landlord each month, within twenty-five (25) days after
billing, for Tenant’s usage (as reasonably determined by Landlord) of condenser water provided to the
Supplemental HVAC units, at Landlord’s cost therefor.  At Landlord’s election, the condenser water provided to
the Supplemental HVAC unit or units may be separately metered by Landlord at Tenant’s expense, in which event
Landlord shall bill to Tenant for the condenser water consumption reflected on such meters.

Section 11.02. Cleaning.   Landlord (subject to recoupment pursuant to Article 6 hereof, if
permitted) shall cause the Premises to be cleaned five (5) days per week (which may include weekend days)
consistent with the cleaning specifications annexed hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit D.  Tenant shall pay
to Landlord, as Additional Rent, within twenty-five (25) days after being billed therefor, Landlord’s extra charges
from its cleaning contractor for any special or unusual cleaning work in the Premises, including, without
limitation, the cleaning of portions of the Premises with glass partitions, any executive bathrooms, or any areas
used for the storage, preparation, service or consumption of food or beverages (if any).

Section 11.03. Electricity.

(a) Commencing on the Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as Additional
Rent for the electricity being furnished to the Premises during the Lease Term (including any Extended Term), an
amount (the “Electricity Additional Rent”) equal to one hundred three percent (103%) of the amount Landlord
actually pays to the utility company and/or other third parties to provide and administer electricity to the Premises,
including, without limitation, all applicable surcharges, demand charges, time of day charges, energy charges, fuel
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adjustment charges, rate adjustment charges, taxes and other amounts payable in respect thereof, based on
Tenant’s demand and/or consumption of electricity (and/or any other commercially reasonable method of
quantifying Tenant’s use of or demand for electricity as set forth in the utility company’s tariff) as registered on a
meter or submeter for purposes of measuring such demand, consumption or other method of quantifying Tenant’s
use of or demand for electricity (it being agreed that such meter or submeter shall measure demand and
consumption, and off peak and on peak use, in either case to the extent such factors are relevant in making the
determination of Landlord’s cost of electricity consumption for the Premises).  If not presently installed, Landlord
shall install the aforesaid meter or submeter on or before the Commencement Date, as part of Landlord’s Base
Building Work, at Landlord’s cost and expense.  Tenant shall maintain such meter or submeter in good working
order at it sole cost and expense.  Landlord shall render bills (together with, upon Tenant’s request, the underlying
submeter readings) for the Electricity Additional Rent at such time as Landlord may elect (but in no event less
frequently than quarterly and no more than monthly), and Tenant shall pay the amount shown thereon to Landlord
within twenty-five (25) days after Landlord gives such bill to Tenant.   Notwithstanding the foregoing, for any
period in which the metering or submetering equipment servicing the Premises is inoperative or otherwise
inaccurate in terms of measuring such electricity consumption, Tenant shall pay Landlord, during such period, a
monthly electricity charge reasonably reflecting such electricity consumption, based upon historical usage or a
reputable engineer’s reasonable estimate, if applicable, with any change(s) in usage or rate taken into account.
 Landlord shall provide electricity to the fifth (5th) floor distribution panels serving the Premises equal to six (6)
watts per rentable square foot demand load, exclusive of the electricity required to operate the Building’s HVAC
system (the “Electrical   Capacity”).   Landlord shall provide electricity from the applicable utility company or
provider for operating the Building Systems serving the Building and for lighting the Garage, the Building
Common Areas and the Complex Common Areas and the costs of electricity to such systems and common areas
shall be included in the Cost of Operation and Maintenance or Complex Operating Expenses, as applicable, or
otherwise paid for by Tenant (or other tenants) as Additional Rent.

(b) Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, may obtain additional commercially reasonable
amounts of electricity for Tenant’s business operations in the Premises directly from the utility company
furnishing electricity to the Building, provided same does not adversely affect any utility service to (or utility
operations at) the Building or Complex or Landlord’s contractual arrangements with any utility providers or other
tenants.  The cost of such additional electric service to the Premises shall be paid by Tenant directly to such utility
company or provider.   The installation of any additional meters, panel board, feeders, risers, wiring and other
conductors and equipment shall constitute an Alteration subject to Landlord’s reasonable prior approval as
provided in Article 9, and any such installation shall be performed by Landlord at Tenant’s sole cost and expense,
and shall be chargeable and collectible as Additional Rent and paid within twenty-five (25) days after the rendition
of a bill to Tenant therefor.

(c) Tenant covenants that the use of electrical energy in the Premises shall not exceed the
Electrical Capacity.   In the event that, in Landlord’s reasonable judgment, Tenant’s electrical requirements
necessitate installation or an additional riser, risers, or other proper and necessary equipment, Landlord shall so
notify Tenant of same.  Within five (5) Business Days after receipt of such notice, Tenant shall either cease such
use of additional electricity or shall request that additional electrical capacity (specifying the amount requested) be
made available to Tenant.  If Landlord shall agree to make available additional electrical capacity and the same
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necessitates installation of an additional riser, risers or other proper and necessary equipment, including, without
limitation, any switchgear, the same shall be installed by Landlord.   Any such installation shall be made at
Tenant’s sole cost and expense, and shall be chargeable and collectible as Additional Rent and paid within twenty-
five (25) days after the rendition of a bill to Tenant therefor.  Tenant shall not, without prior consent of Landlord in
each instance, not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, make or perform, or permit the making or
performing of, any alteration to wiring installations or other electrical facilities in or serving the Premises or any
additions to the electrical fixtures in the Premises which utilize electrical energy (other than commercially
reasonable and customary office fixtures).

(d) Landlord may, at any time, elect to supply electricity to the Premises on a Rent inclusion
basis if required to do so by Requirements.   In the event of any such change in electric service by Landlord,
Landlord agrees to give not less than thirty (30) days advance notice of any such change to Tenant, and this Lease
shall remain in full force and effect and such change shall not constitute an actual or constructive eviction, in
whole or in part, or entitle Tenant to any abatement or diminution of Rent or except or relieve Tenant from any of
its obligations under this Lease, or impose any liability upon Landlord or Landlord’s agents.

(e) Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, shall purchase and install all lamps (including incandescent
and fluorescent), starters and ballasts used in the Premises from Landlord, at Landlord’s Complex commercially
reasonable standard charges for providing same.

Section 11.04. Water.  Landlord shall supply reasonably adequate quantities of potable warm and
cold water to a point or points in the Premises for ordinary office lavatory, kitchen and drinking purposes.   If
Tenant requires, uses or consumes water for any purpose in addition to the ordinary lavatory and drinking,
Landlord may install a water meter and thereby measure Tenant’s consumption of water for all purposes.  Tenant
shall pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent, within twenty-five (25) days after being billed therefor, the cost of any
such meter and its installation, and Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall maintain any such meter and
any such installation equipment in good working order and repair.  Tenant shall pay for water consumed as shown
on said meter and sewer charges thereon, as Additional Rent, within twenty-five (25) days after being billed
therefor.

Section 11.05. Interruption of Service.   Landlord reserves the right to stop the service of the air
conditioning, elevator, plumbing, electrical, sanitary, mechanical or other service or utility systems of the Building
when reasonably necessary by reason of accident or emergency, or mechanical breakdown, or requirement of law
or any cause beyond Landlord’s reasonable control or (upon at least 24 hours’ notice to Tenant, except in the event
of an emergency in which case no notice shall be required) for repairs, alterations, replacements or Improvements,
which in the reasonable judgment of Landlord, are necessary, until the reason for such stoppage shall have been
eliminated. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, and without regard to the effects of Unavoidable
Delays, if such stoppage or interruption materially interrupts Tenant’s business and shall result in Tenant not being
able to use or occupy all or any part of the Premises and continues for a period of five (5) consecutive Business
Days after notice from Tenant, and such stoppage was not attributable to conditions caused by Tenant (or any
parties holding by, under or through Tenant), then thereafter Fixed Rent and Tenant’s obligation to pay Tenant’s
Projected Share and Tenant’s Proportionate Share of any increase in Taxes shall abate for the portion of the
Premises
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which Tenant has not been able to use or occupy on a per diem basis until the earlier of remediation of such
stoppage or interruption or reoccupation of such part of the Premises by Tenant.

Section 11.06. Parking.  Tenant shall have the right to use, on a non-exclusive basis, 79 unreserved
parking spaces (3/1,000 rentable square feet of the Premises) in the Garage located adjacent to the Building and in
any outdoor parking lot(s) adjacent to and exclusively dedicated to the Building, for itself, its customers, invitees
and employees and the loading and unloading of vehicles in connection with and incidental to the business
conducted by Tenant in the Premises, all on a Rent-inclusive basis.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon Landlord
attaining 75% occupancy of the Building, Landlord may reduce Tenant’s on-site parking, for the balance of the
Term, to 66 unreserved parking spaces (2.5/1,000 rentable square feet of the Premises), provided that Landlord
has arranged, at Tenant’s cost and expense, for at least 13 unreserved parking spaces in an indoor parking facility
located at Stamford Town Center, 100 Greyrock Place, the Bell Street Garage, and/or 300 Atlantic Street,
Stamford, CT.   Tenant may use the roadways located within the Complex Common Areas for the purposes of
egress and ingress.  Tenant covenants to observe the parking rules for the Complex, including, without limitation,
the exclusivity of parking spaces designated for other tenants, buildings and/or other areas of the Complex.

Section 11.07. Complex Common Areas.  Landlord agrees to perform or cause performance of the
following reasonably consistent with the standards of comparable, first class office complexes in the City: (a)
maintain and repair the Complex Common Areas and entrances to the Building, (b) to keep the surface of the
parking area, driveways, entrances to the Building and sidewalks located on the Land reasonably free from snow,
ice, dirt and rubbish, and (c) to insure, protect and maintain the Complex Common Areas, including the
maintenance of shrubbery and grass areas in and around the Building.  Landlord’s expenses in performing such
obligations shall be part of the Base Expenses and the Cost of Operation and Maintenance in accordance with the
provisions of Article 6, as permitted.

Section 11.08. Security.   Throughout the Term, Landlord shall maintain at the Complex 24 hour
security service (including 24/7 roving security) reasonably consistent with the standards of comparable, first
class office complexes in the City.  The foregoing shall not in any manner whatsoever be deemed to create any
liability for Landlord under the Lease for the security of any person or property.  Tenant shall be permitted to
install, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, a commercially reasonable security and/or controlled access system in
the Premises, which is compatible with the security and/or controlled access system serving the Building (the
“Building Security System”) so as to enable Tenant to utilize a single security/access card reader, provided in all
events Tenant gives Landlord copies of duplicate keys, access codes, combinations, access cards and other access
devices to enable Landlord’s continued access to the Premises in accordance with this Lease.

Section 11.09. Directory; Signage.  At no additional cost to Tenant, Tenant shall be provided with a
listing in the electronic tenant directory, if such directory is so provided, in the Building’s lobby and on the fifth
(5th) floor of Tenant’s elevator lobby.  Tenant shall also have the right to receive a single exterior identifying sign
with Tenant’s name and logo on the entrance door to the Premises, provided such sign shall be at Tenant’s sole
cost and expense; same shall be subject to and comply with all applicable Requirements; and same shall be in a
location and of a
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size and appearance that is subject to Landlord’s reasonable, prior written approval (and compatible with the
Complex’s standard signage program).

Section 11.10. Shaft Space.  At no additional cost to Tenant, Landlord shall provide commercially
reasonable, secure and unobstructed shaft space (free of Hazardous Materials), on a proportionate basis, from the
Building’s telecom two (2) points of entry through the Building’s telecom riser to the Premises for Tenant’s
commercially reasonable data cabling needs.  For purposes of clarification, there are two (2) Building telecom
points of entry, however, such points of entry lead to a single shaft space in the Building.

ARTICLE 12
Damage to or Destruction of the Premises

Section 12.01. Restoration; Abatement.

(a) If the Premises or any part thereof shall be partially damaged by fire or other casualty,
Tenant shall give reasonably prompt notice thereof to Landlord, and upon such notice Landlord shall proceed with
reasonable diligence to repair or replace or cause to be repaired or replaced the structural portions of the Premises
(excluding any structural Tenant Alterations) and Building Systems serving the Premises, such that the basic
structure of the Premises and its ability to receive services through the Building Systems (to the extent otherwise
required by the terms of this Lease) and the Building standard finish conditions are in substantially the same
condition as prior to the fire or other casualty.  Landlord shall also restore reasonable access to the Premises (if
necessary).

(b) The Fixed Rent and Additional Rent shall be abated in the proportion that the Premises
shall have been rendered untenantable, such abatement to be from the date of such damage or destruction until
Landlord delivers the Premises to Tenant having substantially completed the repair and/or restoration thereof as
and to the extent required by Section 12.01(a) above.  If (i) a material part of the Premises shall be damaged; (ii)
Tenant shall be unable to operate its business in the remaining part of the Premises in substantially the same
manner as such business was operated prior to the damage; and (iii) if Tenant shall be required to vacate all or
substantially all of the Premises, then all Fixed Rent and Additional Rent shall abate until the earlier of: the date
Landlord delivers the Premises to Tenant having substantially completed the repair and/or restoration thereof as
and to the extent required by Section 12.01(a) above; or the date Tenant reoccupies the Premises for operation of
its business.

Section 12.02. Tenant’s Right of Termination.

(a) Within thirty (30) days after notice to Landlord of any damage described in Section 12.01
hereof, Landlord shall deliver to Tenant a statement prepared by a licensed, independent architect setting forth
such architect’s estimate (the “Estimate”) as to the time required to repair such damage, exclusive of time required
to repair any Tenant’s Alterations.  If the estimated time period exceeds twelve (12) months from the date of the
Estimate, Tenant may elect to terminate this Lease by notice to Landlord not later than thirty (30) days following
receipt of the Estimate.  If Tenant makes such election, the Term shall expire upon the thirtieth (30th) day after
notice of such election is given by Tenant, and Tenant shall vacate the Premises and surrender
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the same to Landlord in accordance with the provisions of Article 18 hereof.  If Tenant shall not have elected to
terminate this Lease pursuant to this Article 12 (or is not entitled to terminate this Lease pursuant to this Article
12), the damage shall be diligently repaired by and at the expense of Landlord as, and to the extent, required by
Section 12.01(a) above, subject to Unavoidable Delays.  If the estimated period of repair does not exceed twelve
(12) months and, thereafter, Landlord fails to substantially complete such repairs within such twelve (12) month
period, Tenant may terminate this Lease by notice to Landlord within thirty (30) days following the expiration of
the twelve (12) month period.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such damage occurs during the last eighteen (18) months
of the Term of this Lease and if the estimated time period set forth in the Estimate delivered pursuant to Section
12.02(a) above exceeds one hundred eighty (180) days from the date of the Estimate (exclusive of time required to
repair any Tenant’s Alterations), then Tenant or Landlord may serve notice on the other of its intention to
terminate this Lease, and this Lease shall terminate on the date which is thirty (30) days after the date of Tenant’s
or Landlord’s notice, as applicable, as if such termination date were the Expiration Date, and any prepaid portion
of Fixed Rent and Additional Rent shall be abated as of such date of damage or destruction and shall be promptly
refunded by Landlord to Tenant.

Section 12.03. Landlord’s Right of Termination.   If more than twenty percent (20%) of the
Building shall be damaged by fire or other casualty, then in such event Landlord may, at its option, terminate this
Lease (provided that Landlord simultaneously terminates all similarly -situated leases in the Building) by giving
Tenant not less than thirty (30) days’ notice of such termination, which notice shall be given within sixty (60) days
after the date of such damage.   In the event that such notice of termination shall be given, (a) this Lease shall
terminate as of the date thirty (30) days after the giving of the notice of termination (whether or not the Term shall
have commenced) with the same effect as if that were the Expiration Date, and subject to Section 12.06 below, (b)
the Fixed Rent and Additional Rent shall be apportioned as of the date of damage or destruction, and (c) any
prepaid portion of Fixed and Additional Rent shall be abated as of the date of damage or destruction and shall be
promptly refunded by Landlord to Tenant.  If, at any time prior to Landlord giving Tenant the aforesaid notice of
termination or commencing the repair and restoration pursuant to Section 12.02, the holder of a Superior
Mortgage takes possession of the Building through foreclosure or otherwise, such holder or party shall have a
further period of thirty (30) days from the date of so taking possession to terminate this Lease, under the same
terms and conditions as set forth in this Section 12.03, by thirty (30) days written notice of termination.  If such
notice shall be given, this Lease shall terminate as of the date provided in such thirty (30) days’ notice of
termination (whether or not the Term shall have commenced) with the same effect as if that were the Expiration
Date, and, subject to Section 12.06 below, the Fixed Rent and Additional Rent shall be abated as of the date of
damage or destruction and any prepaid portion of Fixed Rent and Additional Rent for any period after such date
(and the Security Deposit, if and to the extent applicable) shall be refunded by Landlord to Tenant.

Section 12.04. Liability.  Landlord shall not be liable for any inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant
or injury to the business of Tenant resulting in any way from such damage by fire or other casualty or the repair
thereof.  Landlord will not carry insurance of any kind on Tenant’s Property or Tenant’s Alterations nor shall it be
required to repair any Tenant’s Property or Tenant’s Alterations.



37

Section 12.05. Cooperation.  Landlord and Tenant agree that they shall reasonably cooperate with
the other in providing information to an insurance company with respect to any loss or damage occurring in the
Premises and shall not unreasonably interfere with the other’s collection of insurance proceeds.

Section 12.06. Willful Misconduct.  Nothing herein contained shall relieve either party from any
liability to the other caused by such party’s willful misconduct or criminally liable acts in connection with any
damage to the Premises or the Building by fire or other casualty.

Section 12.07. Express Agreement.   This Lease shall be considered an express agreement
governing any case of damage to or destruction of the Building or any part thereof by fire or other casualty, and
any law providing for such contingency in the absence of such express agreement, now or hereafter enacted, shall
have no application in such case.

Section 12.08. Disputes.   Any dispute under this Article 12 shall be determined by arbitration
pursuant to Article 25 hereof.

ARTICLE 13
Eminent Domain

Section 13.01. Termination Rights.

(a) If the whole of the Premises, or such substantial part thereof as will render the remainder
untenantable for the conduct of Tenant’s business consistent with Tenant’s past practices shall be acquired or
condemned for any public or quasi-public use or purpose, this Lease shall end as of the date of the vesting of title
in the condemning authority (either through court order or by voluntary conveyance by Landlord in lieu of
condemnation) with the same effect as if said date were the Expiration Date.  If only a part the Premises shall be
so acquired or condemned, then, except as otherwise provided in this Article, this Lease and the Term shall
continue in force and effect but, from and after the date of the vesting of title, the Fixed Rent shall be an amount
which bears the same ratio to the Fixed Rent payable immediately prior to such condemnation pursuant to this
Lease as the value of the untaken portion of the Premises (appraised after the taking and repair of any damage to
the Building pursuant to this Section) bears to the value of the entire Premises immediately before the taking and
any Additional Rent payable or credits receivable pursuant to Article 6 shall be adjusted to reflect the diminution
of the Premises.  The value of the Premises before and after the taking shall be determined for the purposes of this
Section by an independent appraiser, said appraiser shall be chosen by arbitration pursuant to Article 25.

(b) If more than ten percent (10%) of the Building or a material part of the Land shall be so
acquired or condemned, then: (i) Landlord, at Landlord’s sole option, may give to Tenant, within sixty (60) days
next following the date upon which Landlord shall have received notice of vesting of title, ninety (90) days’ notice
of termination of this Lease (provided that Landlord simultaneously terminates all similarly-situated leases in the
Building); and (ii) if the part of the Building so acquired or condemned shall contain more than twenty-five
percent (25%) of the total rentable area of the Premises immediately prior to such acquisition or condemnation, or
if, by reason of such acquisition or condemnation, Tenant no longer has the ability to conduct
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its business in the Premises substantially in a manner consistent with past practices, or reasonable means of access
to the Premises, Tenant, at Tenant’s sole option, may give to Landlord, within sixty (60) days following the date
upon which Tenant shall have received notice of vesting of title, ninety (90) days’ notice of termination of this
Lease.  Any dispute concerning the exercise by Landlord or Tenant of an option to terminate this Lease pursuant
to this Section 13.01 shall be submitted to arbitration pursuant to Article 25 below.  In the event any such ninety
(90) days’ notice of termination is given by Landlord or Tenant, this Lease shall terminate upon the expiration of
said ninety (90) days with the same effect as if the date were the Expiration Date.  If a part of the Premises shall
be so acquired or condemned, and the Lease shall not be terminated pursuant to the provisions of this Section,
Landlord, at Landlord’s expense (but subject to recoupment from the proceeds of any award) shall restore that part
of the Premises not so acquired or condemned to a self-contained rental unit in substantially the same condition as
prior thereto.  In the event of any termination of this Lease pursuant to the provisions of this Section, the Fixed
Rent and Additional Rent shall be apportioned as of the date of such termination and any prepaid portion of Fixed
Rent and Additional Rent for any period after such date shall be refunded by Landlord to Tenant.

Section 13.02. The Award.  In the event of any such acquisition or condemnation of all or any part
of the Building and/or Land, Landlord shall be entitled to receive the entire award for any such acquisition or
condemnation.  Tenant shall have no claim against Landlord or the condemning authority for the value of any
unexpired portion of the Term and Tenant hereby expressly assigns to Landlord all of its right, title and interest in
and to any such award, and also agrees to execute any and all further documents reasonably requested that may be
required in order to facilitate the collection thereof by Landlord.   Nothing contained in this Section shall be
deemed to prevent Tenant from making a separate claim in any condemnation proceedings for any moving
expenses and for the value of any Tenant’s Property and Tenant’s Alterations (in excess of Landlord’s contribution
thereto, if any).

Section 13.03. Temporary Taking.   If the temporary use or occupancy of all or any part of the
Premises shall be condemned or taken for any public or quasi-public use or purpose during the Term, this Lease
shall be and remain unaffected by such condemnation or taking and Tenant shall continue responsible for all of its
obligations hereunder and it shall continue to pay the Fixed Rent and Additional Rent, but all such Fixed Rent and
Additional Rent shall be abated proportionately as to the part of the Premises so temporarily condemned and not
occupied by Tenant.   In the event of the termination of such public or quasi-public occupancy prior to the
Expiration Date, Tenant shall, at its own expense, restore the Premises as nearly as possible to the condition in
which they were prior to the condemnation or taking provided, however, that Tenant shall have no obligation to
expend any sum in excess of the condemnation proceeds received by Tenant under this Section 13.03 to restore
the Premises in accordance with this Section.

ARTICLE 14
Default

Section 14.01. Events of Default.   Each of the following events shall be an “Event of Default”
hereunder:

(a) if Tenant shall file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or insolvency, or shall file any petition
or answer seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment,
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liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the present or any future federal bankruptcy act or any other present
or future applicable federal, state or other statute or law, or shall make an assignment for the benefit of creditors or
shall seek or consent to or acquiesce in the appointment of any trustee, receiver or liquidator of Tenant or of all or
any part of Tenant’s Property; or

(b) if there shall be filed against Tenant an involuntary petition in bankruptcy or insolvency, or
if Tenant shall be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent, and if within ninety (90) days after the commencement of
any such proceeding against Tenant such proceeding shall not have been dismissed, or if, within ninety (90) days
after the appointment of any trustee, receiver or liquidator of Tenant, or of all or a substantial part of Tenant’s
Property, without the consent or acquiescence of Tenant, such appointment shall not have been vacated or
otherwise discharged, or if any execution or attachment shall be issued against Tenant or any of Tenant’s Property
pursuant to which the Premises shall be taken or occupied or attempted to be taken or occupied; or

(c) if Tenant shall default for more than five (5) Business Days after Landlord notifies Tenant
in writing of Tenant’s failure to pay when due of any installment of Fixed Rent or Additional Rent; or

(d) if Tenant shall default in the observance or performance of any term, covenant or condition
of this Lease on Tenant’s part to be observed or performed (other than the covenants for the payment of Fixed
Rent and Additional Rent) and Tenant shall fail to remedy such default within thirty (30) days after notice by
Landlord to Tenant of such default, or if such default is of such a nature that it cannot with due diligence be
completely remedied within said period of thirty (30) days and Tenant shall not commence within said period of
thirty (30) days, and/or shall not thereafter diligently prosecute to completion, all steps necessary to remedy such
default; or

(e) if any event shall occur or any contingency shall arise whereby this Lease or the estate
hereby granted or the unexpired balance of the Term would, by operation of law or otherwise, devolve upon or
pass to any person, firm or corporation other than Tenant except as is expressly permitted under Article 19;

(f) then in any of said events Landlord may give to Tenant notice of intention to end the Term
at the expiration of five (5) days from the date of the giving of such notice, and, in the event such notice is given
and Tenant shall not have cured such default, this Lease (whether or not the Term shall have commenced) shall
terminate upon the expiration of said five (5) days with the same effect as if that day were the Expiration Date,
and all rights of Tenant under this Lease shall expire and terminate and Tenant shall immediately quit and
surrender the Premises but Tenant shall remain liable for all of its obligations hereunder and for damages as
provided in Article 15.

Section 14.02. Use and Occupancy Payments.  Any monies received by Landlord from or on behalf
of Tenant during the pendency of any proceeding or the types referred to in said subsections (a) and (b) of Section
14.01 shall be deemed paid as compensation for the use and occupation of the Premises and the acceptance of any
such compensation by Landlord shall not be deemed an acceptance of rent or a waiver on the part of Landlord of
any rights under Section 14.01.
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ARTICLE 15
Landlord Remedies

Section 15.01. Remedies.  If an Event of Default shall occur under this Lease, or if this Lease and
the Term shall terminate as provided for in Article 14 hereof, (or pursuant to any summary proceeding or in any
other formal action or proceeding), or if Landlord shall re-enter the Premises pursuant to applicable law or a court
order under any summary proceeding or any other action or proceeding, then, in any of said events:

(a) Tenant shall pay to Landlord all Fixed Rent and Additional Rent to the date upon which this
Lease and the Term shall have terminated pursuant to the adjudication of any court of competent jurisdiction or to
the date of re-entry, as the case may be;

(b) Landlord shall be entitled to retain all monies, if any, paid by Tenant to Landlord, whether
as advance rent, security or otherwise, but such monies shall be credited by Landlord against any Fixed Rent or
Additional Rent due at the time of such termination or re-entry, or at Landlord’s option, against any damages
payable by Tenant hereunder;

(c) Tenant shall be liable for and shall pay to Landlord, as damages, any deficiency between (i)
the Fixed Rent and Additional Rent payable hereunder for the period which otherwise would have constituted the
unexpired portion of the Term (conclusively presuming the Additional Rent to be the same as was payable for the
year immediately preceding such termination or re-entry) and (ii) the net amount, if any, of any rents (“Net
Rents”) collected under any reletting effected pursuant to the provisions of Section 15.01(b) for any part of such
period (first deducting from the rents collected under any such reletting all of Landlord’s reasonable out-of-pocket
expenses in connection with the termination of this Lease or Landlord’s re-entry upon the Premises and in
connection with such reletting including but not limited to all prorated brokerage commissions, reasonable legal
expenses, reasonable attorneys’ fees, alteration costs and other reasonable expenses of preparing the Premises for
such reletting);

(d) Any such deficiency shall be paid in monthly installments by Tenant on the days specified
in this Lease for the payment of installments of Fixed Rent.  Landlord shall be entitled to recover from Tenant
each monthly deficiency as the same shall arise and no suit to collect the amount of the deficiency for any month
shall prejudice Landlord’s right to collect the deficiency for any subsequent month by a similar proceeding.
 Alternatively, suit or suits for the recovery of such deficiencies may be brought by Landlord from time to time at
its election;

(e) Whether or not Landlord shall have collected any monthly deficiencies as aforesaid,
Landlord shall, at its sole option, be entitled to recover from Tenant, and Tenant shall pay Landlord, on demand, as
and for liquidated and agreed final damages, a sum equal to the amount by which the Fixed Rent and Additional
Rent payable hereunder for the period which otherwise would have constituted the unexpired portion of the Term
following the last deficiency collected (conclusively presuming the Additional Rent to be the same as was payable
for the year immediately preceding such termination or re-entry) exceeds the then fair and reasonable rental value
of the Premises for the same period, both discounted to present worth at the Base Rate.  If, before presentation of
proof of such liquidated damages to any court, commission or tribunal, the Premises, or any part thereof, shall
have been relet by Landlord for the period which otherwise
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would have constituted the unexpired portion of the Term, or any part thereof, each party shall be entitled to have
an expert testify before such court, commission or tribunal as to its determination of the fair and reasonable rental
value for the part or the whole of the Premises so relet during the term of the reletting and the decision made by
the judge of such court, commission or tribunal shall be binding upon the parties; and

(f) In no event (i) shall Tenant be entitled to receive any excess of the Net Rents over the sums
payable by Tenant to Landlord hereunder, or (ii) shall Tenant be entitled in any suit for the collection of damages
pursuant to this Section to a credit in respect of any Net Rent from a reletting except to the extent that such Net
Rent is actually received by Landlord prior to the commencement of such suit.  If the Premises or any part thereof
should be relet in combination with other space, then equitable apportionment on a square foot area basis shall be
made of the rent received from such reletting and of the expenses of reletting.

(g) Nothing contained herein shall be construed to limit or preclude recovery by Landlord
against Tenant any sums or damages to which, in addition to the damages particularly provided above, Landlord
may lawfully be entitled to by reason of any Tenant breach or Event of Default under this Lease.

Section 15.02. Covenants.

(a) If this Lease be terminated as provided herein or by or under any summary proceeding or
any other action or proceeding, or if Landlord shall re-enter the Premises pursuant to applicable law or a court
order under any summary proceeding or any other action or proceeding, Tenant covenants and agrees,
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease:

(i) That the Premises shall be, upon such earlier termination or re-entry, in the same
condition as that in which the Tenant has agreed to surrender them to Landlord at the expiration of the Term
hereof;

(ii) That Tenant, on or before the occurrence of any Event of Default, shall have
performed or was performing every covenant contained in this Lease for the making of any improvement,
alteration or betterment to the Premises, or for restoring or rebuilding any part hereof; and

(iii) That, for the breach of either Subdivision (a) or (b) of this Subsection, or both,
Landlord shall be entitled immediately, without notice or other action by Landlord, to recover, and Tenant shall
pay, as and for damages therefor, the then cost of performing such covenant, plus interest thereon at the Default
Rate for the period between the occurrence of any Event of Default and the time when any such work or act, the
cost of which is computed, should have been performed under the other provisions of this Lease had such Event of
Default not occurred.

(b) Each and every covenant contained in this Section shall be deemed separate and
independent, and not dependent on other provisions of this Lease.  It is understood that the consideration for the
covenants in this Section is the making of this Lease, and the damages for failure to perform the same shall be
deemed to be in addition to and separate and independent of the damages accruing by reason of default in
observing any other covenant contained in this Lease.
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Section 15.03. Cumulative Remedies.   Each right and remedy of Landlord provided for in this
Lease shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other right and remedy provided for in this Lease or
now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute or otherwise through a court of competent jurisdiction.
 In the context of an adjudication of any court of competent jurisdiction, and the related actions and proceedings
before such court, Landlord shall not be restricted from enforcing any of its remedies at law, or in equity, pursuant
to a court order, which, among other relief, terminates this Lease, provided that Tenant is entitled to all rights and
remedies contained in this Lease to cure defaults hereunder.   The exercise or beginning of the exercise by
Landlord of any one or more of the rights or remedies provided for in this Lease or now or hereafter existing at
law or in equity or by statute or otherwise shall not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise by Landlord of any
or all other rights or remedies provided for in this Lease or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity by statute
or otherwise.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall Landlord or Tenant be
liable to the other under this Lease for any lost profits or special, consequential or punitive damages, except to the
extent specifically provided in this Lease.

ARTICLE 16
Curing Tenant’s Defaults; Fees and Expenses

Section 16.01. Cure By Landlord.  If Tenant shall commit an Event of Default, Landlord, without
thereby waiving such default, may perform the same for the account and at the expense of Tenant, upon prior
notice except in the case of emergency (when no prior notice shall be required).  Bills for any reasonable out-of-
pocket expense incurred by Landlord in connection with any such performance by it for the account of Tenant,
and bills for all costs, expenses and disbursements of every kind and nature whatsoever, including reasonable
counsel fees, involved in collecting or endeavoring to collect Fixed Rent or Additional Rent or other charge or any
part thereof or enforcing or endeavoring to enforce any rights against Tenant, under or in connection with this
Lease, or pursuant to law may be sent by Landlord to Tenant monthly or immediately, and shall be due and
payable as Additional Rent in accordance with the terms of said bills.   Any such bills shall be payable with
interest at the Default Rate from the date Landlord incurs the charge or expense to the date of payment by Tenant
to Landlord.  Tenant’s obligations under this Section shall survive the Expiration Date or sooner termination of the
Term.

Section 16.02. Late Charge.  If Tenant shall fail to pay any installment of Fixed Rent, Additional
Rent or any other item of rent when due and payable hereunder more than once in any 12-month period during the
Term, Tenant shall pay to Landlord from and after the date such payment was due hereunder, in addition to such
installment of Fixed Rent, Additional Rent or other item of Rent, as the case may be, as a late charge and as
Additional Rent, a sum equal to five percent (5%) on the amount unpaid.

ARTICLE 17
Non-Liability and Indemnification

Section 17.01. Indemnification By Tenant.   To the fullest extent permitted by law, Tenant shall
indemnify, defend and hold harmless Landlord, the Managing Agent, George Comfort & Sons Inc. and Comfort
Maintenance Corp., and its/their respective members, partners, subsidiaries and affiliates, and their respective
directors, officers, agents, servants, and employees
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(collectively, the “Landlord’s Parties”) from and against any and all third party claims, demands, liabilities,
damages, judgments, orders, decrees, actions, proceedings, fines, penalties, costs and expenses, including without
limitation, court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees (collectively, “Losses”), arising from or relating to any act or
omission (where Tenant had a duty to act) of Tenant, any other occupant of the Premises, or any of their respective
agents, employees, invitees or contractors in connection with any violation of applicable Requirements, loss of
life, damage or injury to persons, property or business occurring in, about or from the Premises, or directly or
indirectly caused by or in connection with any violation of this Lease or use of the Premises or Building.  Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, Tenant specifically acknowledges that the indemnity undertaking herein
shall also apply to claims in connection with or arising out of any “Tenant’s Work” as performed by or on Tenant’s
behalf (unless the same is performed by Landlord, in which event the indemnity set forth herein shall not apply to
claims in connection with or arising out of Tenant’s Work) as described in Article 3 or Exhibit G, the use or
consumption of any utilities in the Premises under Article 11, any repairs or other work by or for Tenant under
Articles 10 or 11, and Tenant’s transportation, use, storage, maintenance, generation, manufacturing, handling,
disposal, release or discharge of any “Hazardous Materials” as described in Article 5 (whether or not such matters
shall have been theretofore approved by Landlord).

Section 17.02. Indemnification by Landlord.  Except as expressly set forth to the contrary in this
Lease, from and after the date hereof, Landlord shall indemnify and save Tenant and Tenant Parties harmless of
and from all Losses, to the extent caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or Landlord’s
Parties.

Section 17.03. Constructive Eviction.  Except as expressly set forth to the contrary in this Lease,
neither (a) the performance by Landlord, Tenant or others of any decorations, construction, repairs, alterations,
additions or improvements in, to or on the Building, Land of the Premises, nor (b) any damage to the Premises or
to Tenant’s Property, nor any injury to any persons, caused by other tenants or persons in the Building, or by
operations in the construction of any private, public or quasi-public work, or by any other cause, nor (c) any
temporary covering or bricking up of any windows of the Premises for any reason whatsoever including
Landlord’s own acts (but only if required by Requirements), nor any permanent covering or bricking up of any
such windows if required by law, order or regulation of Federal, county, state or municipal authorities or by any
direction pursuant to law or any public officer, nor (d) any inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant or injury to or
interruption of Tenant’s business by reason of any of the events or occurrences referred to in the foregoing
subdivisions (a) through (d) shall constitute an actual or constructive eviction, in whole or in part, or entitle Tenant
to any abatement or diminution of rent, or relieve Tenant of any of its obligations under this Lease, or impose any
liability upon Landlord, or Landlord’s agents.   Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, if
Tenant is unable to access or use the Premises for the ordinary conduct of Tenant’s business due to Landlord’s
performance of capital improvement to the Complex (including the Premises) not arising from Tenant’s default
under this Lease, and such inability to use or access the Premises continues for a period in excess of five (5)
consecutive Business Days, then all Fixed Rent and Tenant’s obligation to pay Tenant’s Projected Share and
Tenant’s Proportionate Share of any increase in Taxes shall be abated on a per diem basis for the period
commencing on the 6th Business Day of such untenantability and ending on the date on which such condition is
remedied.
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Section 17.04. Defense of Actions.  If any claim, action or proceeding is made or brought against
either party, which claim, action or proceeding the other party shall be obligated to indemnify such first party
against pursuant to the terms of this Lease, then, upon demand by the indemnified party, the indemnifying party, at
its sole cost and expense, shall resist or defend such claim, action or proceeding in the indemnified party’s name,
if necessary, by such attorneys as the indemnified party shall approve, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Attorneys for the indemnifying party’s insurer are hereby deemed approved for
purposes of this Section.

Section 17.05. Payments.  All Tenant payments pursuant to this Article shall be paid as Additional
Rent within thirty (30) days following rendition of bills or statements therefor.  The provisions of this Article shall
survive the Expiration Date or sooner termination of the Term.

ARTICLE 18
Surrender

Section 18.01. Condition of Premises.  On the last day of the Term or upon any earlier termination
of this Lease, Tenant shall, at its own expense, vacate and surrender exclusive possession of the Premises to
Landlord broom clean, in as good order, condition and repair as at the Commencement Date (except with respect
to Landlord’s obligations pursuant to the provisions of Article 10 of this Lease, and except for ordinary wear, tear
and damage by fire or other insured casualty), together with all improvements which have been made upon the
Premises (except as otherwise provided for in this Lease, including but not limited to Article 9 above).  Tenant
shall remove from the Premises and the Building all of Tenant’s Property and all personal property and personal
effects of all persons claiming through or under Tenant, including, without limitation, any and all Specialty
Alterations as may be required pursuant to Article 9, but specifically excluding any wiring and cabling installed by
Tenant.   Further, Tenant shall pay Landlord, as Additional Rent, the actual, reasonable, out-of-pocket cost of
repairing all damage to the Premises and the Building occasioned by such removal.  Tenant’s obligations under
this Section shall survive the Term.

Section 18.02. Holdover By Tenant.

(a) Tenant agrees that if possession of the Premises is not surrendered to Landlord on the
Expiration Date or sooner termination of the Term, in addition to any other rights or remedies Landlord may have
hereunder or at law, Tenant shall pay a sum (the “Holdover Rent”) equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) for
each month during the initial ninety (90) days, and to two hundred percent (200%) thereafter, of the aggregate of
Fixed Rent and Additional Rent which was payable under this Lease during the last month of the Term to
Landlord, on account of use and occupancy of the Premises for the term which Tenant holds over in the Premises
after the Expiration Date or sooner termination of the Term.

(b) Except as provided in Section 18.02(a), nothing contained in this Section 18.02 shall be
deemed to permit Tenant to retain possession of the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of this
Lease or to limit Tenant’s payment of the Holdover Rent from and after the Expiration Date, or Landlord’s right to
regain possession of the Premises through summary proceedings, or any other formal court action or lawful
proceeding, and no acceptance by Landlord
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of payments from Tenant after the Expiration Date or sooner termination of this Lease shall be deemed to be other
than on account of the amount to be paid by Tenant in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

Section 18.03. Survival.  Tenant’s obligations under this Article shall survive the Expiration Date
or sooner termination of this Lease.

ARTICLE 19
Assignment, Mortgaging and Subletting

Section 19.01. Landlord’s Consent Required.

(a) Except as otherwise expressly permitted hereunder, Tenant shall not (i) assign or otherwise
transfer this Lease or the Term and estate hereby granted; (ii) sublet the Premises or any part thereof or allow the
same to be used or occupied by or in violation of Article 5 or any other provision of this Lease (including this
Article 19); (iii) mortgage, pledge or encumber this Lease or the Premises or any part thereof in any manner by
reason of any act or omission on the part of Tenant or otherwise (each, a “Transfer”), without in each instance
obtaining the prior written consent of Landlord which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed
if Landlord does not exercise its cancellation, recapture or sublease rights in Section 19.06(b), (c) or (d) below.

(b) For purposes of this Article 19, (i) the transfer of a majority of the issued and outstanding
capital stock of any corporate Tenant, or of a corporate subtenant, or the transfer of a majority of the total interest
or of the partnership or limited liability company interest in any partnership or limited liability company Tenant or
subtenant, however accomplished, whether in a single transaction or in a series of related or unrelated
transactions, or the creation of new stock, partnership interests, or limited liability company interests by which an
aggregate of more than fifty (50%) percent of Tenant’s stock, partnership, or limited liability company interests
shall be vested in a party or parties who are not stockholders or holders of partnership or limited liability company
interests as of the date hereof, shall be deemed a Transfer (it being agreed that for purposes of this Article 19,
references to a “partnership” shall be deemed also to refer to limited liability partnerships, registered limited
liability partnerships and all other similar partnership entities), except that the sale of the capital stock of any
corporate Tenant by the corporate Tenant or by any holder of such stock through the ‘over-the- counter market’ or
through any recognized stock exchange, other than by holders of such stock who are deemed “insiders” within the
meaning of the Securities Exchanges Act of 1934, as amended, shall not be deemed to be a Transfer; (ii) a
takeover agreement of a corporate Tenant shall be deemed a Transfer; (iii) any person or, legal representative of
Tenant, to whom Tenant’s interest under this Lease passes by operation of law, or otherwise, shall be bound by the
provisions of this Article 19; and (iv) a modification, amendment or extension of a sublease shall be deemed a
Transfer.  For the purposes of this Article 19, Tenant acknowledges that it will be liable to pay to Landlord, upon
demand, Landlord’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and reasonable, out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with
reviewing Tenant’s request for a Transfer.
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(c) Landlord’s approval or consent shall not be required with respect to, and the other
foregoing provisions of this Section 19.01 (together with the provisions of Sections 19.05, 19.06 and 19.07) shall
not apply to the following Transfers (a “Permitted Transfer”):

(i) a Transfer that occurs as part of the merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially
all of Tenant’s assets, or the sale of all or substantially all of the ownership interests of Tenant, in either case, in
one transaction or a series of related transactions that is (or are) not principally for the purpose of transferring
Tenant’s interest in this Lease; provided that, in each case, Tenant gives Landlord notice of such transaction not
later than thirty (30) days prior thereto; and provided, further that, the assignee’s tangible net worth, as determined
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and practices or other reasonably acceptable
accounting method accepted by the IRS, consistently applied, is not less than the tangible net worth of Tenant on
the date immediately preceding such Transfer (more than to a de minimis extent).  Tenant shall provide Landlord
with commercially reasonable documentation evidencing such net worth requirements, which documentation shall
be certified as true and correct by the Chief Financial Officer or other similar responsible officer of both Tenant
and the assignee; or

(ii) a Transfer to (including a Transfer that occurs as part of the merger or consolidation
of Tenant with or into) an entity that will, Control, be Controlled by, or be under common Control with, Tenant;
and provided that Tenant gives Landlord not less than thirty (30) days prior notice of such Transfer and, together
with such transaction notice, documentation to Landlord proving the required affiliation between Tenant and such
entity.

Section 19.02. Assumption of Lease by Transferee; No Release of Tenant.  Any Transfer, whether
or not made with Landlord’s consent as required by Section 19.01 hereof, shall be made only if, and shall not be
effective until, the recipient of a Transfer (“Transferee”) executes, acknowledges and delivers to Landlord a
written agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, whereby the Transferee assumes the
obligations and performance of this Lease and agrees to be bound by all of the covenants, agreements, terms,
provisions and conditions of this Lease to be performed or observed by Tenant and whereby the Transferee agrees
that the provisions of Section 19.01 shall, notwithstanding the Transfer, continue to be binding upon it in the
future.   Notwithstanding any Transfer, whether or not in violation of the provisions of this Lease, and
notwithstanding the acceptance of Fixed Rent or Additional Rent by Landlord from a Transferee or any other
party, Tenant shall remain fully and primarily liable for the payment of the Fixed Rent and Additional Rent due
and to become due under this Lease and for the performance of all of the covenants, agreements, terms, provisions
and conditions of this Lease to be performed or observed by Tenant.

Section 19.03. Modifications to Lease after Transfer.   The liability of Tenant for the due
performance by Tenant of this Lease, shall not be discharged, released or impaired in any respect by any
agreement or stipulation made by Landlord with any Transferee, extending the time of or modifying any of the
obligations contained in this Lease, or by any waiver or failure of Landlord to enforce any of the obligations of
this Lease, and Tenant shall continue to be liable under this Lease.  Landlord shall not be required to give any
demand or notice of default to Tenant after a Transfer.  Tenant hereby waives any such demand or notice.
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Section 19.04. No Advertising; No Exclusive Use Violations.   (a) Tenant shall not, without the
prior written consent of Landlord, list or advertise or permit to be listed or advertised, or offered to any broker for
listing or advertisement, all or any part of the Premises at rental rates less than those rates then being offered by
Landlord for other similar space in the Complex.

(b) No Exclusive Use Violations.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this
Lease, Tenant shall not permit any use or occupancy of the Premises, or enter into or effectuate any Transfer of the
Premises whatsoever, which violates any applicable exclusive use restrictions or non-competitor restrictions,
which are applicable to the Building and/or the Complex on the date hereof; and in no event shall Landlord be
deemed (or required) to consent to any such prohibited use or occupancy or any Transfer permitting such use or
occupancy.  Upon Tenant’s written request from time to time, Landlord shall provide a list of current exclusive use
restrictions applicable to the Building and/or the Complex; provided, however, in no event shall the Permitted Use
be deemed to be a prohibited or an excluded use at any time during the Term.  Landlord hereby represents and
warrants to Tenant that there are no exclusive uses at the Complex on the date hereof, except that Tenant hereby
acknowledges that, as of the date of this Lease, Landlord has entered into lease negotiations with General
Reinsurance Corporation (“Gen Re”) and that Landlord may grant to Gen Re certain exclusive use restrictions
relating to the direct re-insurance business.

Section 19.05. Required Documentation.   If Tenant desires to enter into any Transfer which
requires Landlord’s approval hereunder, it shall notify Landlord of such intention before offering the same to any
party either directly or through any broker.  In no event may such an offer be made to an occupant of any part of
the Building nor may such an offer be made to any other prospective Transferee (except pursuant to a Permitted
Transfer) unless, to the best of Tenant’s knowledge, the prospective Transferee has not negotiated with Landlord
for comparable space in the Building within the six (6) month period prior to the time Landlord is first notified of
Tenant’s intention to Transfer unless Landlord was not able to accommodate such party’s space needs in the
Complex.  If a Transfer is thereafter arranged with a permitted Transferee, Tenant shall, at least thirty (30) days
before the proposed date of consummation thereof, notify Landlord thereof and deliver to Landlord:

(a) Reasonably detailed information concerning the nature of the business and the financial
status of the proposed Transferee;

(b) A copy of the proposed sublease or assignment agreement, as the case may be, signed by
the proposed subtenant or assignee and by Tenant, which shall contain all of the substantive terms of the proposed
sublease or assignment, including, if a sublease is involved, the term, the rent, and date of commencement thereof
or, if an assignment is involved, the effective date thereof and the amount of all consideration and to whom
payable; and

(c) Any other related information reasonably required by Landlord.

Section 19.06. Landlord’s Cancellation Rights.   Within the thirty (30) day period described in
Section 19.05 hereof, but only with respect to a proposed Transfer which involves an assignment of this Lease or a
sublease of all or substantially all of the Premises for all or substantially all of the remainder of the Term, in each
case, where Landlord’s approval or consent
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is required hereunder, Landlord shall have the right, exercisable by sending notice to Tenant, to cancel this Lease,
in which event such cancellation shall become effective on the date of the proposed assignment or sublease or the
date specified in Landlord’s notice (but not to exceed 90 days from the date Landlord exercises its right to cancel),
whichever is later, and thereafter, this Lease shall terminate upon such date with the same effect as if that day were
the Expiration Date.

Section 19.07. Profit Sharing.   If Landlord consents to any Transfer (and specifically excluding
Permitted Transfers and those Transfers, which do not require Landlord’s consent under Section 19.01(b)
hereinabove, or are otherwise permitted, without Landlord’s consent, pursuant to the provisions of this Article 19,
and, as to all of which the provisions of Section 19.06 and this Section 19.07 shall not apply), Tenant shall in
consideration therefor pay to Landlord, as Additional Rent a sum equal to fifty percent (50%) of:

(a) any rent or other consideration paid to Tenant (or any affiliate, parent or subsidiary or
principal of Tenant) by any Transferee (or any affiliate, parent, subsidiary or principal of Transferee) (including,
without limitation, rent or consideration paid for furniture, fixtures or leasehold improvements) which is in excess
of the Fixed Rent and Additional Rent then being paid by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to the terms of this Lease
and Tenant’s commercially reasonable costs and expenses incurred in connection with any such Transfer,
including, without limitation, commercially reasonable advertising, brokerage commissions, legal fees,
improvements and all subtenant/assignee concessions (such as free rent and improvement allowances), in each
case, related to the assignment or subletting at issue; and

(b) any other consideration received by Tenant (or any affiliate, parent or subsidiary or
principal of Tenant) from any such Transfer, whether (1) for the sale of this Lease, (2) by way of sale of fixtures or
leasehold improvements, and (3) by way of sale of Tenant’s business (whether through sale of (x) stock or other
equity interests, and/or (y) assets), to the extent that any such consideration is reasonably allocable to the value of
this Lease.  If Landlord and Tenant do not agree as to that portion of the consideration received by Tenant which is
allocable to the value of this Lease, the matter shall be submitted to arbitration in accordance with Article  25
hereof.

The sums payable under this Section 19.07 shall be paid to Landlord as and when paid by the Transferee to
Tenant.  Tenant’s obligations under this Section 19.07 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this
Lease.

Section 19.08. Lease Obligations Control.  Landlord’s consent to any Transfer shall not be deemed
or construed to modify, amend or affect the terms and provisions of this Lease, or Tenant’s obligations hereunder,
which shall continue to apply to all of the occupants of the Premises (including Tenant and the Transferee) in
addition to the terms of the sublease or assignment, and, if and to the extent of a conflict between this Lease and
the sublease or assignment, only as between Landlord, on the one hand, and Tenant and the Transferee, on the
other, this Lease shall be controlling in the same manner as if the Transfer had not been made.  Tenant and any
Transferee may be required, as a condition of Landlord granting its consent to a Transfer for which Landlord’s
approval is required hereunder, to execute and deliver to Landlord Landlord’s Complex-standard form of Landlord
Consent, subject to reasonable comments from Tenant.  Notwithstanding any Transfer, Tenant shall remain fully
liable for the payment of Fixed
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Rent and Additional Rent and for the performance by Tenant of all of its other obligations under this Lease.
 Landlord may collect rent directly from any assignee of Tenant’s interest in this Lease or the Premises.  If Tenant
defaults in the payment of any rent, Landlord is authorized to collect any rents due or accruing from any subtenant
Transferee or other occupant of the Premises and to apply the net amounts collected to the total Rent and
Additional Rent due under this Lease and the receipt of any such amount by Landlord from a Transferee or other
occupant of the Premises, shall not be deemed or construed as releasing Tenant from Tenant’s obligations under
this Lease or the acceptance of that Transferee as a direct Tenant.

Section 19.09. No Further Transfers without Landlord’s Prior Consent.   In each subletting
permitted by this Article 19, and in each further subletting with the consent of Landlord, Tenant shall include, or
cause to be included, in the sublease a provision prohibiting the assignment of the sublease or any further
subletting thereunder without the consent of the Landlord (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed) in each instance obtained in accordance with this Article 19.   If the sublease or any
sublease is assigned or further sublet without the consent of Landlord obtained in each instance (other than
pursuant to a Permitted Transfer), then Tenant shall immediately terminate such sublease, or arrange for the
termination thereof, and proceed expeditiously to have the occupant thereunder dispossessed.

Section 19.10. Landlord’s Failure to Consent.   If Landlord is determined to have unreasonably
withheld its consent to a Transfer, Tenant’s sole remedy as a result thereof shall be the right to have such consent
granted (by injunctive relief and otherwise at law or in equity), and in no event shall Landlord be liable for any
damages as a result of such failure to consent, unless a court of competent jurisdiction determines that Landlord
acted in bad faith, maliciously or capriciously in willful disregard of Tenant’s rights contained in this Lease.  If
Landlord shall fail to respond to Tenant’s request for consent within the 30-day time period set forth in Sections
19.05 and 19.06 above, Tenant may deliver to Landlord a second notice, which shall have the following written at
the top thereof in bold-faced capitalized letters —“THIS IS TENANT’S SECOND NOTICE REQUESTING
LANDLORD’S APPROVAL.   LANDLORD’S FAILURE TO RESPOND TO THIS NOTICE WITHIN 5
BUSINESS DAYS SHALL BE DEEMED LANDLORD’S APPROVAL”— and if Landlord fails to respond
thereto within five (5) Business Days, Landlord shall be deemed to have approved the proposed Transfer.

ARTICLE 20
Subordination and Attornment

Section 20.01. Subordination; Nondisturbance Agreement.

(a) This Lease shall be subject and subordinate to the interests of any lessor under a Superior
Lease (herein, a “Lessor”) and/or to the lien or encumbrance of any trustee, mortgagee or holder of a Superior
Mortgage (herein, a “Mortgagee”), as well as any and all common interest ownership and/or condominium
documents now or hereafter affecting the Complex.  This clause shall be self-operative and no further instrument
of subordination shall be required from Tenant to make the interest of any Lessor or Mortgagee or holder of a
common interest ownership interest (herein, a “Holder”) superior to the interest of Tenant hereunder.   Tenant,
however, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, shall execute and deliver promptly any commercially reasonable
agreement that Landlord or any Lessor or Mortgagee or Holder may
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request in confirmation of such subordination so long as any such agreement contains commercially reasonable
attornment and non-disturbance provisions with respect to Tenant’s tenancy.

(b) If required by the Mortgagee, Lessor or Holder, within ten (10) Business Days after notice
thereof, Tenant shall join in any commercially reasonable agreement to indicate its concurrence with the
provisions thereof and its agreement set forth in Section 20.02 hereof to attorn to such Mortgagee or Lessor or
Holder, as the case may be, as Tenant’s landlord hereunder.  Tenant shall promptly so accept, execute and deliver
any said commercially reasonable agreement proposed by any such Mortgagee or Lessor or Holder, subject to any
reasonable comments by Tenant thereto.

Section 20.02. Attornment.  Subject in any event to the terms of any agreement between Tenant and
the Mortgagee or Holder, if at any time prior to the expiration of the Term, any Superior Lease shall terminate or
be terminated for any reason or any Mortgagee or Holder comes into possession of the Land, Complex or the
Building or the estate created by any Superior Lease by receiver or otherwise, Tenant agrees, at the election and
upon demand of any owner of the Land, Complex or the Building, or of the Lessor, or Holder, or of any
Mortgagee in possession of the Land, Complex or the Building, to attorn, from time to time, to any such owner,
Lessor, Holder or Mortgagee or any party acquiring the interest of Landlord as a result of any such termination, or
as a result of a foreclosure of the Mortgage or the granting of a deed in lieu of foreclosure, then upon the
executory terms and conditions of this Lease, subject to the provisions of Section 20.01 hereof, for the remainder
of the Term, provided that such owner, Lessor, Holder or Mortgagee, as the case may be, or receiver caused to be
appointed by any of the foregoing, shall then be entitled to possession of the Premises.  The provisions of this
Section 20.02 shall inure to the benefit of any such owner, Lessor, Holder or Mortgagee, and shall apply
notwithstanding that, as a matter of law, this Lease may terminate upon the termination of any Superior Lease, and
shall be self-operative upon any such demand, and no further instrument shall be required to give effect to said
provisions.   Tenant, however, promptly after demand of any such owner, Lessor, Holder or Mortgagee, shall
execute, at Tenant’s expense (except that Landlord shall be responsible to pay any costs or expenses imposed or
incurred by such owner, Lessor, Holder or Mortgagee), from time to time, commercially reasonable instruments,
in recordable form, in confirmation of the foregoing provisions of this Section 20.02, reasonably satisfactory to
any such owner, Lessor, Holder or Mortgagee and Tenant in each instance, acknowledging such attornment and
setting forth the terms and conditions of its tenancy.  Nothing contained in this Section 20.02 shall be construed to
impair any right otherwise exercisable by any such owner, Lessor, Holder or Mortgagee or to modify any
agreement between Tenant and such owner, Lessor, Holder or Mortgagee.

Section 20.03. Lease Modification.  Tenant agrees to execute and deliver to Landlord within thirty
(30) days after written notice any commercially reasonable modifications of this Lease required by the holder or
potential holder of a Superior Mortgage provided that no such modification shall adversely affect Tenant’s rights
or obligations hereunder (or increase, other than to a de minimis extent, the rights of Landlord hereunder, or
decrease, other than to a de minimis extent, the obligations of Landlord hereunder), including without limitation,
that such modifications shall not affect the Term, amount of Fixed or Additional Rent payable hereunder or any
other monetary obligations of Tenant set forth herein.
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Section 20.04. SNDA.   Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 20,
Landlord shall obtain from any future Lessor, Holder or Mortgagee and deliver to Tenant, a subordination, non-
disturbance and attornment agreement in such Lessor, Holder or Mortgagee’s standard form (an “SNDA”)
recognizing Tenant’s tenancy hereunder as long as Tenant is not in default of any of its Lease obligations beyond
any applicable notice and cure periods, which form shall be subject to commercially reasonable comment by
Landlord and Tenant.   In the event that Tenant shall propose or negotiate any changes to the standard form of
SNDA from Landlord’s future Mortgagees, Lessors, or Holders, Tenant shall be responsible to pay, as Additional
Rent, any attorneys’ fees and costs directly relating to such changes.  Any attorneys’ fees or costs so charged to
Tenant shall not exceed $1,500.00 for any single transaction.   Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that
there are no Mortgagees, Lessors, or Holders having an interest in the Premises, Building or Complex on the
Effective Date.

Section 20.05. Condominium Conversion.   Tenant acknowledges that the Land and the Building
may be subjected to a condominium form of ownership prior to the end of the Term of this Lease.  Subject to
Tenant’s receipt of a commercially reasonable subordination and non-disturbance agreement from the board of
managers or unit owner(s) of any such future condominium, providing inter alia that Tenant agrees that if, at any
time during the Term of this Lease, the Landlord and the Building shall be subjected to a new condominium form
of ownership, then, this Lease and all rights of Tenant hereunder are and shall be subordinate in all respects to any
condominium declaration and any other documents (collectively, the “Condominium  Documents”) which shall be
recorded in order to convert the Land and the Building to a condominium form of ownership in accordance with
the applicable Requirements.  If any such Declaration is to be recorded, Tenant, upon request of Landlord, shall
enter into an amendment of this Lease in such respects as may be reasonably necessary to conform to such
condominiumization, including, without limitation, appropriate adjustments to the Base Taxes, the Base Expenses,
and Tenant’s Proportionate Share; provided, however, that no such adjustments shall increase Tenant’s payments
(including, without limitation, with respect to Additional Rent payable under Article 6) above such payments that
Tenant would have incurred had such condominium conversion not occurred, and provided further, that Tenant’s
rights and obligations under the Lease shall not be affected (except to a de minimis extent) and the services
provided to Tenant shall not be diminished.   Nothing in the conversion process or associated documents shall
reduce the obligations of Landlord (except to a de minimis extent) (including, without limitation, the obligations
of Landlord to provide the services that Landlord is obligated to provide to Tenant under this Lease), and Landlord
shall reimburse Tenant for its reasonable and actual out-of-pocket legal fees and disbursements in connection with
(i) any amendment of this Lease required in connection with this Section 20.05 and (ii) the Condominium Non-
Disturbance Agreement.

ARTICLE 21
Access; Change in Facilities

Section 21.01. Changes in Facilities.  Landlord reserves the right, at any time, without incurring
any liability to Tenant therefor, to make such changes in or to the Building or Complex and their fixtures and
equipment, as well as in the entrances, passageways, halls, doors, doorways, corridors, elevators, escalators, stairs,
toilets and other public parts of the Building or Complex, as it may deem reasonably necessary or desirable,
provided that (i) the same shall not (other than to a de minimis extent)adversely affect Tenant’s use of or access to
the Building or
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Premises for the purposes permitted by this Lease, (ii) Landlord shall endeavor to provide Tenant with reasonable
advance notice with respect to any such changes, and (iii) Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
minimize interference with Tenant’s use of or access to the Premises.

Section 21.02. Installation.  Tenant shall permit Landlord to install, use and maintain pipes, ducts
and conduits within or through the demising walls of the Premises, or through the walls, columns and ceilings
therein, provided that the installation work shall be performed at such times and by such methods as will not
reduce the usable office space in the Premises or unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s use and occupancy of the
Premises.

Section 21.03. Access.  Landlord or Landlord’s agents shall have the right to enter the Premises
during normal business hours, upon reasonable prior notice to Tenant (at least 24 hours’ notice, except in the event
of an emergency, in which case no notice shall be required), for any of the purposes specified in this Article,
including, without limitation: (a) to examine the Premises or for the purpose of performing any obligation of
Landlord or exercising any right or remedy reserved to Landlord in this Lease; (b) to exhibit the Premises to a
prospective tenant (during the last twelve (12) months of the Term), purchaser, mortgagee, ground Landlord of the
Building at any time, or to others during the last twelve (12) months of the Term; (c) to make such repairs,
alterations, improvements or additions or to perform such maintenance, including the maintenance of all air
conditioning, elevator, plumbing, electrical, sanitary, mechanical and other service or utility systems as Landlord
may deem reasonably necessary or desirable; and (d) to take all materials into and upon the Premises that may be
required in connection with any such repairs, alterations, improvements, additions or maintenance, provided
Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that such materials do not unreasonably interfere
with the conduct of Tenant’s business therein. Except in the case of an emergency, such access shall be during
business hours, in the company of a designated Tenant representative (provided Tenant makes same available),
and conducted in such a way as to reasonably minimize disruption to Tenant’s business.

Section 21.04. Constructive Eviction.  The exercise of any right reserved to Landlord in this Article
shall not constitute an actual or constructive eviction, in whole or in part, or entitle Tenant to any abatement or
diminution of rent, or relieve Tenant from any of its obligations under this Lease or impose any liability upon
Landlord or Landlord’s agents, or upon the Holder of a Superior Mortgage.

ARTICLE 22
Inability to Perform

Section 22.01. Inability to Perform.  Except as expressly set forth in this Lease, this Lease and the
obligations of Tenant to pay Fixed Rent and Additional Rent and to perform all of the terms, covenants and
conditions on the part of Tenant to be performed shall in no way be affected, impaired or excused because
Landlord, due to Unavoidable Delay, is (a) unable to fulfill any of its obligations under this Lease, or (b) unable to
supply or delayed in supplying any service expressly or impliedly to be supplied, or (c) unable to make or delayed
in making any repairs, replacements, additions, alterations or decorations, or (d) unable to supply or delayed in
supplying any equipment or fixtures.   Landlord shall in each instance exercise reasonable diligence to effect
performance when and as soon as is commercially reasonable under the circumstances.
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Section 22.02. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, except with respect to
any monetary payments hereunder, neither Landlord nor Tenant shall be liable for any delays and other events
beyond the reasonable control of such party (including, without limitation, Unavoidable Delays), and the period of
any such delay shall be deemed added to the time provided for the performance of any obligation by such party.

ARTICLE 23
Waiver

Section 23.01. Trial by Jury.   To the extent permitted by applicable law, Landlord and Tenant
hereby waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by either against the other on any
matter arising out of or in any way connected with this Lease, the relationship of Landlord and Tenant, or Tenant’s
use or occupancy of the Premises, any claim of injury or damage, or any emergency or other statutory remedy
with respect thereto.

Section 23.02. Survival.  The provisions of this Article shall survive the expiration or any sooner
termination of this Lease.

ARTICLE 24
No Other Waiver

Section 24.01. No Waiver.  The failure of either party to insist in any one or more instances upon
the strict performance of any one or more of the agreements, terms, covenants, conditions or obligations of this
Lease, or to exercise any right, remedy or election herein contained, shall not be construed as a waiver or
relinquishment for the future of the performance of such one or more obligations of this Lease or of the right to
exercise such election, but the same shall continue and remain in full force and effect with respect to any
subsequent breach, act or omission whether of a similar nature or otherwise.

Section 24.02. Specific Examples.  The following specific provisions of this Section shall not be
deemed to limit the generality of the foregoing provisions of this Article:

(a) No agreement to accept a surrender of all or any part of the Premises shall be valid unless in
writing and signed by Landlord.  No delivery of keys shall operate as a termination of this Lease or a surrender of
the Premises.

(b) The receipt or acceptance by Landlord of rents with knowledge of breach by Tenant of any
term, covenant or condition of this Lease shall not be deemed a waiver of such breach.

(c) No payment by Tenant or receipt by Landlord of a lesser amount than the correct Fixed
Rent or Additional Rent shall be deemed to be other than a payment on account, nor shall any endorsement or
statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment be deemed to effect or evidence an
accord and satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord’s right to
recover the balance or pursue any other remedy in this Lease or at law provided.
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ARTICLE 25
Arbitration

Section 25.01. Procedures.  The parties hereto shall not be deemed to have agreed to determination
of any dispute arising out of this Lease by arbitration unless determination in such manner shall have been
specifically and unequivocally provided for in this Lease.  Any arbitration applicable under this Lease shall be
final and binding on the parties and shall be conducted in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration
Association then pertaining, in the City; provided, however, that it shall be conducted by a sole arbitrator, sitting
on successive days, who shall determine the allocation of costs of such arbitration proceeding.  The prevailing
party shall also be entitled to interest on the amount of the award, if any, at the Default Rate.  Landlord and Tenant
shall, during the pendency of any such arbitration proceeding, continue to perform their obligations hereunder
(without prejudice to their respective positions), including without limitation, with respect to Tenant, the timely
payment of all items of Fixed Rent and Additional Rent.   Any arbitrator acting under this Section 25.01 in
connection with any matter shall (a) be experienced in the field to which the dispute relates, (b) have been actively
engaged in such field for a period of at least ten (10) years before the date of his or her appointment as arbitrator
hereunder, (c) be sworn fairly and impartially to perform his or her respective duties as an arbitrator, (d) not be an
employee or past employee of Landlord or Tenant or of any affiliate of Tenant or of Landlord and (e) never have
represented or been retained for any reason whatsoever by Landlord or Tenant or any affiliate of Tenant or of
Landlord (unless both Landlord and Tenant waive the requirement set forth in this clause (e) in writing).  If the
parties are unable to agree on the sole arbitrator within ten (10) Business Days after submission of a dispute to
arbitration, then each party shall, within five (5) Business Days after expiration of such ten (10) Business Day
period, select an arbitrator satisfying the foregoing requirements and the two selected arbitrators shall jointly
select the sole arbitrator within five (5) Business Days after their appointment.  The obligations of Landlord and
Tenant under the provisions of this Article 25 shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Term.

ARTICLE 26
Quiet Enjoyment

Section 26.01. Covenant.  Landlord covenants and agrees that so long as Tenant is not in default
beyond any applicable notice or cure period in paying all Fixed Rent and Additional Rent and all other charges
herein provided for and upon observing and keeping all the material covenants, agreements and provisions of this
Lease on its part to be observed and kept, Tenant shall quietly hold and enjoy the Premises during the Term of this
Lease without hindrance or molestation by or from any party claiming by, through or under Landlord, subject to
the terms of this Lease.  Tenant shall be entitled to access to the Premises 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 365
days per year, subject to the provisions of this Lease.

ARTICLE 27
Rules and Regulations

Section 27.01. Compliance.   Tenant, its servants, employees, agents, visitors, invitees, and
licensees shall observe and comply with, and shall not permit violation of, the Rules and Regulations annexed
hereto as Exhibit C, and such reasonable changes therein applicable
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uniformly to all similarly situated tenants in the Complex and their invitees, licensees, agents and employees
(whether by modification, elimination or addition) as Landlord hereafter may make and communicate in writing to
Tenant (“Rules and Regulations”) upon reasonable prior notice.  If there shall be any inconsistency between the
terms set forth in the body of this Lease and the Rules and Regulations, the terms set forth in the body of this
Lease shall govern and control.

Section 27.02. Enforcement.  The manner of enforcement or the failure of Landlord to enforce any
of the Rules and Regulations against Tenant and/or any other tenant in the Complex shall not be deemed a waiver
of any such Rules and Regulations, and Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for violation of the same by any
other tenant, its employees, agents, visitors or licensees except that Landlord shall not enforce any Rule or
Regulation against Tenant which shall not be generally applicable to all other similarly situated office tenants in
the Complex (other than Landlord or its affiliates).  Landlord shall not enforce the Rules and Regulations in a bad
faith, discriminatory manner.

ARTICLE 28
Shoring

Section 28.01. Access to the Premises.  If an excavation or other substructure shall be undertaken
or authorized upon land adjacent to the Building or in subsurface space, Tenant, without liability on the part of
Landlord therefor, shall afford to the person causing or authorized to cause such excavation or other substructure
work license to enter upon the Premises for the purpose of doing such work as such person shall deem necessary
to protect or preserve any of the walls or structures of the Building or surrounding land from injury or damage and
to support the same by proper foundations, pinning and/or underpinning, and, except in case of emergency,
Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to have such entry accomplished during reasonable hours and within a
reasonable time in the presence of a representative of Tenant, who shall be designated by Tenant promptly upon
Landlord’s request.  The said license to enter shall not constitute an actual or constructive eviction, in whole or in
part, or entitle Tenant to any abatement or diminution of rent, or relieve Tenant from any of its obligations under
this Lease, except as provided in Article 11 or 22 or impose any liability upon Landlord or Landlord’s agents.
 Landlord shall exercise its rights under this Article in a manner that will not unreasonably interfere with Tenant’s
use of the Premises or Tenant’s operation in the Premises.

ARTICLE 29
Notice of Accidents

Section 29.01. Notice.  Tenant shall give prompt notice to Landlord of: (a) any accident in or about
the Premises; (b) any fire or casualty in the Premises; (c) any and all damages to or defects in the Premises
including the fixtures, equipment and appurtenances thereof, for the repair of which Landlord might be
responsible or which constitutes Landlord’s Property; and (d) all damage to or defects in any parts or
appurtenances of the Building’s air conditioning, elevator, plumbing, electrical, sanitary, mechanical or other
service or utility systems located in or passing through the Premises, provided same are known to or manifestly
apparent to Tenant, with no obligation of Tenant to inspect the same.
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ARTICLE 30
Brokerage

Section 30.01. Representation; Payment.  Landlord and Tenant each represent to the other that in
the negotiation of this Lease it has not dealt with any real estate broker, other than Cushman & Wakefield of
Connecticut, Inc., and George Comfort & Sons, Inc. (collectively, “Broker”).   Each party hereby agrees to
indemnify, defend and hold the other harmless from any and all liabilities, losses, damages, third party claims and
expenses arising out of any inaccuracy or alleged inaccuracy of the above representation, including court costs
and reasonable attorneys’ fees.  Landlord shall pay Broker pursuant to a separate commission agreement(s) and
Landlord shall and does hereby indemnify, defend and hold Tenant harmless from any and all liabilities, losses,
damages, claims and expenses for any failure to pay such brokerage commissions to Broker.  Landlord shall have
no liability for brokerage commissions arising out of a sublease or assignment by Tenant and Tenant shall and
does hereby indemnify, defend and hold Landlord harmless from any and all liabilities, losses, damages, claims
and expenses for any actual or claimed brokerage commissions arising out of any such sublease or assignment.
 The indemnities in this Section shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease.

ARTICLE 31
Window Cleaning

Section 31.01. Consent; Indemnity.  Tenant will not require, permit, suffer or allow the cleaning of
any window in the Premises from the outside without Landlord’s prior written consent and unless the equipment
and safety devices required by law, ordinance, rules and regulations are provided and used, and Tenant hereby
agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Landlord and Landlord’s agents for all liabilities, losses, damages,
third party claims, expenses or fines suffered by them as a result of Tenant’s requiring, permitting, suffering or
allowing any window in the Premises to be cleaned from the outside by Tenant’s contractor or in violation of the
requirements of the aforesaid laws, ordinances, regulations and rules.

ARTICLE 32
Notices

Section 32.01. Method; Address.  All notices, demands or communications given under this Lease
shall be in writing and shall be sent to the addresses first set forth in the introductory paragraph above or at such
other addresses as the parties may respectively designate from time to time by written notice, and shall be by
prepaid registered or certified U.S. mail, return receipt requested, or by a recognized commercial overnight
courier, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, and shall be deemed given on the date received.  Copies of each
notice to Landlord shall (until further notice) also be sent to Landlord’s address set forth in the preamble to this
Lease to the attention of Peter S. Duncan.  Copies of each notice to Tenant shall (until further notice) be sent prior
to the Commencement Date to: Cara Therapeutics, Inc., 4 Stamford Plaza, 107 Elm Street, 9th Floor, Stamford,
Connecticut 06902, Attn: Chief Financial Officer, and thereafter to the Premises, or at any place where Tenant or
any agent or employee of Tenant may be found if mailed subsequent to Tenant’s vacating, deserting, abandoning
or surrendering the Premises.  Copies of each notice to Tenant shall (until further notice) also be sent to Wiggin
and Dana LLP, One Century Tower, 265 Church Street, New Haven, CT 06510-7001, Attention: Elliot G. Kaiman,
Esq.  Notice
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sent by the parties’ respective counsel in accordance with this Section shall be deemed valid notices.

ARTICLE 33
Estoppel Certificate; Memorandum

Section 33.01. Estoppel.  At any time and from time to time within seven (7) Business Days after
written notice by Landlord or Tenant, the other party shall execute, acknowledge and deliver to the requesting
party a statement in writing in a form provided by such requesting party certifying that: (a) this Lease is
unmodified and in full force and effect (or if there have been modifications, that same is in full force and effect as
modified and stating the modifications), (b) the dates to which the Fixed Rent and Additional Rent have been paid,
(c) whether there are any offsets then known to Tenant’s obligation to pay rent thereunder and describing them, if
any, and (d) stating whether or not to the knowledge of certifying party, the requesting party is in default in
performance of any term, covenant or condition contained in this Lease and, if so, specifying each such default of
which such party may have knowledge, and any other commercially reasonable information concerning this Lease
that may be reasonably requested; it being intended that any such statement delivered pursuant hereto may be
relied upon by any prospective purchaser of the Land and/or the Complex and/or the Building or any part thereof
or of the interest of Landlord in any part thereof, by any mortgagee or prospective mortgagee thereof, or by any
Landlord or prospective Landlord thereof or by any lender of Tenant.  If either party fails to deliver the certificate
within the seven (7) Business Day period described above, then the requesting party may deliver a second written
notice requesting such certificate.  Failure to deliver the certificate within three (3) Business Days after receipt of
such second written notice shall be conclusive evidence from the party from whom such certificate has been
requested that this Lease is in full force and effect and has not been modified and that the requesting party is not in
default of any term, covenant or condition contained in this Lease.

Section 33.02. Memorandum of Lease.   The parties hereto agree that this Lease shall not be
recorded, except that a memorandum of this Lease, prepared in a form reasonably satisfactory to the parties, may
be recorded by Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, provided that Tenant concurrently therewith executes
and delivers to Landlord a Release of Notice of Lease (in Landlord’s standard form) which only shall be recorded
by Landlord following the expiration or sooner termination of the Term.  Tenant shall not otherwise record (or
cause to be recorded) this Lease or any terms, portions of or references to this Lease.

ARTICLE 34
Security Deposit

Section 34.01. Security Deposit.

(a) Within ten (10) Business Days after Tenant’s execution and delivery of this Lease, Tenant
shall deliver to Landlord a clean, irrevocable and unconditional standby letter of credit, substantially in the form
of Exhibit I attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Letter of Credit” with any changes to such form being
reasonably acceptable to Landlord), issued by a reputable banking institution reasonably acceptable to Landlord.
  The Letter of Credit shall be in favor of Landlord, and shall be in the amount of ONE MILLION FIVE
HUNDRED THOUSAND
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AND 00/100 DOLLARS ($1,500,000.00) (the “Security Deposit”), and shall serve as security for the faithful
performance and observance by Tenant of all of the terms, conditions and provisions of this Lease.  The Letter of
Credit shall have a term which expires no earlier than the date which is sixty (60) days following the Expiration
Date; alternatively, Tenant may deliver a one (1) year clean, irrevocable and unconditional standby Letter of
Credit in the form of Exhibit I, which by its express terms, automatically extends for the remainder of the Term,
plus sixty (60) days.  The Letter of Credit must also, by its express terms, allow Landlord to either: (i) present
same at a bank branch located in New York County, New York or in Fairfield County, Connecticut; or (ii) present
same directly by facsimile or electronic or PDF transmission to the issuing bank’s branch located outside of such
New York County or Fairfield County areas.

(b) It is agreed that in the event Tenant defaults beyond any applicable notice and/or cure
period with respect to any of the terms, provisions and conditions of this Lease, including, without limitation, the
payment of Fixed Rent or Additional Rent (or Tenant has a filing, voluntarily or involuntarily, under any state or
federal bankruptcy laws), then Landlord may use, apply or retain the whole or any part of the security so
deposited to the extent required for the payment of any Fixed Rent or Additional Rent or any other sum as to
which Tenant is so in default or for any sum which Landlord may expend or may be required to expend by reason
of Tenant’s default in respect of any of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease, including, without
limitation, any damages or deficiency in the reletting of the Premises, whether such damages or deficiency
accrued before or after summary proceedings or other re-entry by Landlord.  Landlord shall also have the right to
draw down the entire amount of the Letter of Credit in the event that Landlord receives notice that the date of
expiry of the Letter of Credit will not be extended by the issuing bank, unless Tenant provides to Landlord a
replacement Letter of Credit meeting all of the criteria hereunder for the original Letter of Credit (including the
issuing bank being reasonably acceptable to Landlord) at least ten (10) Business Days before the expiry date of
the original Letter of Credit.  Neither the amount of the Security Deposit nor any portion thereof applied to cure
any default or reimburse Landlord for any costs or damages shall be construed as liquidated damages or shall be
deemed to limit any damages for which Landlord has a right to recover or otherwise to limit any right or remedy
of Landlord at law or in equity.  Tenant further covenants that it shall not assign or encumber or attempt to assign
or encumber the monies or the Letter of Credit deposited herein as security and that neither Landlord nor its
successors or assigns shall be bound be any such assignment, encumbrance, attempted assignment or attempted
encumbrance.

(c) If Landlord applies or retains any part of the proceeds of the Letter of Credit deposited by
Tenant, Tenant, within ten (10) days after demand, shall deposit with Landlord or its designee the amount so
applied or retained, so that Landlord or its designee shall have the full deposit as required hereunder.  Tenant’s
failure to do so within ten (10) days of receipt of such demand shall constitute a default under this Lease.
  Landlord shall not be required to exhaust its remedies against Tenant before having recourse to the Letter of
Credit or such cash security held by Landlord.  Recourse by Landlord to the Letter of Credit or such cash security
shall not affect any rights or remedies of Landlord which are provided in this Lease, or which are available to
Landlord at law or in equity.  Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section, if the claims of Landlord exceed the
Letter of Credit, Tenant will remain liable for the balance of such claims.  Landlord shall have the right to deliver
the Letter of Credit to the transferee of Landlord’s interest in the Premises in the event such interest is assigned or
transferred, and at the time Landlord shall be discharged from further liability with respect to said Letter of Credit.
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(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 34.01, provided Tenant
is not then in default of its Lease obligations beyond any applicable notice and cure period, the aggregate amount
of the Letter of Credit face amount shall be reduced by $500,000.00 on the first (1st) anniversary of the Rent
Commencement Date; and further reduced by $500,000.00 on the second (2nd) anniversary of the Rent
Commencement Date, leaving a final Security Deposit balance, if all such reductions are applicable, of $500,000.
 If Tenant is entitled to a reduction in the Letter of Credit face amount as provided in this Section, then Landlord
shall reasonably cooperate with Tenant and the issuing bank, at no cost to Landlord, to reduce the face amount of
the Letter of Credit accordingly and to cause the issuing bank to return to Tenant any excess cash or cash
equivalents held by the issuing bank in connection with the Letter of Credit.

ARTICLE 35
Parties Bound

Section 35.01. Successors and Assigns.   The terms, covenants and conditions contained in this
Lease shall bind and benefit the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns with the same effect as
if mentioned in each instance where a party is named or referred to, except that no violation of the provisions of
Article 19 shall operate to vest any rights in any successor or assignee or occupant of Tenant and that the
provisions of this Article shall not be construed as modifying the conditions of limitation contained in Article 14.

Section 35.02. Transfer By Landlord.  The obligations of Landlord thereafter accruing under this
Lease shall not be binding upon Landlord named herein after the sale, assignment or transfer (including, without
limitation, pursuant to a foreclosure of a Superior Mortgage or a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure) by Landlord named
herein (or upon any subsequent Landlord after the sale, assignment or transfer by such subsequent Landlord) of its
interest in the Building as owner or Tenant, and in the event of such sale, assignment or transfer, such obligations
shall thereafter be binding upon the grantee, assignee or other transferee of such interest that executes an
agreement assuming Landlord’s obligations under this Lease arising following the Transfer.   The foregoing
notwithstanding, the provisions of Article 20 shall apply in the event of a transfer pursuant to a foreclosure of a
Superior Mortgage.  A lease of Landlord’s entire interest in the Building shall be deemed a transfer for the purpose
of this Section.

Section 35.03. Nonrecourse Obligation.   Tenant shall look solely to the estate and property of
Landlord’s Interest in the Land, Building and Complex for the satisfaction of Tenant’s remedies, for the collection
of a judgment (or other judicial process) requiring the payment of money by Landlord in the event of any default
or breach by Landlord with respect to any of the terms, covenants and conditions of this Lease to be observed
and/or performed by Landlord, and no property or assets of any general or limited partner, member, partner,
manager, shareholder or officer of such Landlord shall be subject to levy, execution or other enforcement
procedure for the satisfaction of Tenant’s remedies.   “Landlord’s Interest in the Land, Building and Complex”
shall include rents due from tenants, insurance proceeds and proceeds from the sale of the Land, Building and
Complex.
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ARTICLE 36
Right of First Offer

Section 36.01. Following the expiration of any present leases, occupancies, renewals or options
existing as of the Effective Date with respect thereto, unless this Lease is sooner terminated, Tenant shall have a
one-time right of first offer (the “Right of First Offer”) to lease those certain portions of office space located on
the fifth (5th) floor of the Building not originally leased to Tenant under this Lease (which spaces are outlined on
Exhibit A hereto and are hereafter referred to as the “Option Space”), subject to the following terms and
conditions:

(a) If, following Landlord’s initial lease-up of same, all or any portion of such Option Space
becomes vacant and/or available for leasing to the general public, and Landlord desires to lease same, before
leasing all or a portion of such Option Space to any third party, Landlord shall deliver a written notice to Tenant
specifying the portion of the Option Space available and the fair market terms and conditions of Landlord’s
proposed leasing of such Option Space, which terms and conditions shall be determined by Landlord in its sole
but good faith, reasonable judgment.  For purposes of clarification, provided there are not then less than three (3)
Lease Years then remaining in the Lease Term, the duration of the leasing of the Option Space shall be co-
terminus with the then remaining Lease Term.

(b) Tenant shall thereafter have ten (10) Business Days in which to accept (on the same terms
and conditions as Landlord’s offer) or challenge such offer, any acceptance or challenge to be pursuant to a written
notice delivered to Landlord, within such ten (10) Business Day period, time being of the essence, with Tenant’s
rejection or failure to so accept or challenge such offer within such ten (10) Business Day period being deemed a
waiver of its Right of First Offer, notwithstanding any principles of law or equity to the contrary.

(c) The annual Fixed Rent with respect to the applicable Option Space shall be the annual fair
market rental rate for such Option Space, which shall mean the fixed annual rent that a willing lessee would pay
and a willing lessor would then accept for the applicable Option Space, taking into account all relevant market
factors.  If Tenant challenges Landlord’s determination of fair market rental, and Landlord and Tenant fail to agree
as to the amount thereof within ten (10) Business Days after the giving of Tenant’s notice, then the dispute shall be
resolved by binding arbitration in the same manner as a dispute involving the annual fair market rental rate
pursuant to Section 2.05(g) herein.

(d) If Tenant rejects such offer or fails to so accept or challenge the same as herein required,
within such ten (10) Business Day period, then Landlord shall be free to lease the applicable Option Space to any
party on whatever terms and conditions Landlord desires and Tenant’s Right of First Offer with respect to the
applicable Option Space shall be of no further force or effect.

(e) If Tenant validly exercises the Right of First Offer as provided herein, Tenant shall lease
such Option Space on the terms and conditions stipulated in such offer, but otherwise on the terms and conditions
as are applicable under this Lease (including that Tenant’s leasing of the Option Space shall be for a term that is
co-terminus with the then remaining Term, provided, however, there is then not less than three (3) Lease Years
remaining in such Term).  The
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parties shall, at Landlord’s request, execute and deliver a new lease for such Option Space with the same terms
and conditions of this Lease, or such other documentation (such as an amendment to this Lease) as Landlord
reasonably requires in order to confirm the leasing of such Option Space to Tenant, but an otherwise valid exercise
of the Right of First Offer contained herein shall be fully effective, whether or not such confirmatory
documentation is executed and delivered.

(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, Tenant’s Right of First
Offer is subject to all of the following conditions: (i) as of the date of Landlord’s offer (and as of the date of
Tenant’s acceptance of Landlord’s offer), this Lease must be in full force and effect and no default shall have
occurred and be continuing; (ii) as of the date of Landlord’s offer, Tenant must be in occupancy of all of the
Premises as then demised under this Lease; (iii) such Right of First Offer shall apply only during the period(s) set
forth herein, and then only with respect to the entire Option Space as offered by Landlord, and may not be
exercised with respect to only a portion of such offered space or on varying terms; (iv) such Right of First Offer is
personal to the named Tenant herein only (i.e., Cara Therapeutics, Inc.), and may not be transferred to any other
party under any circumstances whatsoever; and (v) such Right of First Offer is subject and subordinate to the
tenancies, rights and options of other parties (if any) predating this Lease, including, without limitation, any
present or future negotiated or exercised renewals, extensions or expansions with respect thereto; provided that
Landlord may not amend any lease in effect as of the date of this Lease to include rights superior to Tenant’s Right
of First Offer as it relates to the Option Space.

ARTICLE 37
Amenities

Section 37.01. Amenities.   Except as may be otherwise required by governmental order or
Unavoidable Delays, (a) on all Business Days from and after the Commencement Date through and including the
Expiration Date, Landlord shall cause the cafeteria at the Complex to be open, and (b) throughout the Term,
Landlord shall cause a commercially reasonable outdoor terrace, fitness center and conference center at the
Complex to be open, in each case with access granted to Tenant and Tenant’s employees on a no more restricted
basis than any other tenants of the Complex.

ARTICLE 38
Entire Agreement; No Other Representations; Governing Law; Separability

Section 38.01. Governing Law; Etc.  This Lease shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the
State of Connecticut.  The parties hereto hereby consent to the non-exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the State
of Connecticut, as well as the Federal District Courts of Connecticut, in connection with adjudicating any cases,
claims, suits, proceedings or disputes under this Lease, except for those disputes specifically reserved for
arbitration pursuant to Article 25 hereof.

Section 38.02. No Representations.   Tenant expressly acknowledges that neither Landlord nor
Landlord’s agents has made or is making, and Tenant, in executing and delivering this Lease, is not relying upon
any warranties, representations, promises or statements, except to the extent that the same are expressly set forth
in this Lease, and no rights, easements or licenses
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are or shall be acquired by Tenant by implication or otherwise unless expressly set forth in this Lease.

Section 38.03. Separability.  Each covenant and agreement in this Lease shall be construed to be a
separate and independent covenant and agreement and the breach of any such covenant or agreement by Landlord
shall not discharge or relieve Tenant from Tenant’s obligations to perform every covenant and agreement of this
Lease to be performed by Tenant.  If any term or provision of this Lease or any application thereof shall be invalid
or unenforceable, the remainder of this Lease and any other application of such term shall not be affected thereby.

Section 38.04. Entire Agreement.  This Lease contains the entire agreement between the parties and
all prior negotiations and agreements are merged in this Lease.   This Lease may not be changed, modified or
discharged, in whole or in part, except by a written instrument executed by the parties hereto or their respective
permitted successors in interest.

Section 38.05. Authorization.  Each party represents and warrants to the other that the execution
and delivery of this Lease has been duly authorized and that the officers executing this Lease on behalf of both
parties have been duly authorized to do so and that no other action or approval is required with respect to this
transaction.

Section 38.06. Survival.  All unsatisfied or unperformed obligations and liabilities of Landlord or
Tenant to the other which accrued before the expiration or other termination of this Lease, and which by their
nature or under the circumstances can only be, or by the provisions of this Lease are expressly permitted to be,
performed after such expiration or other termination, shall survive the expiration or other termination of this
Lease.

Section 38.07. Counterparts; Etc.   This Lease may be executed and delivered in individual,
duplicate counterparts, which, when executed and delivered by both parties, shall be deemed one and the same
instrument.   This Lease may be executed and delivered via fax or PDF transmission, and any faxed or PDF’d
signatures shall be deemed original signatures.  This Lease shall not be binding on either party until duplicate
counterparts of this Lease have been executed and delivered by both parties.  Promptly following any facsimile
transmittal or email transmittal of “PDF” format signatures, upon the written request of a party, each party shall
deliver to the other parties the original executed Lease by reputable overnight courier to the addresses set forth on
the herein, or such other address(es) as any party may designate by written notice, provided that a party or parties
failure to do so shall not constitute the default of a party hereunder or affect in any way whatsoever the validity or
enforceability of this Lease.  This Lease is a present lease and not a contract to enter into a lease.

ARTICLE 39
Tenant Roof Rights

Section 39.01. Tenant’s Rooftop Equipment.   Tenant may install and maintain a commercially
reasonable and code-compliant generator, an antenna, satellite dishes and/or other commercially reasonable
communications equipment, as well as a commercially reasonable and code-compliant deck, all on the roof of the
Building, and Landlord shall not charge Tenant any Additional Rent or any other license or other fees or charges
for the use of the roof for such
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equipment (the generator, deck, antenna, satellite dishes or other communication equipment, and electrical, fiber
and other wiring apparatus connecting the equipment and the Premises are herein collectively referred to as, the
“Rooftop Equipment”), subject to Landlord’s prior written, reasonable approval of the size, location, installation
and type of any and all such Rooftop Equipment.  Landlord shall make available to Tenant access to the roof for
the maintenance, repair, operation and use of the Rooftop Equipment.   All maintenance, repair, and operation
activities shall be conducted at Tenant’s sole cost and expense. All Rooftop Equipment and any replacements
thereof shall be deemed a Specialty Alteration for purposes of this Lease and must be removed by Tenant at the
expiration or sooner termination of the Term with Tenant being responsible to repair and restore any areas affected
by such installations or removal.  Tenant’s removal, repair and restoration obligations under this Article 39 shall
survive the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease.  All of the Rooftop Equipment shall be located only in
those areas of the roof reasonably designated by Landlord.  Landlord shall reasonably cooperate with Tenant in
connection with connecting the Rooftop Equipment and the Premises and permitting reasonable, non-exclusive
access through the Building’s existing risers and conduits, as may be necessary, subject to Landlord’s reasonable
approval.  Tenant shall also have the right to reasonably connect is own fiber optic systems to the systems existing
in the Building, subject to Landlord’s reasonable approval as to the nature and details of such connections.

Section 39.02. Interference.   Tenant shall use the Rooftop Equipment so as not to cause any
interference to other tenants or Landlord in the Complex or interference with or disturbance to the operation of
other equipment, or to the reception or transmission of communication signals by or from any existing antennae,
dishes, or other similar equipment, in either case, installed by Landlord or any other tenant in the Complex, or
damage to or interference with the operation of the Building or the Building Systems.  If the Rooftop Equipment
causes any such interference, damage or disturbance, then Tenant, at its sole cost and expense, shall relocate said
equipment to another area on the roof designated by Landlord.   If such interference or disturbance still occurs
despite such relocation, or if no portion of the roof is available for such relocation, Tenant, at its sole cost and
expense, shall remove the Rooftop Equipment from the roof of the Building.  In the event, Tenant fails to relocate
or remove the Rooftop Equipment, Landlord may do so, and Tenant shall promptly reimburse Landlord for any
reasonable out-of-pocket costs incurred by Landlord in connection therewith, as Additional Rent.

Section 39.03. Tenant’s Default.  If Tenant is in default after notice and expiration of the applicable
cure period (other than in the event of an emergency, in which case no notice shall be required) under any
provision of this Article 39 then, without limiting Landlord’s rights and remedies Landlord may otherwise have
under this Lease, Tenant, upon written notice from Landlord, shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, immediately
discontinue its use of the Rooftop Equipment and, unless being contested in a formal action or proceeding,
remove the same from the roof of the Building and repair and restore any areas affected by such removal.

Section 39.04. Tenant’s Obligations.

(a) Landlord shall not have any obligations with respect to the Rooftop Equipment or
compliance with any Requirements relating thereto (including, without limitation, the obtaining of any required
permits or licenses, or the maintenance thereof), nor shall Landlord be responsible for any damage that maybe
caused to Tenant or to the Rooftop Equipment by any
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other tenant or occupant of the Building.  Landlord makes no representation that the Rooftop Equipment will be
able to operate without interference or disturbance (whether or not by reason of the installation or use of similar
equipment by others on the roof) and Tenant agrees that Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant therefor.
 Notwithstanding the foregoing in this Section 39.04, Landlord shall have the obligation, acting in a commercially
reasonable manner, not to take any unreasonable action, or suffer, allow or permit any unreasonable action or
circumstances, the direct result or effect of which is to unreasonably interfere with or disturb the Rooftop
Equipment and/or the operation thereof or Tenant’s rights under this Paragraph 39.

(b) Tenant shall (i) be solely responsible for any damage caused to the Landlord or any other
person or property as a result of the installation, maintenance or use of Rooftop Equipment, (ii) promptly pay any
tax, license, permit or other fees or charges imposed pursuant to any Requirements relating to the installation,
maintenance or use of the Rooftop Equipment, (iii) promptly comply with all precautions and safeguards
recommended by Landlord’s insurance company and all Governmental Authorities, and (iv) pay for all necessary
insurance relating to the Rooftop Equipment and perform all necessary repairs or replacements to, or maintenance
of, the Rooftop Equipment, except that at Landlord’s option, after notice to Tenant and the expiration of the
applicable cure period (other than in the event of an emergency, in which case no notice shall be required)
Landlord may elect to procure such insurance and perform such repairs, replacements or maintenance at Tenant’s
sole cost and expense.

Section 39.05. License.  Tenant acknowledges and agrees that the privileges granted Tenant under
this Article 39 shall merely constitute a license and shall not, now or at any time after the installation of the
Rooftop Equipment, be deemed to grant Tenant a leasehold or other real property interest in the roof of the
Building.   The license granted to Tenant in this Article  39 shall automatically terminate and expire upon the
expiration or earlier termination of this Lease and the termination of such license shall be self-operative and no
further instrument shall be required to effect such termination.  The foregoing notwithstanding, upon request by
Landlord, Tenant, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, promptly shall execute and deliver to Landlord, in recordable
form, any reasonable certificate or other document confirming the termination of Tenant’s right to use the roof of
the Building upon the termination of this Lease.

ARTICLE 40
Tenant’s Option to Terminate

Section 40.01. Tenant shall have a single option to terminate this Lease, on a one-time only basis,
which termination shall be effective on the last day of the seventh (7th) year after the Rent Commencement Date
(the “Cancellation Date”), subject to all of the following terms and conditions: (a) if Tenant wishes to exercise its
termination option hereunder, Tenant must deliver to Landlord, clear and unconditional written notice (time being
of the essence) of Tenant’s election to terminate this Lease (the “Election Notice”), given no later than twelve (12)
months before the Cancellation Date (time being of the essence); (b) Landlord must have received, in full, all of
Tenant’s Fixed Rent payments due and payable during the period up to the Cancellation Date; (c) upon Tenant’s
timely exercise of its termination option, the effective date for the termination of this Lease shall be the
Cancellation Date; (d) in consideration of said Lease termination, Tenant must pay Landlord an amount equal to
the sum of (X) the unamortized value of (calculated by utilizing an eight percent (8%) annual interest factor,
compounded monthly in advance): (1) any



65

and all costs and expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with the Landlord’s Base Building Work as
provided in Article 3 hereof; (2) the Abated Rent and the Tenant Improvement Allowance; and (3) any and all
reasonable legal fees and brokerage commissions paid in connection with this Lease, PLUS (Y) three (3) full
calendar months of Fixed Rent payable at the annual rate of $56.82 per rentable square foot of the Premises
demised as of the Cancellation Date (such aggregate sum, the “Cancellation Fee”).  The Cancellation Fee shall be
paid in good funds, subject to collection, by certified check payable to the order of Landlord and delivered to
Landlord within ten (10) Business Date after receipt of Landlord’s calculation of the Cancellation Fee as set forth
below; (e) from and after Tenant’s exercise of such termination option by Tenant’s timely delivery of its Election
Notice as required herein, Tenant shall continue to timely perform all of its obligations under this Lease
(including, without limitation, its Rent obligations) through and including the Cancellation Date; and (f)
notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, Tenant’s termination option hereunder shall be
subject to the following additional conditions: (i) As of the date of the Election Notice (and Landlord’s receipt of
the Cancellation Fee), Tenant shall not be in default of any of its Lease obligations beyond any applicable notice
and cure period; (ii) If Tenant fails to properly and timely exercise its option to terminate hereunder, said option
shall be null and void; (iii) Tenant’s option to terminate herein shall be personal to the named Tenant herein only
(i.e., Cara Therapeutics, Inc.), and shall not be transferred or assigned to any other parties; (iv) such termination of
this Lease shall not release or discharge any of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease accruing up to and including
the Cancellation Date; (v) in the event that Tenant is in default of any of its Lease obligations beyond any notice
and cure period on the Cancellation Date, Landlord, at Landlord’s option, may negate Tenant’s exercise of such
termination option by written notice to Tenant, in which case this Lease shall continue in full force and effect from
the date of Landlord’s notice with such termination option being null and void.  Within ten (10) Business Days
after receipt of Tenant’s written request, Landlord shall submit to Tenant a statement of the Cancellation Fee and
calculating such unamortized value as set forth above, as of the Cancellation Date set forth above.  Any dispute
concerning the exercise by Tenant of the option to terminate this Lease (including, without limitation, the
calculation of the Cancellation Fee) pursuant to this Section 40.01 shall be submitted to arbitration pursuant to
Article 25.

ARTICLE 41
No Relocation

Section 41.01. Landlord shall have no right to relocate Tenant from the Premises to other space in
the Building.

ARTICLE 42
Confidentiality

Section 42.01. The parties hereto hereby agree not to publicly disclose, in any manner, to any third
parties, any of the material or economic terms of this Lease, by press release, general publication or other
disclosure, without prior consultation with, and the reasonable approval of, the other party, as to the timing, nature
and content of such disclosure.  Each party agrees not to unreasonably withhold, condition or delay its approval
under this Article.   This non-disclosure covenant shall not apply to commercially reasonable disclosures to a
party’s employees, attorneys, brokers, lease administrators, lenders, accountants, consultants or actual or
prospective sublessees, licensees, successors-in-interest who have a need to know the relevant information,
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nor shall such covenant apply to any disclosures required by applicable Requirements, nor in any action to enforce
a party’s rights (or the other party’s obligations) under this Lease.

ARTICLE 43
Lobby and Access Work

Section 43.01. Lobby and Access Work.  Each of Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that, as of the
date of this Lease, Landlord is performing certain renovation work to the Building lobby and certain of the
Building access areas through the Building lobby (collectively, the “Lobby Work”).  Subject to any Tenant Delays,
if Landlord fails to complete the Lobby Work and ensure that the Common Areas of the Building (including the
lobby, elevators, hallways and restrooms) are code compliant and are otherwise in compliance with Law on or
prior to the later to occur of (a) October 31, 2023 and (b) the date that Tenant first occupies the Premises for the
regular conduct of its business therein (such later date, the “Lobby Work Outside Date”), and such failure
materially and adversely interferes with Tenant’s access to or use of the Building lobby, then Tenant shall be
entitled, on a day-for-day basis, to a ten percent (10%) reduction of Fixed Rent payable for each day beyond the
Lobby Work Outside Date that Tenant’s access to or use of the Building lobby is materially and adversely
impacted due to Landlord’s failure to complete the Lobby Work.

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



[SIGNATURE PAGE TO LEASE]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have duly executed this Lease as of the day and year
first above written.

LANDLORD, as tenants-in-common:

400 ATLANTIC JOINT VENTURE LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Peter S. Duncan
Name:Peter S. Duncan
Title: Manager, duly authorized

SLJ ATLANTIC STAMFORD LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Peter S. Duncan
Name:Peter S. Duncan
Title: Manager, duly authorized

TENANT:

CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Ryan Maynard
Name:Ryan Maynard
Title: CFO,duly authorized
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EXHIBIT A

The Premises
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EXHIBIT B

The Land

All that certain piece, parcel or tract of land, with the buildings and improvements thereon, situated in the City of
Stamford in the County of Fairfield and State of Connecticut, bounded and described as follows:

BEGINNING at a point on the southerly side of Tresser Boulevard at the intersection of said southerly side of
Tresser Boulevard and the dividing line formed by the westerly boundary of property now or formerly of Willow
Street Associates and the easterly boundary of the herein described parcel; thence along said property now or
formerly of said Willow Street Associates the following courses: south 3˚ 20’ 49” west a distance of 388.092 feet,
south 86˚ 39’ 11” east for a distance of 0.75 feet; thence south 3˚ 20’ 49” west for a distance of 70.00 feet; thence
on a curve to the left the radius of which is 223.792 feet a distance of 126.54 feet to a point on the northerly side
of North State Street; thence along said northerly side of North State Street the following courses: south 60˚ 45’
25” west for a distance of 367.43 feet; thence on a curve to the right the radius of which is 1,367.50 feet a distance
of 97.66 feet; thence south 64˚ 50’ 56” west for a distance of 11.90 feet; thence on a curve to the right the radius of
which is 10.00 feet for a distance of 18.49 feet to a point on the easterly side of Atlantic Street; thence along said
easterly side of Atlantic Street the following courses: on a curve to the right the radius of which is 465.00 feet a
distance of 98.46 feet and north 2˚ 55’ 29” east a distance of 550.07 feet to a point on the southerly side of Tresser
Boulevard; thence along said southerly side of Tresser Boulevard the following courses: on a curve to the right the
radius of which is 10.00 feet a distance of 15.57 feet and thence south 87˚ 50’ 33” east a distance of 49.99 feet and
thence on a curve to the left the radius of which is 1,500.00 feet for a distance of 91.67 feet and thence on a curve
to the right the radius of which is 220.00 feet for a distance of 49.93 feet and thence on a curve to the left the
radius of which is 240.00 feet for a distance of 73.96 feet and thence on a curve to the left the radius of which is
1,516.00 feet for a distance of 39.12 feet to the point and place of beginning.

Reference is hereby made to certain map entitled “Map Showing Boundary Lines of Property to be Conveyed to
Champion International Stamford, Conn.”, dated August 22, 1978 and prepared by Parsons, Bromfield and
Redniss, Engineers and Surveyors and certified as a Class A-1 Survey by Robert L.Redniss, R.L.S. No. 4671-
Conn.  Filed in the Stamford Land Records as Map No. 10175.
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EXHIBIT C

Rules and Regulations

1. The Building Common Areas shall not be obstructed or encumbered by Tenant or used for any
purpose other than ingress and egress to and from the Premises, and Tenant shall not permit any of its employees,
agents or invitees to congregate in any of said areas.  No doormat of any kind whatsoever shall be placed or left in
any public hall or outside any entry door of the Premises.

2. The rights of Tenant in the entrances, corridors, stairways and elevators in the Building are limited
to ingress and egress to and from the Premises for Tenant, its employees, licensees and invitees.  Tenant shall not
encumber or obstruct, or permit Tenant’s employees to provide encumbrance or obstruction of, or use, or permit
the use of such entrances, corridors, stairways or elevators for any purpose other than such ingress and egress.
 Tenant shall not invite to the Premises or permit the visit of, persons in such numbers or under such conditions as
to interfere with the use and enjoyment of any of the entrances, corridors, stairways, elevators, or other facilities in
the Building by other tenants.  Fire exits and stairways are for emergency use only, and they shall not be used for
any other purpose by Tenant, its employees, licensees or invitees.   Landlord reserves the right to control and
operate the public portions of the Building and the public facilities, as well as all facilities furnished for the
common use of the tenants, in such manner as it reasonably deems best for the benefit of the tenants generally.
 The cost of repairing any damage to the public portions of the Building or the public facilities or to any facilities
used in common with other tenants, caused by Tenant or the employees, licensees or invitees of Tenant, shall be
paid by Tenant.

3. No awnings or other projections shall be attached to the outside walls or windows of the Building
or any entrance to the Premises.

4. No sign, insignia, advertisement, object, notice or other lettering shall be exhibited, inscribed,
painted or affixed by Tenant on any part of the outside or inside of the Premises or Building, except as permitted
by the Lease.   Interior signs on doors to the Premises and directory tablet, if any, shall be inscribed, painted or
affixed for Tenant by Landlord at the expense of Tenant, and shall be of a size, color and style acceptable to
Landlord.   Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to a sign in the corridor at the entrance to
Tenant’s offices.

5. No acids, vapors or other materials which may damage the waste lines, vents or flues of the
Building shall be discharged or permitted to be discharged.   The water and wash closets and other plumbing
fixtures shall not be used for any purposes other than those for which they were constructed, and no sweepings,
rubbish, rags, or other substances shall be thrown therein.  All damages resulting from any misuse of the fixtures
shall be borne by the tenant who, or whose servants, employees, agents, visitors or licensees, shall have caused the
same.

6. Tenant shall not in any way deface any part of the Premises or the Building.

7. No bicycles, vehicles or animals (other than reasonable animals lawfully registered as aiding the
disabled), fish or birds of any kind shall be brought into or kept in or about the Premises.  Tenant shall not cause
or permit any unreasonably objectionable odors to be produced
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upon or permeate from the Premises.  Tenant shall not throw anything out of the doors, windows, or skylights, or
down the passageways.

8. No space in the Building shall be used for manufacturing, for the storage of merchandise, goods or
property (except storage permitted hereunder) or for any kind of auction.

9. No noise, including the playing of musical instruments or the operation of radio, television, or
audio devices, which, in the reasonable judgment of Landlord, might disturb other tenants in the Building, shall be
made or permitted by Tenant.  No cooking shall be done in the Premises (except customary and reasonable pantry
uses). No dangerous, inflammable, combustible or explosive object or material shall be brought into the Building
by Tenant or with the permission of Tenant (other than standard office supplies as permitted by Requirements).

10. No additional locks or bolts of any kind shall be placed upon any of the doors or windows by
Tenant, nor shall any changes be made in existing locks or the mechanism thereof without Landlord’s consent. In
such event, Tenant shall provide Landlord with keys or other means of entry to the Premises.  Tenant must, upon
the termination of its tenancy, restore to Landlord all keys of stores, offices and toilet rooms, either furnished to or
otherwise procured by, Tenant, and in the event of the loss of any keys so furnished, Tenant shall pay to Landlord
the cost thereof.

11. All removals, or the carrying in or out of any safes, freight, furniture or bulky matter of any
description must take place in the freight elevator.

12. Landlord may refuse admission to the Building outside of ordinary business hours to any person
not having a pass issued by Landlord or Tenant.  Tenant shall be responsible for all persons for whom Tenant has
requested a pass and shall be liable to Landlord for all acts of such persons.  Any person whose presence in the
Building at any time shall, in the reasonable judgment of Landlord, be prejudicial to the safety, character,
reputation or interest of the Building or of its tenants may be denied access to the Building or may be ejected
therefrom.  In case of invasion, riot, public excitement or other commotion Landlord may prevent all access to the
Building for the safety of the tenants and protection of property in the Building.

13. The Premises shall not be used for lodging or sleeping or for any immoral or illegal purpose.

14. Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord in obtaining maximum effectiveness of the air conditioning
system by lowering and closing Venetian blinds and/or drapes and curtains when the sun’s rays fall directly on the
windows of the Premises.



D-1

EXHIBIT D

CLEANING SPECIFICATIONS

MISCELLANEOUS

The quality of the cleaning will be consistent with the services rendered in comparable, multi-tenant, first-class
office buildings in the City.

All cleaning services, except those performed by day porters, matrons and window cleaners are to be performed
nightly, five nights per week excluding Saturdays, Sundays or Building holidays.

Tenant will be charged for cleaning services in the areas of the Premises used for special purposes requiring
greater and more difficult cleaning work than typical office areas, including, but not limited to, data processing
areas, mail rooms, private restrooms, toilets and showers, pantries, pantry tables and chairs, glass partitions, white
boards, shampooing of carpets, polishing and stripping of vinyl floors, polishing woodwork or desks and cleaning
furniture, etc.

RECYCLING

Landlord shall provide recycling services and receive any income therefrom.

Arrangements can be made for the removal of excess recycling material including electronics, e--waste, batteries,
etc. at the cost of the tenant.

GENERAL OFFICE CLEANING

DAILY

1. Sweep or dry mop all stone, resilient tile and wood floors; Floor finishing, if any, will be done at
Tenant’s expense.

2. Empty and damp wipe waste baskets.
3. Remove trash to designated area.
4. Dust all horizontal surfaces with treated dust cloths; this includes furniture, fixtures, window sills,

etc. that can be reached without use of a ladder.
5. Damp wipe all telephones with germicidal solutions.
6. Spot clean to remove smudges, marks and fingerprints from walls, equipment, doors, partitions,

light switches, etc. within reach.
7. Clean main entrance doors to office.
8. Turn off all lights when areas have been cleaned.

WEEKLY

1. Vacuum three times weekly.
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QUARTERLY

1. High dust all horizontal and vertical surfaces not reached in nightly cleaning such as pipes, light
fixtures, door frames, picture frames, etc.

2. Vacuum all ceiling and wall air supply and exhaust diffusers and grills.
3. Vacuum or dust all books in place.
4. Damp wipe diffusers, vents, grills, etc., including surrounding wall or ceiling areas that are soiled.

SEMI-ANNUAL

1. Wash interior/exterior windows.

ANNUALLY

1. Wash light fixtures including reflectors, globes, diffusers and trim.
2. Clean all vertical surfaces not attended to in nightly, weekly, monthly or quarterly schedules.

COMMON AREA

NIGHTLY

1. Remove trash.
2. Sweep or dry mop all stone, resilient tile and wood floors;
3. Empty outdoor ashtrays.
4. Dust all horizontal surfaces with treated dust cloths; this includes furniture, blinds, louvers, etc. that

can be reached without a ladder.
5. Spot clean to remove smudges, marks and fingerprints from walls, equipment, doors, partitions,

light switches, etc. within reach.
6. Clean lobby entrance doors and glass.
7. Wash water fountains with germicidal solution.
8. Wash cafeteria tables and chairs.
9. Damp mop all non resilient floors.
10. Thoroughly clean all elevator cabs and landing doors.
11. Wash glass displays, building directory, entrance doors both sides.
12. Vacuum.

WEEKLY

1. Sweep all stairwell areas.
2. Scrub and recondition resilient tile floors.
3. Brush/wipe all fabric covered chairs.

MONTHLY

1. Wash stairwell landing and treads.
2. Vacuum all ceiling and wall air supply and exhaust diffusers and grills monthly.
3. Scrub and recondition resilient tile using buffable nonslip floor finish.
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QUARTERLY

1. High dust all horizontal and vertical surfaces not reached in nightly cleaning such as pipes, light
fixtures, door frames, picture frames, etc.

2. Damp wipe diffusers, vents, grills, etc., including surrounding wall or ceiling areas that are soiled.
3. Wash and polish vertical terrazzo or marble surfaces.

ANNUALLY

1. Wash light fixtures including reflectors, globes, diffusers and trim.
2. Wash walls in corridors, lobbies and cafeteria.
3. Clean all vertical surfaces not attended to in nightly, weekly, monthly or quarterly schedules.

COMMON RESTROOMS

DAILY

1. Clean mirrors, soap dispensers, shelves, basins, exposed plumbing, dispensers and disposal units
using disinfectant solution.

2. Damp wipe all ledges, toilet stalls and doors.
3. Spot clean light switches, doors and walls.
4. Thoroughly clean commodes and urinals with disinfectant solution.
5. Pour one ounce of bowl cleaner into bowls and urinals when finished cleaning.  Do not flush.
6. Remove all trash to designated area.
7. Refill all soap, toilet tissue and towel and other dispensers.
8. Damp mop tile floors with disinfectant solution.
9. Clean all baseboards.

WEEKLY

1. Brush all fabric covered chairs and couches in the Ladies lounges with a lint brush.

MONTHLY

1. Vacuum all ceiling and wall air supply and exhaust units.

QUARTERLY

1. High dust all horizontal and vertical surfaces not reached in nightly cleaning.
2. Damp wash diffusers, vents and grills.

ANNUALLY

1. Wash light fixtures.
2. Wash walls with disinfectant solution.
3. Machine scrub floors using disinfectant solution.
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EXHIBIT E

HVAC SPECIFICATIONS

Heat and Air Conditioning Performance
Specifications and Conditions

The existing HVAC equipment servicing the Premises shall be capable of producing sufficient cooling during
normal business hours to meet the following specifications:

1. A maximum of 76 degF +/- 2 degF indoors, w/50% relative humidity when outside temperature is 90 degF
DB/75 degF WB; and

2. A minimum of 70 degF +/- 2 degF indoors, when outside temperature is 5 degF DB.

This specification is based on an average of 5 watts per USF for lighting and power and one person per 150 USF
and assuming properly engineered distribution and blinds to be installed by Tenant as part of Tenant’s Work to the
Premises.
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EXHIBIT F

LANDLORD’S BASE BUILDING WORK

Landlord, at its sole cost and expense, shall cause to be performed the following work (collectively, the
“Landlord’s Base Building Work”), which shall consist of “Landlord’s Critical Path Work” to be substantially
completed on or before the date that is sixty (60) days after the Effective Date of this Lease, and “Landlord’s Post-
Delivery Work” to be substantially completed in accordance with a commercially reasonable construction
schedule to be mutually agreed upon by Landlord and Tenant, subject to any Tenant Delays or Unavoidable
Delays.

The term “Landlord’s Critical Path Work” herein shall mean the following work items considered in the “critical
path” for Tenant’s commencement of Tenant’s Work:

· The Premises shall be demolished (including, without limitation, all internal staircases) and
delivered in broom-clean condition with legal demising walls.   All floors will be delivered in
commercially reasonable, broom-clean condition.   Building shall be delivered without any
Hazardous Materials (including, without limitation, asbestos) present.

· Landlord shall deliver condenser valve and capped outlets on the floor for the IT room
supplemental cooling A/C units to be installed by Tenant (proportionate share of approx. 10 tons
per floor).

· Landlord shall deliver fireproofing and enclosure of any exposed structural steel, as well as all
penetrations within the Premises fire-stopped.

· Landlord shall deliver all columns within the Premises repaired and fireproofed or appropriately
protected, per code, enclosed in sheetrock, which is taped and spackled, and ready to accept Tenant
finishes.

· Landlord shall deliver the exterior walls where existing convectors have been removed repaired
and fireproofed or appropriately protected, per code, enclosed in sheetrock, which is taped and
spackled, and ready to accept Tenant finishes.

· Landlord shall deliver the currently existing complete sprinkler infrastructure in the Premises,
including combination standpipe/sprinkler risers, pumps, valve connections suitable for general
office occupancy.  Landlord shall keep the existing sprinkler distribution in place and available for
Tenant’s Work.  Sprinkler head distribution shall be completed as a part of Tenant’s Work.

· Exterior Building enclosure shall be delivered water tight.

· Landlord shall remove the convenience staircases between the 4th/5th and 5th/6th floors

The term “Landlord’s Post-Delivery Work” shall mean the following work items:
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· The Building shall have a code-compliant fire alarm and life safety system, with the necessary
components (speaker/strobes, manual pulls, smoke detectors, water flows and tamper switches)
installed in core Common Areas.   Landlord shall provide a life safety infrastructure, including
panels and power sources with adequate capacity within the base Building fire alarm system to
provide for Tenant’s commercially reasonable fire/life safety installations within the Premises.
 Landlord shall provide for all connection points at the Premises on the floor.

· Landlord shall deliver the main HVAC supply and return ductwork through perimeter wall of MER
and stubbed to a connection point at the Premises, complete with smoke and fire dampers at the
core of the Premises, including wiring to fire alarm and Building Management System as required.
 Landlord shall deliver hot water via taps at the mechanical room wall for Tenant distribution to fan
powered VAV boxes, fan coils or fin tube radiation.

· Landlord shall provide the existing domestic hot water piping riser (supply and return piping) to
the common restrooms.

· Landlord shall deliver the currently existing Building mechanical systems brought to the Premises,
fully operational and tied into the Building Management System.

· Landlord to provide distribution panels and transformers as required to provide 6 watts demand
load per usable square foot Electrical Capacity.   Landlord shall deliver adequate riser space for
electrical and telephone service.   All branch wiring in the Premises shall be a part of Tenant’s
Work.

1. Delivery.   Upon substantial completion of Landlord’s Critical Path Work, the Premises shall be
turned over to Tenant in vacant, broom-clean condition, ready for Tenant to commence Tenant’s Work.

2. Substantial Completion.   Landlord’s agreement to perform Landlord’s Base Building Work shall
not require it to incur premium labor or overtime costs and expenses and shall be subject to Unavoidable Delays,
Tenant Delays and for any other causes or events beyond Landlord’s reasonable control.  The terms “substantial
completion” or “substantially complete” as to Landlord’s Base Building Work shall be deemed to have been
achieved on the earliest date when the following criteria have been met:

(a) In the case of Landlord’s Base Building Work, said work has been substantially completed
such that any requisite certificate of occupancy (or other required sign-offs) have been issued by local
governmental authorities.

(b) Tenant acknowledges that Landlord’s Base Building Work shall be deemed substantially
completed notwithstanding the fact that minor or insubstantial details or minor or insubstantial defects of
construction remain to be performed or corrected, so long as the non-completion or non-correction thereof does
not materially interfere with the Tenant’s construction of Tenant’s Work (such items, “Punch-List Items”).
 Landlord shall perform and/or correct such Punch-List Items within a commercially reasonable period (but no
more than thirty (30) days,
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provided that such thirty (30) day period shall be extended as necessary to the extent such items cannot reasonably
be completed within thirty (30) days and Landlord is otherwise diligently pursuing completion thereof) following
the parties’ inspection of Landlord’s Base Building Work and the itemization of a mutually agreed-upon list of
Punch-List Items, prepared jointly by the parties and/or their respective architects.

3. Tenant Delay.   A “Tenant Delay” shall mean any delay actually encountered by Landlord or
Landlord’s agents, employees, contractors or subcontractors, in the performance of any of Landlord’s obligations
under the Lease (including, without limitation, Landlord’s Base Building Work), to the extent such delay is solely
caused by Tenant or Tenant’s agents, employees, contractors, subcontractors, architects or representatives.

4. Landlord’s Base Building Work Standards.  Landlord’s Base Building Work shall be performed in a
good and workmanlike manner, in compliance with all applicable legal Requirements, and using new materials
and reputable, experienced contractors and subcontractors, subject to Tenant Delays and delays beyond Landlord’s
reasonable control.

5. Arbitration.  In the event of any disputes between the parties concerning Landlord’s Base Building
Work, any Tenant’s Delays, any Punch-List Items, or the Commencement Date, which are not resolved in writing
by the parties within thirty (30) days after notice of such dispute, may be submitted by either party to binding,
expedited arbitration in accordance with Article 25 of the Lease.

6. Warranty.   Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, Landlord shall
warranty that Landlord’s Base Building Work shall be free from defects in workmanship, materials and
installation for a period of one (1) year following the completion of Landlord’s Base Building Work.
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EXHIBIT G

TENANT’S WORK LETTER

1. Tenant’s Work.   The construction of the fit-up improvements and alterations for Tenant’s
occupancy (collectively, the “Initial Alterations” or “Tenant’s Work”) shall be performed by Tenant, subject to the
terms and conditions of the Lease and this Exhibit G.

2. Costs.  Except as otherwise specifically set forth in Section 3.02 of the Lease, Tenant shall pay all
costs and expenses (collectively, the “Work Costs”) associated with Tenant’s Work, when and as incurred.  Said
Work Costs shall include, without limitation, all costs for permits, approvals, authorizations, licenses, inspections,
space planners, contractors, architects, engineers, utility connections, labor, materials, bonds (if any), certificates
of occupancy, insurance, taxes and any structural or mechanical work, additional HVAC equipment or sprinkler
heads, or modifications to any mechanical, electrical, plumbing or other systems and equipment required as a
result of the layout, design or construction of Tenant’s Work.

3. Tenant Improvement Allowance; Plans.  Provided Tenant is not in default of any of its obligations
under the Lease (including this Exhibit G, as applicable) beyond any applicable notice and cure periods, Tenant
shall be entitled to the Tenant Improvement Allowance as provided in Section 3.02 of the Lease.

Except as specifically provided in Section 3.02 of the Lease, Landlord shall have no liability
whatsoever for the payment of any costs or expenses associated with Tenant’s Work or Tenant’s Plans (as
hereinafter defined), Tenant being fully responsible therefor.   Tenant shall keep the Premises, Building and
Complex free of mechanics’ and materialmen’s liens in connection with Tenant’s Work, subject to the terms of
Paragraph 12 hereof.  Tenant’s Work shall be performed in accordance with the plans, specifications and drawings
of partition layouts (including openings), ceiling and lighting layouts, colors, mechanical and electrical drawings,
HVAC system design and distribution plans and specifications and any and all other information as may be
reasonably acceptable to Landlord, and necessary and sufficient to obtain a building permit and to complete the
Initial Alterations to the Premises in accordance with this Exhibit G (such plans are collectively referred to herein
as “Tenant’s Plans” or the “Plans”), which Plans shall be prepared by Tenant’s architects, engineers, and reputable,
duly-licensed space planners, who shall be subject to the prior written approval of Landlord, which approval shall
not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.   Landlord shall not charge any supervisory fee in
connection with Tenant’s Work or Tenant’s Plans.   However, Tenant’s Plans shall be subject to the review of
Landlord’s architect(s) and engineer(s) (as commercially reasonable and necessary and at commercially
reasonable out-of-pocket cost).   Tenant shall promptly reimburse Landlord, as Additional Rent, for Landlord’s
reasonable, out-of-pocket costs to have such parties review Tenant’s Plans.  Tenant’s Plans shall be subject to the
prior written approval of Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.
 Landlord agrees to provide its written approval (or disapproval, with reasons for such disapproval) of Tenant’s
Plans with five (5) days of receipt of same, and within five (5) days of receipt of Tenant’s revised Plans given in
response to Landlord’s reasons for disapproval, if any.  If Landlord fails to respond to Tenant’s request within the
applicable review period set forth herein, Tenant may deliver to Landlord a second notice, which shall have the
following written at the top thereof in bold-faced capitalized letters — “THIS IS TENANT’S
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SECOND NOTICE REQUESTING LANDLORD’S APPROVAL.  LANDLORD’S FAILURE TO RESPOND TO
THIS NOTICE WITHIN 3 BUSINESS DAYS SHALL BE DEEMED LANDLORD’S APPROVAL”— and if
Landlord fails to respond thereto within three (3) Business Days, Landlord shall be deemed to have approved the
work shown on such Tenant’s Plans.   Said Plans shall also be prepared in accordance with all applicable
Requirements.   Tenant acknowledges that Landlord’s approval of the Plans shall not in any way be deemed a
warranty or approval of same with respect to their quality, adequacy or compliance with the aforementioned
requirements.   In the event that any material aspects of Tenant’s Work are not performed substantially in
accordance with the approved Plans, Tenant shall not be permitted to occupy the Premises until the same
reasonably complies in all material respects with said approved Plans, but such inability to occupy shall not
relieve Tenant of any obligations to pay any rent under the Lease.

4. Change Orders.   No material changes, modifications, alterations or additions to the
approved Plans shall be made without the prior written approval of Landlord in each instance, after written request
therefor by Tenant.  Landlord’s approval to any such changes shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or
delayed.   Any such change order approval or disapproval shall be given within five (5) Business Days after
receiving the same, with any disapproval reasonably specifying the reasons therefor.  If Landlord fails to respond
to Tenant’s request within the applicable review period set forth herein, Tenant may deliver to Landlord a second
notice, which shall have the following written at the top thereof in bold-faced capitalized letters — “THIS IS
TENANT’S SECOND NOTICE REQUESTING LANDLORD’S APPROVAL.   LANDLORD’S FAILURE TO
RESPOND TO THIS NOTICE WITHIN 3 BUSINESS DAYS SHALL BE DEEMED LANDLORD’S
APPROVAL”— and if Landlord fails to respond thereto within three (3) Business Days, Landlord shall be
deemed to have approved the work shown on such change order.

5. Tenant’s Work Standards.  Tenant’s Work shall be performed by a reputable, commercial
general contractor first approved by Landlord in writing, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed.  Such contractor shall be insured as provided in Paragraph 7 of this Exhibit G, and shall
work in harmony with any workers at the Building and Complex so as to maintain proper labor relations and so as
to avoid any work stoppages.  Landlord will give its approval or disapproval of any contractors within five (5)
Business Days of receipt of written request of same from Tenant, Tenant may deliver to Landlord a second notice,
which shall have the following written at the top thereof in bold-faced capitalized letters —”THIS IS TENANT’S
SECOND NOTICE REQUESTING LANDLORD’S APPROVAL.  LANDLORD’S FAILURE TO RESPOND TO
THIS NOTICE WITHIN 3 BUSINESS DAYS SHALL BE DEEMED LANDLORD’S APPROVAL”— and if
Landlord fails to respond thereto within three (3) Business Days, Landlord shall be deemed to have approved such
contractor(s).  If Landlord fails to respond to Tenant’s request within the applicable review period set forth herein,
Landlord’s approval shall be deemed granted and Tenant shall have the right to proceed with the requested
contractor.  Tenant’s Work shall comply with the current design standards, structural and mechanical criteria, and
the general layout of the Building.  Said Tenant’s Work shall be commenced promptly after Tenant, at its sole cost
and expense, obtains all necessary permits, consents, authorizations, licenses and approvals therefor.   Any
required zoning approval (including the zoning permit and zoning certificate of compliance) obtained in
connection with Tenant’s Work shall be obtained at Tenant’s expense.  Landlord shall reasonably cooperate with
Tenant, at Tenant’s expense, in connection with Tenant obtaining the permits, consents, etc., which
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Tenant is required to obtain hereunder.  Tenant’s Work shall be performed diligently until completion, by trained,
supervised and adequately staffed personnel and strictly in accordance with the approved Plans and all
Requirements (including, without limitation, applicable zoning, fire, health, building and disability codes).
 Tenant’s Work shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner as to workmanship and materials, and so as
not to unreasonably interfere with any work or construction by Landlord, or the management, operations or
occupancies of the Complex.   Tenant shall obtain Landlord’s prior written approval for any space outside the
Premises, which Tenant (or Tenant’s contractors or subcontractors) desire(s) to use for storage, handling or
moving of any materials and equipment, as well as the location of any facilities for personnel.   Tenant (or its
contractors or subcontractors) shall be required to remove from the Premises and the Building and dispose of at
least once per week (or more frequently as Landlord may reasonably direct), all debris and rubbish caused by or
resulting from Tenant’s Work.   Said removal and disposal shall be performed in compliance with all
Requirements.  Upon completion of Tenant’s Work, said contractors and subcontractors shall remove all surplus
materials, equipment, debris and rubbish of whatever kind remaining on or at the Building associated with
Tenant’s Work.   If rubbish, surplus material or temporary structures within five (5) days after notice from
Landlord to Tenant, then Landlord may cause the same to be removed at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.  Tenant
shall, at its sole cost and expense, diligently apply for and obtain any and all building permits and certificates of
occupancy and zoning compliance with respect to the Tenant’s Work (and provided copies thereof to Landlord
upon Tenant’s obtaining same).  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Tenant’s Work shall
be performed so as to minimize interfere with other occupants of the Complex (or Landlord’s management or
operation of the Complex), and said Tenant’s Work shall be subject to such additional commercially reasonable
rules or criteria as Landlord may reasonably require upon prior written notice to Tenant as set forth in Article 27
of the Lease.

6. Indemnity.  Tenant’s Work shall be performed at Tenant’s sole risk.  Tenant hereby agrees to
indemnify, defend and hold Landlord (and Landlord’s employees and agents) harmless from and against any and
all third party claims, liabilities, reasonable costs, damages or expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable
attorney’s fees and disbursements) arising from or in connection with the installation, performance or
nonperformance of Tenant’s Work or Tenant’s breach of any of its obligations under this Exhibit G.

7. Insurance.  Tenant (and its contractors and subcontractors) shall carry and maintain at all
times during the performance of Tenant’s Work, comprehensive public liability insurance, contractual liability
insurance, property damage insurance and worker’s compensation insurance, all issued by insurers and having
coverage amount which is required in Article 7 of the Lease.  Said insurance policies shall name Landlord and any
mortgagee designated by Landlord as additional insured(s) as their interests may appear.   Certificates of such
insurance policies shall be delivered to Landlord before the commencement of Tenant’s Work.

8. Completion; C/O.  The completion (or non-completion) of Tenant’s Work on the Premises,
shall not affect, in any way, the Rent Commencement Date or the commencement of Tenant’s obligations to pay
Fixed Rent and Additional Rent under the Lease.  Within sixty (60) days following the completion of Tenant’s
Work on the Premises, Tenant shall provide Landlord with final “as-built” plans and specifications accurately
reflecting all of Tenant’s Work, including, without limitation, any approved change orders thereto.  Tenant shall
also be responsible for
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obtaining and delivering to Landlord, at its sole cost and expense, a duly issued, valid, certificate of occupancy
from the appropriate Stamford authorities confirming that Tenant’s Work has been completed in accordance with
the Plans and permitting lawful occupancy of Premises (said certificate to be in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to Landlord and Tenant shall obtain the same, within six (6) months after the Commencement Date
(subject to Unavoidable Delays)).

9. Conflicts; Default.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Lease, in the
event of any express inconsistencies between the Lease and this Exhibit G, this Exhibit G shall govern and control
in each instance with respect to the parties’ respective obligations under this Exhibit G.  If Tenant shall fail to duly
perform any of its obligations required in this Exhibit G, such failure shall, following five (5) Business Days’
notice (except in cases of genuine emergency, when only immediate notice shall be required or in the event that
such failure is of such a nature that it cannot with due diligence be completely remedied within said period of five
(5) Business Days and Tenant shall not commence within said period of five (5) Business Days, and/or shall not
thereafter diligently prosecute to completion), at Landlord’s option, be deemed a default under the Lease, and
Landlord may order that all Tenant’s Work be stopped immediately until default is cured, without limitation as to
Landlord’s other rights and/or remedies under the Lease or at law or in equity.  Tenant shall comply immediately
with any such stop orders.  Landlord shall also have the right, upon ten (10) days’ written notice to Tenant (except
in cases of genuine emergencies, when only immediate notice shall be required) to cure Tenant’s violations of this
Exhibit G at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in the
Lease, from and after the Effective Date of the Lease and at all times thereafter, Tenant shall comply strictly with
all of the provisions of this Exhibit G and any applicable obligations of Tenant under Lease.  The Lease (including
this Exhibit G) is a present lease and not a contract to make a lease at some future date, even though the Term has
not yet commenced.

10. Access; Inspections.   Landlord shall at all times have reasonable access upon reasonable
notice to Tenant (except in the event of genuine emergency, in which case no notice shall be required) in the
company of a designated Tenant representative (provided Tenant makes same available) into and about the
Premises during the performance of Tenant’s Work for purposes of inspecting same and to monitor compliance
with this Exhibit G (Landlord agreeing to exercise such access in a commercially reasonable manner).  Tenant
shall regularly and promptly keep Landlord duly apprised of the progress of Tenant’s Work.  Subject to the terms
of this Exhibit G, Landlord and Tenant shall cooperate with each other (and their respective agents and
contractors) reasonably and in good faith in connection with any work being performed by Landlord and Tenant
so as not to unreasonably interfere with any other party’s work.

11. Warranties.  Tenant shall use commercially reasonable, good faith efforts to obtain from its
contractors a warranty, for the benefit of Landlord and Tenant, warranting that Tenant’s Work shall be free from
defects in workmanship, materials and installation for a period of one (1) year following the completion of
Tenant’s Work.

12. Liens.  Notice is hereby given that neither Landlord, any lessor, any ground lessor, nor any
mortgagee of the Premises shall be liable for any labor or materials furnished or to be furnished to Tenant upon
credit, and that no mechanic’s, materialman’s or other lien for such labor or material shall attach to or affect any
estate or interest of Landlord, any ground lessor or
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any mortgagee of the Premises.   Tenant, at its expense, and with diligence and dispatch, shall, procure the
cancellation or discharge of all notices of violation arising from or otherwise connected with any Tenant’s Work,
or any work, labor, services or materials done for or supplied to Tenant, or any person claiming through or under
Tenant, which shall be issued by any public authority having or asserting jurisdiction Tenant hereby agrees to
defend, indemnify and save harmless Landlord from and against any and all mechanic’s, materialman’s and other
liens and encumbrances filed in connection with Tenant’s Work or any work, labor, services or materials done for
or supplied to Tenant or any person claiming through or under Tenant, including, without limitation, security
interests in any materials, fixtures or articles so installed in and constituting part of the Premises and against all
costs, expenses and liabilities incurred in connection with any such lien or encumbrance or any action or
proceeding brought thereon.
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EXHIBIT H

INTENTIONALLY OMITTED
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EXHIBIT I

FORM OF LETTER OF CREDIT

_________________, 20___

400 Atlantic Joint Venture LLC and
SLJ Atlantic Stamford LLC (tenants-in-common)
c/o George Comfort & Sons, Inc.
200 Madison Avenue
New York, New York 10016
Attn: Peter S. Duncan

Re: Clean Irrevocable Letter of Credit No._______

Gentlemen:

We hereby establish our Clean Irrevocable Letter of Credit No.______ in your favor for the account of
__________________________ (the “Tenant”), up to the aggregate amount of $_______________.00.  You may
draw upon such Letter of Credit at sight on or before ___________________, ________, upon the presentation of
your draft.  We will honor the same without requiring anything further of any party or person and regardless of
any contrary claims, demands or instructions.  You may make partial or full drawings not to exceed the foregoing
aggregate amount.

This Letter of Credit expires at the close of banking business on __________________, ________, (hereinafter, as
such date may be extended pursuant to the provisions hereof, the “Expiration Date”).   It is a condition of this
Letter of Credit that the Expiration Date of this Letter of Credit shall be deemed automatically extended for
additional periods of one (1) year each from the Expiration Date through and ending _______________,
________, unless not less than _______ (____) days prior to the then prevailing Expiration Date, we shall notify
you in writing, by registered or certified mail, that we elect not to extend this Letter of Credit for any such
additional period.  In such latter event, you may draw the full aggregate amount of this Letter of Credit.

This Letter of Credit is binding upon, and shall inure to the benefit of, the parties and their successors and assigns.
 This Letter of Credit may be transferred by you, as beneficiary hereof, upon prior written notice to us, without
any additional charge.  This Letter of Credit sets forth our entire undertaking and shall not be modified, amended
or expanded by reference to any other document, instrument or agreement.

[NAME OF BANK]

By:
Name:
Its:
duly authorized
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Exhibit 10.2

CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
 AMENDED AND RESTATED NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY

(AS AMENDED ON APRIL 1, 2023)

Equity:

· Initial option grant upon joining the board: Black-Scholes value of $350,000

· Annual equity awards granted on the date of each annual meeting of stockholders (for directors continuing as directors
following the annual meeting):

For the Chairperson or Lead Independent Director:

o Option: Black-Scholes value of $200,000

o Restricted stock units: grant date fair value of $200,000

For each other member of the Board:

o Option: Black-Scholes value of $100,000

o Restricted stock units: grant date fair value of $100,000

The initial option grant will vest over three years in 12 equal quarterly installments, from the date of appointment, subject to the
director’s continued service as a director through each such vesting date.

Each annual equity award will vest on the earlier of (1) the one year anniversary of the date of grant and (2) immediately prior to the next
annual meeting of stockholders following the date of grant, in each case, subject to the director’s continued service as a director through
such date.

Cash Comp:

· Annual board retainer fee - $50,000

· Chairperson or Lead Independent Director (if any) fee - $35,000

· Audit Committee

o Chairperson fee (including member fee) - $20,000

o Member fee - $10,000

· Compensation Committee

o Chairperson fee (including member fee) - $15,000

o Member fee - $7,500

· Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

o Chairperson fee (including member fee) - $10,000

o Member fee - $5,000

These retainers are payable in arrears in four equal quarterly installments on the last day of each quarter, provided that the amount of
such payment will be prorated for any portion of such quarter that the director is not serving on the board of directors or applicable
committee.

Reimbursement of Expenses:

The Company will reimburse non-employee directors for reasonable travel and out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection
with attending board of director and committee meetings.



EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Christopher Posner, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cara Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 7, 2023 By: /s/ Christopher Posner
CHRISTOPHER POSNER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act

of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Ryan Maynard, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cara Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 7, 2023 By: /s/ Ryan Maynard
RYAN MAYNARD
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

OF CARA THERAPEUTICS, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Cara Therapeutics, Inc. (the "Company") for the quarter
ended June 30, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), Christopher
Posner, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Ryan Maynard, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each
hereby certifies, pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, (“the Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350),
that, to the best of his knowledge, based upon a review of the Report:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

/s/ CHRISTOPHER POSNER
Name:   Christopher Posner
Title:     Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Date:     August 7, 2023

/s/ RYAN MAYNARD
Name:   Ryan Maynard
Title:     Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Date:     August 7, 2023


